PRODUCING RENEWABLE CHEMICALS FROM FISHERY WASTE: CHITIN, CHITOSAN AND THEIR MONOMERS

KHALED WALID BAKER OMARI







PRODUCING RENEWABLE CHEMICALS FROM FISHERY WASTE:

CHITIN, CHITOSAN AND THEIR MONOMERS

by

© Khaled Walid Baker Omari

A thesis submitted to the

School of Graduate Studies

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Chemistry

Memorial University of Newfoundland

October, 2012

St. John's, Newfoundland

ABSTRACT

Chitin chitosan and their monomers were investigated as renewable feedstocks to produce useful chemicals. These biopolymers are readily available, cheap, non-toxic, and environmentally benion. They are produced degraded and reabsorbed in nature. They could in part replace depleting resources, such as fossil fuels, in useful chemicals production. To this end, microwave heating, catalysts and additives have been investigated. Factorial designs (FDs) were used as an effective approach to ontimise the reaction conditions. Reaction products obtained were extracted using ethyl acetate and their amounts were determined using GC-MS. Although these biopolymers are difficult to solubilise, useful products were obtained in water under the reaction conditions described herein. Levulinic acid (LA) and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural (5-HMF) were produced from chitosan using SnCl+5H2O which can be handled with ease and is a relatively inexpensive reagent. The medium for this reaction (water) is non-toxic nonflammable, and readily available at low cost. The chitosan reaction mixture was heated to 200 °C under microwave irradiation for 30 min in a closed-vessel. Two different reaction concentrations were tested: the "concentrated reaction" vielded 23.9 wt% LA, and the "diluted reaction" vielded 10.0 wt% 5-HMF. Each reaction has a high selectivity for the desired product: chitin was also able to produce LA under the concentrated reaction conditions (12.7 wt%). This proof of concept study showed that amino-saccharides can be used as feedstocks for levulinic acid and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural typically obtained from cellulosic biomass. It was discovered that a nitrogen containing compound, 3-acetamido-5-acetylfuran (3A5AF), could also be produced from chitin and chitosan in small

amounts. However, by using N-acetylglucosamine (NAG) instead of chitin, a higher % vield of 3A5AF could be obtained, possibly due to limitations in the depolymerisation process of chitin. The transformation of NAG was dependent on the supplier of this amino-sugar and it was discovered that B- and Cl-containing impurities in one source were likely aiding the conversion process. Therefore, NAG was reacted in the presence of two additives; NaCl and B(OH)3. After solvent-screening, the reaction was optimised in dimethylacetamide (DMA). The reaction mixture was heated using microwave irradiation to 220 °C for 15 min. 3A5AF production was quantified using GC-MS. The % yield of 3A5AF was determined to be ca 58. This study showed that this compound could potentially be produced cheaply and is a potential renewable feedstock for other Ncontaining molecules e.g. proximicins A, B and C (antibiotic and antitumor drugs). As an alternative to this method, a procedure was developed in ionic liquids (ILs) to produce 3A5AF, 3A5AF could be obtained in up to 60% yield by heating NAG in the presence of NaCl and B(OH)3. In summary, the research described in this thesis demonstrates the potential of fishery waste to produce valuable chemicals (LA, 5-HMF, and 3A5AF). Mechanisms of product formation are also proposed and discussed.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor, Prof. Francesca M. Kerton, for many aspects during the course of my Ph.D program. Her guidance, patience, etiquette, understanding, encouragement, advice, and continuous support were enormously appreciated. Thank you, Prof. Kerton, for your revisions and suggestions during the writing of my thesis. It was a great opportunity to do research in state-of-the-art laboratories at the Center for Green Chemistry and Catalysis (CGCC)-Department of Chemistry-Memorial University of Newfoundland (MUN). I am thankful to my supervisory committee members, Profs. Christina Bottaro and Chris Flinn. They not only offered me valuable suggestions during the annual meetings, but also provided helpful comments on my thesis. I am thankful to Prof. Chris Kozak for active and fruitful discussions. I also extend my gratitude to the Green Chemistry and Catalysis Group (GCCG) members for the shared experiences and help. I would like to thank the Centre for Chemical Analysis, Research and Training (C-CART) and Core Research Equipment and the Instrument Training Network (CREAIT) teams for their help. I would also like to thank the Research and Development Corporation (RDC) for a generous Ocean Industries Award that allowed me to focus on my research. In general, I extend my thanks to the Department of Chemistry, School of Graduate Studies (SGS), and the Memorial University of Newfoundland (MUN) for their services and financial support.

DEDICATION

First and foremost, I would like to thank ALLAH for mercy and blessings during my PhD program and let the dream become true. Especial thanks go to my beloved wife (Rania), my lovely daughter (Rund) and my sons (Waleed and Laith) for continuous support and patience. I would like to extend my gratitude to my father (Walid), my sister (Huda), and my brother (Hussam) for support and encouragement.

This thesis is a gift to the soul of my lovely mother (Yusra).

Table of Contents

Titlei
Abstractii
Acknowledgementsiv
Dedicationv
Table of Contentsvi
List of Tables
List of Figuresxv
List of Equationsxxii
List of Symbols and Abbreviationsxxiii
Chapter One
1-1 Renewable Feedstocks
1-2 Chitin and Its Isolation
1-2-1 Chitin Background
1-2-2 Chitin Isolation
1-3 Chitosan and Its Preparation10
1-4 Degree of Deacetylation (DD)11
1-5 Applications of Chitin and Chitosan13
1-6 Chitin and Chitosan Solubility15
1-6-1 Solubility of Chitin15
1-6-2 Solubility of Chitosan16
1-7 Saccharides

1-7-1 Monosaccharides
1-7-2 Oligosaccharides
1-7-3 Polysaccharides20
1-8 Processing of Chitin and Chitosan to Produce Chemicals20
1-8-1 Enzymes
1-8-1-1 Chitinases
1-8-1-2 Hemicellulase, Lysozyme and Cellulase
1-8-2 Acids
1-8-2-1 Hydrochloric Acid (HCI)23
1-8-2-2 Nitrous Acid (HNO ₂)24
1-9 Applications of Chito-oligomers (NAG) _X 24
1-10 Microwave Chemistry25
1-10-1 Background on Microwave-Assisted Chemistry27
1-10-2 Microwave Heating Mechanisms27
1-10-2-1 Dipolar Polarization Mechanism
1-10-2-2 Ionic conduction Mechanism
1-10-3 Enhancing Productivity Using Microwave Heating
1-10-4 Conversion from Conventional to Microwave Heating
1-11 Solvents
1-11-1 Solvent-Free
1-11-2 Water
1-11-3 Ionic Liquids (ILs)
1-12 Extraction Protocol

1-13 Catalysts
1-13-1 Homogeneous and Heterogeneous Catalysis
1-13-2 Biocatalysis
1-14 Converting Renewable Feedstocks to Useful Chemicals
1-14-1 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural (5-HMF)40
1-14-1-1 Production40
1-14-1-2 Mechanisms
1-14-1-3 Applications
1-14-2 Levulinic Acid (LA)
1-14-2-1 Production
1-14-2-2 Mechanism of LA Formation53
1-14-2-3 Applications
I-14-3 3-Acetamido-5-acetylfuran (3A5AF)57
1-14-3-1 Production of 3A5AF57
1-14-3-2 Mechanism
1-14-3-3 Applications
1-15 Factorial Design60
1-15-1 The Simplest Factorial Design (2 ² FD)64
1-15-2 FDs Statistical Analysis
1-16 Data Analysis
1-16-1 Wt% Expression70
1-16-2 % Yield Expression70
1-17 Summary

1-18	3 Objectives of Thesis
1-19	P References
1-20	Co-Authorship Statement
Chapt	er Two
2-1	Introduction
2-2	Results and Discussion
2-	-2-1 Catalysts Screening
2-	2-2 2 ⁴ Full Factorial Designs
	2-2-2-1 Effects on LA Production
	2-2-2-2 Effects on 5-HMF Production
2-	2-3 Conventional Heating Compared with Microwave Irradiation107
2-	2-4 Studies Using Chitin as the Feedstock
2-	-2-5 Proposed Mechanism
2-	-2-6 Literature Comparison
2-3	Conclusions
2-4	Experimental
2-	4-1 Materials
2-	4-2 General Procedure for the Hydrolysis of Chitosan and Product Extraction 116
2-	4-3 Identification of LA and 5-HMF
2-	4-4 Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS) Determination of LA
an	nd 5-HMF122
2-	4-5 Matrix Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization (MALDI) Mass
S	pectrometry

2-5	References126
3 Cha	pter Three
3-1	Introduction
3-2	Results and Discussion
3-2-	1 Solvent Screening
3-2-	2 Catalyst/Additive Screening
3-2-	3 2 ⁵ Factorial Design (FD)
3-2-	4 Testing Different NAG Sources
3-2-	5 Literature Comparison
3-3	Conclusions160
3-4	Experimental
3-4-	1 Materials
3-4-	2 General Procedure for 3A5AF Production from NAG
3-4-	3 3A5AF Identification
3-4-	4 Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS) Determination of
3A5	AF165
3-4-	5 Inductively Coupled Plasma-Mass Spectrometry (ICP-MS)167
3-5	References
Chapter	Four
4-1	Introduction171
4-2	Results and Discussion
4-3	3A5AF Production Comparison: Chapter Three vs Chapter Four181
4-4	Conclusions

4-5 Experimental
4-5-1 Materials
4-5-2 General Procedure
4-5-3 Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometric (GC-MS) Determination of
3A5AF Yields
4-5-4 Identification of 3A5AF
4-5-5 Timed Reactions at 200 °C
4-5-6 NMR Sample Preparation Procedure for Kinetic Data
4-5-7 Ionic Liquid Recyclability Study ([BMIm]Cl before (a) and after (b)
reaction)
4-5-8 First-Order Rate Plots at (a) 140, (b) 160, (c) 180, and (d) 200 °C194
4-6 References
Chapter Five
5-1 Conclusions
5-1-1 Chapter One
5-1-2 Chapter Two
5-1-3 Chapter Three
5-1-4 Chapter Four
5-2 Future Work
5-3 References

List of Tables

Chapter One. Introduction and Overview
Table 1-1. Solubility of chitin and chitosan16
Table 1-2. Undesirable solvents and their suggested alternatives
Table 1-3. Homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysis comparison
Table 1-4. A summary of 5-HMF production methods described in section 1-14-1-143
Table 1-5. 22 FD matrix display showing the % yield of product "X"
Table 1-6. The difference between the averages of %yields for each effect
Table 1-7. The difference between the averages of %yields of 5-HMF production for each
effect
Table 1-8. The percentiles of effects
Chapter Two. Hydrolysis of Chitosan to Yield Levulinic acid and 5-
Hydroxymethylfurfural in Water Under Microwave Irradiation
Table 2-1. Weight percentage of LA and 5-HMF produced from 100 mg chitosan in the
presence of SnCl ₄ ·5H ₂ O (15) using 2 ⁴ factorial designs
Table 2-2. Summary of results for different types of chitin and chitosan treated using the
optimized procedures for generation of LA and 5-HMF109
Table 2-3. Comparison between this study and the literature for LA and 5-HMF
productions from chitin, chitosan, glucosamine, and (NAG)s-M

Chapter Three. A simple One-Pot Dehydration Process to Convert N-acetyl-D-
glucosamine into a Nitrogen-Containing Compound, 3-acetamido-5-acetylfuran
Table 3-1. Catalyst screening and effect of additives on 3A5AF production. Reaction
conditions: 4.5 mL DMA in the absence of LiBr and 4 mL in the presence of LiBr, 10 $$
wt% NAG, 6 mol% catalyst (if used), 10 wt% LiBr (if used), 207 °C, MW, 15 min141
Table 3-2. 2 ⁵ FD of 3A5AF production142
Table 3-3. ICP-MS analyses for B and Cl in NAG from three suppliers
Table 3-4. 32 FD using 2 factors (NaCl and B(OH)3) at three levels
Table 3-5. Comparison between this study and the literature for 3A5AF production using
NAG159
Chapter Four. Formation of a Renewable Amide, 3-acetamido-5-acetylfuran, via Direct
Conversion of N-acetyl-D-glucosamine
Table 4-1. Dehydration of NAG using varying solvents
Table 4-2. Dehydration of NAG in [BMIm]Cl with different additives176
Table 4-3. Kinetics data for the Arrhenius plot

List of Figures

Chapter One. Introduction and Overview
Figure 1-1. The molecular formula of chitin showing $\beta\mbox{-linkages}$ and N-acetamido
functionality
Figure 1-2. Chitin synthesis in insects starting from trehalose7
Figure 1-3. A schematic diagram of the chitin purification process9
Figure 1-4. The ionic liquid 1-ethyl-3-methyl-imidazoium acetate, which can dissolve
crustaceans' shells10
Figure 1-5. Molecular formula showing the deacetylated form of chitin (assuming DD is
100%), chitosan10
Figure 1-6. Structures of glyceraldehyde and dihydroxyacetone
Figure 1-7. Glucose in aldohexose and glucopyranose forms
Figure 1-8. Structures of the two forms of fructose monosaccharide (Ketose and
fructofuranose)
Figure 1-9. Structures of disaccharides (cellobiose and sucrose)20
Figure 1-10. The twelve oligomers produced after treating chitosan with HNO2. Six of
them with a 2,5-anhydro-D-mannofuranose unit at the end of the chemical structures24
Figure 1-11. Microwave heating (left) shows more uniform heating of sample25
Figure 1-12. Phase diagram of water showing NCW, scH ₂ O, P_c and T_c 32
Figure 1-13. A wide range of structures showing ammonium, imidazolium, pyridinium,
phosphonium, and triazolium ILs

Figure 1-14. A potential chain of industries may develop to convert fishery waste into
useful8products. Products produced from "Chemical Industry 1" may lead to further
industries. Levulinic acid was selected and shown for clarity40
Figure 1-15. Proposed pathway: conversion of fructose (furanose form) into 5-HMF44
Figure 1-16. Proposed pathway: production of 5-HMF from sucrose45
Figure 1-17. Proposed pathway: using glucose to produce 5-HMF46
Figure 1-18. Proposed pathway: converting glucose into 5-HMF in an IL and B(OH)347
Figure 1-19. Proposed pathway: hydrolysis of sucrose and cellobiose into 5-HMF48
Figure 1-20. Proposed pathway: Cellulose hydrolysis into 5-HMF49
Figure 1-21. Proposed pathway: hydrolysis of inulin into 5-HMF50
Figure 1-22. 5-HMF as a starting material in the production of a range of useful
chemicals

Chapter Two. Hydrolysis of Chitosan to Yield Levulinic acid and 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural in Water Under Microwave Irradiation

Figure 2-2. Comparison of weight percentages LA and 5-HMF produced under Figure 2-3, SEM analysis of Amberlyst-15™ (a) before microwave reaction, there are cracks on the surface of the beads (b) after microwave reaction, biopolymer deposited on the surface of the beads and filled the cracks. 94 Figure 2-4, Comparison of weight percentages LA and 5-HMF produced under dilute Figure 2-6. Effect of temperature on the weight percent LA produced from 100 mg chitosan in 4 mL water with 0.24 mmol of SnCl4 5H2O...... 101 Figure 2-7. Normal plot of the effects of factors on the weight percentage of 5-HMF Figure 2-8. Effect of temperature on weight percent 5-HMF produced under dilute reaction conditions (100 mg chitosan, 20 mL water, and 0.12 mmol SnCl₄·5H₂O)......104 Figure 2-9. Effect of dilution on weight percent 5-HMF produced (100 mg chitosan, 0.12 Figure 2-10. Pronosed mechanism for 5-HMF and LA production from glucosamine. The

Figure 2-11. Microwave reactions graphs (a) LA and (b) 5-HMF optimum conditions
Each set consists of three graphs temperature (°C), pressure (bar), and power (W),
respectively against time (min) on x-axes117
Figure 2-12. ¹ H NMR spectrum of LA in CDCI ₃ 119
Figure 2-13. ¹ H NMR spectrum of 5-HMF in CDCl ₃
Figure 2-14. Mass spectra (a) LA, (b) Internal standard and (c) 5-HMF
Figure 2-15. GC chromatograms (a) LA, $t_{\rm R}$ = 4.63 min and (b) 5-HMF, $t_{\rm R}$ = 5.71 min. 123
Figure 2-16. Calibration curves (a) LA (b) 5-HMF124
Chapter Three. A simple One-Pot Dehydration Process to Convert N-acetyl-D-
glucosamine into a Nitrogen-Containing Compound, 3-acetamido-5-acetylfuran
Figure 3-1. a) N-acetyl-D-glucosamine (NAG) and b) 3-acetamido-5-acetylfuran
(3A5AF)
Figure 3-2. Structures of proximicin A, B, and C133
Figure 3-3. Comparison of % yields of 3A5AF produced from chitin for a range of
catalysts. Reaction conditions: 100 mg chitin, 2 mL DMF, 0.24 mmol catalyst, MW, 240
°C, 15 min
Figure 3-4. Production of 3A5AF in a range of solvents [n-butanol (BuOH), t-butyl
acetate (TBOAc), isopropyl acetate (IPOAc), dimethyl carbonate (DMC), ethyl lactate
(EL), ethyl acetate (EtOAc), t-butyl methyl ether (TBME), 2-methyltetrahydrofuran (2-
MeTHF), cyclopentyl methyl ether (CPME), dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), n-metyl
pyrrolidone (NMP), acetonitrile (CH3CN), diethanol amine (DEA), ethylene glycol (EG),
and polyethylene glycol (PEG, Mn 300)]. Note: if the solvent does not appear in the

graph, 0% yield was obtained. Reaction conditions: 50 mg NAG, 2 mL Solvent, MW,
207 °C, 15 min. 3A5AF was quantified using GC-MS
Figure 3-5. Normal plot of the effects for 3A5AF production. This plot was produced
using Minitab software. Reaction conditions (See Table 3-2)143
Figure 3-6. Effect of changing a reaction parameter from the following optimum reaction
conditions: 0.2356 g NAG, 4.5 mL DMA, 0.26 mmol NH3, and microwave irradiation for
15 min at 217 °C. Under optimum conditions, Table 3-2, 42.6% yield of 3A5AF was
obtained. 3A5AF was quantified using GC-MS144
Figure 3-7. Effect of adding NaCl on yield of 3A5AF from NAG supplied by AK
Scientific and Alfa Aesar. Solid circles = Alfa Aesar, Hollow circles = AK Scientific.
Reaction conditions: 0.2356 g NAG, 0-50 NaCl (mol% of NAG), 4.5 mL DMA,
ammonia (24.4 mol% of NAG), MW, 217 °C, 15 min
Figure 3-8. Effect of added B(OH) ₃ , NaCl, and NH ₃ on 3A5AF production. Black = NAG
from Alfa Aesar. Grey = NAG from AK Scientific. Reaction conditions: 0.2356 g NAG,
4.5 mL DMA in the presence and absence of NaCl (30 mol% with respect to NAG), $\rm NH_3$
(24.4 mol% with respect to NAG), 2:1 B(OH)3:NAG mol ratio, MW, 217 °C, 15 min.
Yield determined using GC-MS
Figure 3-9. The interaction plot of 3A5AF. This plot was generated using Minitab
software150
Figure 3-10. Effect of adding different levels of NaCl at 1:1 B(OH) ₃ :NAG (mol ratio).
Reaction conditions: 0.2356 g NAG, 4.5 mL DMA, 10-400 NaCl (mol% of NAG), 1:1
B(OH)3:NAG mol ratio, MW, 220 °C, 15 min. 3A5AF was quantified using GC-MS151

Figure 3-11. Effect of chloride sources on 3A5AF production. Reaction conditions:
0.2356 g NAG, 4.5 mL DMA, 2:1 Cl:NAG mol ratio, 1:1 B(OH) ₃ :NAG mol ratio, MW,
220 °C, 15 min. 3A5AF was quantified using GC-MS
Figure 3-12. Effect of water addition to the system on 3A5AF productivity. Reaction
conditions: 0.2356 g NAG, 4.5 mL DMA (0-20 %v/v H2O), 2:1 NaCl:NAG mol ratio, 1:1
B(OH)3:NAG mol ratio, MW, 220 °C, 15 min. 3A5AF was quantified using GC-MS153
Figure 3-13. Effect of time on 3A5AF production. Reaction conditions: 0.2356 g NAG,
4.5 mL DMA, 2:1 NaCl:NAG mol ratio, 1:1 B(OH)3:NAG mol ratio, MW, 220 °C, 0-90
min. 3A5AF was quantified using GC-MS154
Figure 3-14. Effect of temperature on 3A5AF production. Reaction conditions: 0.2356 g
NAG, 4.5 mL DMA, 2:1 NaCl:NAG mol ratio, 1:1 B(OH)3:NAG mol ratio, MW, 160-
250 °C, 15 min. Yield was determined using GC-MS155
Figure 3-15. GC chromatograms at a) 250 °C and b) 220 °C156
Figure 3-16. The optimum reaction conditions for dehydrating NAG to form 3A5AF157
Figure 3-17. Temperature, pressure, and power graphs obtained using the optimum
reaction conditions from the microwave instrument (Biotage Initiator 2.5). Reaction
conditions: 0.2356 g NAG, 4.5 mL DMA, 2:1 NaCl:NAG mol ratio, 1:1 B(OH)3:NAG
mol ratio, MW, 220 °C, 15 min162
Figure 3-18. ¹ H-NMR spectrum of 3A5AF in CD ₃ CN164
Figure 3-19. 13C-NMR spectrum of 3A5AF in CD3CN
Figure 3-20. Mass spectra of a) Internal Standard (benzamide) and b) 3A5AF166
Figure 3-21. 3A5AF Calibration curve using benzamide as an internal standard

Chapter Four. Formation of a Renewable Amide, 3-acetamido-5-acetylfuran, via Direct Conversion of N-acetyl-D-glucosamine

Figure 4-1. Direct conversion of NAG to 3A5AF using a combination of an imidazolium
ionic liquid and microwave heating173
Figure 4-2. Structures of ILs that studied in this chapter ([EMIm]Br, ([EMIm]OAc,
[BMIm]Cl, [BMIm]Br, [BMIm]OAc, and [BMMIm]Cl174
Figure 4-3. Possible mechanism for the formation of 3A5AF from NAG178
Figure 4-4. The Arrhenius plot for the conversion of NAG into 3A5AF in [BMIm]CL.180
Figure 4-5. Sample GC-MS chromatogram of a representative reaction mixture producing
3A5AF from NAG and 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride186
Figure 4-6. Calibration curve for 3A5AF in EtOAc ($R^2 = 0.9899$), where ACP =
acetophenone
Figure 4-7. Mass spectrum of 3A5AF showing both the base peak and molecular ion
peak, along with other peaks of interest188
Figure 4-8. ¹ H NMR spectrum showing the peaks of 3A5AF in DMSO-d ₆
Figure 4-9. ^{13}C NMR spectrum showing the peaks of 3A5AF in DMSO-d_6
Figure 4-10. Sample stacked ¹ H NMR spectra showing peaks for [BMIm]Cl between ca.
(0.25-2.25,4.25,7.50,and9.25) ppm, NAG $(4.25-7.25)$ ppm and 3A5AF (2.00, 2.40,
7.25, 8.25, and 11.00) ppm
Chapter Five Conclusions and Future Work

Figure 5-1. Exo- and endo-attacks of enzymes on chitin polysaccharide......203

List of Equations

Equation	1-1
Equation	1-2,
Equation	1-3
Equation	1-4

List of Symbols and Abbreviations

α: alpha

Ac: acetyl

atm: atmosphere

A: pre-exponential factor in Arrhenius equation

β: beta

ca.: about (Latin circa)

13C NMR: carbon nuclear magnetic resonance

°C: degree Celsius

Da: dalton

DD: degree of deacetylation

DoE: design of experiment

dr: degree of freedom

δ: chemical shift in parts per million downfield from a standard

δ: delta

E_a: activation energy

etc.: and so forth (Latin et cetera)

El: electron ionization

EMT: electron multiplier tube

equiv: equivalent

e.g.: for example (Latin exempli gratia)

FDs: factorial designs

y: gamma

GC-MS: Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry

GFC: gel filtration chromatography

GPC: gel-permeation chromatography

GHz: gigahertz (109 Hz)

GHG: greenhouse gases

h: hour

¹H NMR: proton nuclear magnetic resonance

IR: infrared spectroscopy

IL: ionic liquid

i.e.: that is (Latin id est)

J: coupling constant (NMR)

kDa: kilodalton

k: rate constant

LC-MS: Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry

LCFS: (California's) low carbon fuel standard

ME: margin of error

MS: mass spectrometry

m/z: mass to charge ratio

MALDI: matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization

m: median

µL: micro liter (10⁻⁶ L) min: minute

mL: milliliter (10-3 L)

MW: microwave

mol%: mole percent of a substance

NCW: near critical water

NMR: nuclear magnetic resonance

OAc: acetate

OFAT: one factor at a time

Pc: critical pressure

pKa: negative logarithm of acid dissociation (ionization) constant

pH: negative logarithm of hydrogen ion concentration

PSE: pseudo standard error

R: gas constant

Rf: retention or retardation time

s: pseudo standard deviation of absolute values

s: second

scCO2: supercritical fluid carbon dioxide

scH2O: supercritical fluid water

Tc: critical temperature

tR: retention time

T: temperature

vs: versus

VOCs: volatile organic compounds

v/v: volume per volume (volume of solute/volume of solution)

w/v: weight per volume (weight of solute/volume of solution)

wt%: weight per weight percentage (see section 1-16-1) w/w: weight per weight (weight of solute/weight of solution) % yield: percent yield (see section 1-16-2)

Chapter One

Introduction and Overview

Green chemistry is a key research area in global efforts toward achieving a clean environment and sustainable development. Green chemistry is made possible by designing chemical products and processes in which the use and generation of waste and hazardous substances are reduced or eliminated. To achieve this goal, chemists try to apply the twelve principles of green chemistry. Paul Anastas and John Warner introduced these principles, which state that (i) waste prevention is better than clean up. (ii) maximize atom economy (Equation 1-1) in a way that lets reactants be highly incorporated into the final product, (iii) perform less hazardous chemical synthesis, (iv) design safer chemicals, (v) use safer solvents and minimize auxiliaries, (vi) design for energy efficiency, (vii) use renewable feedstocks, (viii) reduce derivatives, (ix) use catalysts, (x) design for degradation, (xi) use real-time analysis for pollution prevention and (xii) perform inherently safer chemistry for accident prevention.

Atom economy =
$$\frac{\text{Molecular weight of desired product(s)}}{\Sigma \text{ Molecular weight of all reactants}} \times 100\%$$
 Equation 1-1

Green chemistry may be applied in many areas including: small scale research laboratories, large scale industrial processes, education (e.g., teaching laboratories) and public awareness.¹ In the early stage of any process or methodology, raw material are the first thing to be considered in the manufacture of a product. In this thesis, the tested raw materials are renewable feedstocks, including chitin, chitosan and their constituent sugars.

1-1 Renewable Feedstocks

A feedstock, also known as a raw material, is required in the manufacture of all products. There are two types of feedstocks: depleting and renewable. Depleting resources, such as fossil fuels including petroleum, natural gas and coal, need millions of years to be produced again. The rate of consumption of this type of feedstock is higher than its formation in nature. In short, the sun will continue to shine whilst petroleum runs out. Therefore, solar power is a source of renewable feedstocks. A renewable feedstock is a material that can be regenerated in nature easily and fast.1 Recently, significant attention has been paid to renewable resources especially in the energy field and in the production of chemicals. Two driving forces are responsible for the inherent attraction of using renewable resources. The first one is the economic factor, which is related directly to the increasing price of petroleum resources. The second is the environmental impact of using depleting resources.2 The burning of fossil fuels produces significant emissions of greenhouse gases (GHG) such as CO2 and CH4, which contribute to climate change.3 Based on this fact, one of the options of the regulated parties to meet California's low carbon fuel standard (LCFS) and reduce GHG emissions is to encourage refiners to mix gasoline and diesel with ethanol.3

Examples of renewable feedstocks are plants including trees and animals, such as crabs. While cellulose is a biopolymer obtained from plants, chitin is a biopolymer found in crustacean shells; both can be used to produce useful products.⁴ These polysaccharides are created, biodegraded and reabsorbed in nature, readily available, environmentally benign and a source of renewable feedstocks. The solubility of chitin and chitosan in various solvents is an important factor in utilizing them to produce useful products.

1-2 Chitin and Its Isolation

1-2-1 Chitin Background

In 1811, Braconnot isolated chitin for the first time from different kinds of mushrooms. He named his impure product "fungine". He proposed that fungine was a new substance and it was different from the woody materials of plants. In 1823, the name chitin was given by Odier who isolated this biopolymer from the elytrum (a hard cover that is protecting the fragile wings) of the Cockchafer beetle. The word chitin comes from the Greek word meaning tunic.⁵ Chitin is an amino polysaccharide made up of *N*acetylglucosamine (NAG) (Figure 1-1). The IUPAC name for NAG is 2-acetamido-2deoxy-β-D-glucose. In chitin, NAG monomers are connected through β (C1-C4) linkages. Chitin is the third most abundant biopolymer after cellulose and hemicelfulose on earth and the most abundant biopolymer in the marine environment.⁶ The primary difference in the structures of chitin and cellulose is the functional group on C2, which are acetamido and hydroxyl groups, respectively.



Figure 1-1. The molecular formula of chitin showing β -linkages and N-acetamido functionality.

Chitin is water insoluble material that can bind strongly with proteins and minerals such as calcium carbonate. This combination gives the rigid structure of the composite material, which forms crustaceans' shells. Chitin is available in three polymorphs. All of these polymorphs are obtained in nature in different packing configurations. The first one is antiparallel packing that is called α -chitin. The second one is called β -chitin in which chains of the biopolymer are packed in parallel. A mixture of α - and β -chitins is called γ chitin, which is the last polymorph. The major one is α -chitin and the minor is γ -chitin.⁷ Marine algae produce β -chitin. β -chitin is also the major polymorph in squid pens.⁸ β chitin is relatively rare and can be found in anhydrous and hydrate forms.⁹ α -Chitin is the main component of crustaceans' shells such as crab, lobster and shrimp.⁸ Chitin is also available in the exoskeletons of insects and molluses and in the cell wall of fungi and algae.⁹ In some insect species, chitin can reach 40% of the dry mass of cuticles. Chitin is biosynthesized, degraded and reabsorbed naturally. Many enzymes are responsible for the biosynthesis of chitin in insects. The synthesis of chitin begins with trehalose, a major hemolymph sugar found in most insects (Figure 1-2). Trehalose changes into many different phosphate sugars until it forms the sugar, uridine diphosphate–NAG (UDP-NAG). Chitin synthase then converts UDP-NAG into the chitin biopolymer. Chitin degradation in insects is catalyzed by the presence of chitinases and chitinolytic enzymes such as poly [1,4-(A-acetyl-β-Dglucosaminide)] glycanohydrolase and β-A-acetylglucosaminidases. These types of enzymes hydrolyze chitin into oligomers.¹⁰



Figure 1-2. Chitin synthesis in insects starting from trehalose.
Chitin degradation in the oceans is an important pathway for cycling of nutrients. This process involves ocean-dwelling bacteria via a two-component regulatory system in which chitin is detected and then a gene that is responsible for the breakdown of chitin into its oligomers is activated.¹¹ Therefore, chitin is a biopolymer that is produced in nature, degraded and reabsorbed in a natural biocycle. The molecular weight of natural chitin is ca. $1-2 \times 10^3$ kDa.¹² The annual estimated amount of biosynthesized chitin (crustaceans, molluses, insects and fungi) is 10^{10} to 10^{12} tons,^{13,14} It is estimated that 14-35% (dry weight) of shellfish processing waste is chitin.¹³ For example, shrimp are popular seafood that produce 40-50% wt% waste during their processing to be made ready for human consumption,¹³ and 30-40% of this waste is chitin.

1-2-2 Chitin Isolation

Chitin from marine sources needs to be purified due to its association with proteins (15-40%, on a dry weight basis), minerals: CaCO₃ and Ca₃(PO₄)₂ (35-55%, on a dry weight basis), lipids (0-10%, on a dry weight basis), and pigments.¹³ The production of chitin, Figure 1-3, involves three main steps after grinding, which are demineralization, deproteination and decolouration. In the first step, an acid such as hydrochloric acid, sulfuric acid, nitric acid or acetic acid can be used to solubilize the minerals, which are mainly calcium carbonate.^{15,16} This step can be performed at room temperature in 1 to 3 h. Chitin hydrolysis also takes place in this acid demineralization step. However, ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) can be used instead of acids in the demineralization step to overcome the hydrolysis of chitin.¹⁶ The second process is protein removal, which can be achieved using a basic medium such as sodium or potassium hydroxide or carbonate, sodium sulfide, calcium hydrogen sulfite or sodium phosphate. This step is conducted between 65-100 °C for 30 min to 6 h.¹⁹ In the shells of decapod crustaceans, a carotenoid pigment is present and is known as astaxanthin, which is the principal pigment in crustacean shells. This pigment is available in combination with a macromolecular protein complex called crustacyanin, which is responsible for giving the typical orange-red colour to these animals.¹⁷ A bleaching agent such as hydrogen peroxide or potassium permanganate is used to oxidize the pigments to produce colorless chitin in the last step of the production process. Strong acids and bases damage the environment, are hazardous chemicals by themselves and, to a certain extent, can depolymerize chitin. An alternative process for chitin production is the use of a protease enzyme to remove protein.¹⁸ Bacteria can be used to remove minerals, which produce lactic acid during fermentation.¹⁵





Recently, it has been shown that chitinous biomass could be purified using ionic liquids (ILs), where 10 g of 1-ethyl-3-methyl-imidazolium acetate [EMIm]OAc (an IL), Figure 1-4, can dissolve 0.46 g of chitinous biomass heated in an oil bath at 100 °C over 19 h.¹⁹ Chitin was recovered from the IL by adding water to the mixture, as water is able to dissolve the IL, but not the chitin. The resulting chitin, in powder form, was washed several times using water and then dried in an oven at 80 °C. In a related procedure, using a microwave heating method, 0.3 g of chitinous biomass can be dissolved in 10 g of the same IL after a 2 min exposure to microwave irradiation, greatly reducing the time in comparison to conventional heating.



Figure 1-4. The ionic liquid 1-ethyl-3-methyl-imidazoium acetate, which can dissolve crustaceans' shells.

1-3 Chitosan and Its Preparation

Chitosan, Figure 1-5, is the deacetylated form of chitin (i.e., after the removal of the acetyl group (CH₃CO) from the nitrogen in chitin). In 1859, Rouget discovered chitosan by refluxing chitin with concentrated potassium hydroxide. At that time he named chitosan "modified chitin". The name chitosan was given in 1894 by Hoppe-Seyler.⁵ Chitosan can also be called poly(glucosamine) or poly(2-amino-2-deoxy-β-D-glucose).



Figure 1-5. Molecular formula showing the deacetylated form of chitin (assuming DD is 100%), chitosan.

However, this is somewhat inaccurate as it is close to impossible to deacetylate chitin fully. To distinguish between chitin and chitosan, solubility is used, since chitosan is soluble in dilute acid and forms viscous solutions, but chitin is insoluble. Chitosan is a moderately basic polysaccharide ($pK_a = 6.3$). The pK_a of its monomer glucosamine is 7.5.12 The lower pKa of chitosan is likely due to the hydrogen-bonding network within the polymer. This means that the lone pairs of the nitrogen atoms within the polymer are acting as hydrogen-bond acceptors to protons within a neighbouring polymer chain. Therefore, the -NH2 group in chitosan is not freely available to act as a base and this leads to a lower pKa and increased acidity. Chitosan is non-toxic, biodegradable, environmentally benign and readily available. The deacetylation process of chitin is mainly conducted using alkaline treatment.20 For example, 50-55% (w/v) sodium hydroxide solution can be used at 95-110 °C for the deacetylation process followed by neutralization, filtration and washing steps.21 Interestingly, the fungus Mucor rouxii is the first species from which the chitin deacetvlase enzyme has been obtained. Therefore, use of chitin deacetvlase could be an alternative method for deacetylating chitin to give chitosan.22 This enzyme is a metalloenzyme that belongs to the carbohydrate esterase group, and can be extracted from fungi and some species of insects.23 In short, chitosan is a natural polysaccharide that is available in some species and synthesized chitosan can be found in a wide range of molecular weights, 50-2000 kDa.24

1-4 Degree of Deacetylation (DD)

The process of removing the acetyl group from chitin leaving an amino group (NH₂) in place of the N-acetylamido group (NHAc) does not proceed 100% to completion. Therefore, chitosan, the deacetylated product, typically has acetyl groups at some sites within the polymer. The DD present within a sample of chitosan is the ratio of glucosamine to NAG units × 100 and is given as a nercentage. The DD value is an important factor when describing chitosan in terms of physical, chemical and biological properties.14 Biodegradability is also affected by the DD.25 Different methods have been used to determine the DD (%) including infrared (IR), nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) mass spectrometry (MS) ultraviolet spectrometry and gel-nermeation chromatography (GPC).²⁰ The method used to determine this value should always be mentioned with the %DD number. The simplest technique to determine DD% is IR spectroscopy because it needs minimal sample preparation and is a quick analytical method. This method is based on recording the absorbance (A) at two frequencies (1655 and 3450 cm⁻¹), which represent the N-acetyl group (amide-I band) and the hydroxyl band, respectively.26 An accurate measurement can be achieved by plotting a calibration curve of the ratio of A at 1655 cm⁻¹ (A₁₆₅₅) to A at 3450 cm⁻¹ (A₃₄₅₀) versus known DD (%) values of chitosan standards. The unknown DD% sample can be determined based on its ratio of A1655/A3450.27 Equation 1-2, introduced by Roberts et al., can be used to calculate the DD value where 0.87 is the A1655/A3650 ratio for chitin (fully N-acetylated groups),28

%DD=100-[(A1655/A3450)×100/0.87]

When the DD of a biopolymer is greater than 75%, it is called chitosan.²⁰ Up to 98% DD chitosan can be obtained through deacetylation of chitin.

Equation 1-2

1-5 Applications of Chitin and Chitosan

Although chitin and chitosan have limitations in their reactivity and solubility, they possess several desirable properties such as biocompatibility, biodegradability and nontoxicity. Chitosan has been used in drug delivery applications for treating diseases associated with the colon29 and for lowering cholesterol.29,30 Chitosan has also been shown to improve drug absorption in nasal treatments. The DD and molecular weight of chitosan both play a role in absorption enhancement. For example, 95-99% DD chitosan of various molecular weights (low and high) gives the best absorption in nasal epithelia, but 65% DD requires the chitosan to be of high molecular weight (170 kDa) to act effectively. In transdermal drugs, cross-linked chitosan membranes can be used to deliver a drug into the skin. The pores in the membrane facilitate drug release into the skin and help control the drug delivery over a certain period of time. Because chitin and chitosan are non-toxic and non-carcinogenic, they have other medical applications such as in human implantable devices.²⁹ For example, implantable devices composed of chitosan and hyaluronic acid sodium salt can be used to release insulin into the human body.31 Some of the properties of chitin and chitosan have led to their use in wound dressing materials, such as anti-inflammatory action, biodegradability, biocompatibility, antimicrobial activity, and retention of growth factors, release of glucosamine and NAG monomers and oligomers, and stimulation of cellular activities. Therefore, they are very useful biopolymers for wound healing and tissue engineering.29

Nowadays, many people prefer to consume food that contains no synthetic chemical preservatives. Chitin and chitosan are natural antimicrobial biopolymers, which work against microorganisms. Because chitosan is more soluble, it has better antimicrobial activity than chitin. One of proposed mechanisms by which chitosan prevents toxin formation and microbial growth is its ability to chelate metals. Chitosan at pH < 6.0 forms a positively charged group on C2 that can also interact with the negatively charged microbial cell membrane. This interaction causes proteinaceous and other intracellular constituents to leak out and thus destroying the microbial cells.²⁹ There are many food applications of chitosan. For example, chitosan addition to meat products inhibits spoilage bacteria growth.³² Treating industrial wastewater by removing metals improves the quality of water and reduces the impact of industry on health and the environment,³³ The NH₂ group on C2 can form coordinate covalent bonds with metals to produce complexes. Therefore, chitosan has the ability to act as a chelating agent. Chitosan has also been used to remove pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) from contaminated water.³³

Chitin and chitosan can also be used in other applications including agricultural materials (e.g., plant seed coating and fertilizer, feed additives, textiles and woven fabrics, papers, films and sponge materials). Chitosan has also found additional applications such as in food processing (e.g., sugar refining) materials, paints, dyeing and weaving.³⁴ Chitin, chitosan and their oligomers are also renewable feedstocks that can be used to produce useful value-added chemicals (more explanation is provided in sections 1-8 and 1-14).

1-6 Chitin and Chitosan Solubility

1-6-1 Solubility of Chitin

Chitin is insoluble in most solvents¹⁵, Table 1-1, such as dilute acid solutions (e.g., HCI and acetic acid) and organic solvents (e.g., acetone and acetonitrile).²⁶ In a-chitin, the carbohydrate rings (hydrophobic faces) in the structure are arranged over each other; this is the cause of its low solubility.⁹ The sheets of chitin interact with each other via noncovalent linkages such as hydrogen bonding between C=O amide--HN.³⁷ However, chitin is soluble under harsh and non-environmentally friendly conditions such as in hexafluoroisopropanol, and hexafluoroacetone.³⁸ Chloroalcohols, including 2chloroethanol, 1-chloro-2-propanol, and 3-chloro-1,2-propanediol, can be used in combination with either mineral acids such as aqueous HCI or organic acids such as acetic acid to dissolve chitin. β-Chitin is the only polymorph that is soluble in anhydrous formic acid. However, chitin precipitates when water is added to dilute the formic acid solution.³⁸ Chitin is also soluble in hot concentrated solutions of some salts including Cal₂, CaBr₂ and CaCl₂.⁵ Recent results have shown that suitably designed ionic liquids can be used to dissolve chitin.⁶⁰ For a discussion of chitosan solubility, see section 1-6-2.

Table 1-1. Solubility of chitin and chitosan

	Soluble in	Insoluble in
Chitin	ILs including [EMIm]OAc Hexafluoroisopropanol and hexafluoroisopropanol and hexafluoroisopropanol, and 3-chioro-12-propanol, and 3-chioro-12-propanol. The second second field of the second seco	Water Basic media Dilute acid solutions including HCI and CH ₂ COOH Organic solvents including acetone and acetonitrile
Chitosan	ILs including [EMIm]OAc Acidic solutions of pH less than 6.0 DMF-N ₂ O ₄	Water Basic media

1-6-2 Solubility of Chitosan

Although chitin and chitosan are insoluble in water, in general chitosan is more soluble than chitin under many conditions, Table 1-1. Chitosan is soluble in acidic solutions of pH less than 6.0³⁹ because of the protonation of NH₂ groups in the C2 position.³⁶ When the pH is increased up to ca. 6.0, chitosan will start to precipitate. In general, chitosan is insoluble in neutral or basic media. Its solubility depends on DD. The solubility of chitosan in water increases with a decrease in its molecular weight.³⁹ A mixture of dimethylformamide (DMF) and dinitrogen tetraoxide (DMF-N₂O₄) is able to dissolve chitosan in a ratio of 3:1 N-O₂-chitosan.⁵

Use of safer solvents and auxiliaries is one of the principles of green chemistry. In some cases, low toxicity and recyclable solvents can be used as useful alternatives for nocuous solvents. For example, volatile organic compounds (VOCs) are toxic and flammable. VOCs can also contribute to ozone depletion and smog formation process. Some reactions can be done without solvent (neat).⁴⁰ However, ionic liquids (ILs) have many useful properties that make them a solvent of choice (alternative solvent) for biomass transformations and green chemistry in general such as low vapor pressure, tunable solubility and thermal stability, 1-Butyl-3-methyl-imidazolium chloride ([BMIm]C1) is an IL which can dissolve chitin and chitosan biopolymers.⁴¹ These polysaccharides can also be dissolved in a mixture of ILs which includes 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium acetate, 1,3-dibutylimidazolium acetate, and 1,3-dimethylimidazolium acetate.⁵² ILs are able to dissolve polysaccharides by disrupting their inter- and intra-molecular hydrogen bonding between chains.⁴¹ Although solubility is a problem in processing polysaccharides, chitin and chitosan can potentially be used to produce useful chemicals.

1-7 Saccharides

Biopolymers consist of three major classes: saccharides, proteins, and nucleic acids,⁷⁶ Saccharides, also known as carbohydrates, may be classified into three groups: monosaccharides, oligosaccharides, and polysaccharides.

1-7-1 Monosaccharides

Among the saccharide classes, monosaccharides are the simplest and the lowest in molecular weight. Monosaccharides are named based on the number of carbon atoms in the monosaccharide, the name ending with the suffix "ose". For example, the simplest monosaccharide consists of 3 carbon atoms and is called a triose. Similarly, monosaccharides composed of 4, 5, 6, and 7 carbon atoms are termed tetraose, pentose, hexose, and heptanose, respectively.⁷⁷ The monosaccharide structure contains many hydroxyl groups and/or a carbonyl group. Monosaccharides bearing an aldehyde or ketone functionality are known as aldoses and ketoses, respectively. Figure 1-6 shows the simplest aldose and ketose structures, namely glyceraldehyde and dihydroxyacetone, respectively.



Figure 1-6. Structures of glyceraldehyde and dihydroxyacetone.

Glucose is a hexose type sugar. It can be formed as an aldohexose (acyclic) or pyranose (glucopyranose, cyclic). As depicted in Figure 1-7, if the hydroxyl group at the C2 position is replaced with an amine or acetamide group, it will be glucosamine or NAG.⁷⁷ Fructose is another example of a monosaccharide (Figure 1-11). It is available in many forms including ketose and furanose.



Figure 1-7. Glucose in aldohexose and glucopyranose forms.



Figure 1-8. Structures of the two forms of fructose monosaccharide (Ketose and fructofuranose).

1-7-2 Oligosaccharides

An oligosaccharide is a short saccharide polymer consisting of 2 to 10 monosaccharides. Disaccharides contain two of either the same or different monosaccharide units. For example, cellobiose is a dimer of two glucose molecules, and sucrose (table sugar) is a dimer of glucose and fructose (Figure 1-9). By replacing the OH group on the C2 position in cellobiose with an amine or acetamide group, this disaccharide will be chitobiose or N_iN -diacetylchitobiose, respectively. A huge number of disaccharides, 80 different sugars, can be formed from glucose and mannose.⁷⁶



Figure 1-9. Structures of disaccharides (cellobiose and sucrose).

1-7-3 Polysaccharides

A polymer consisting of a large number of monosaccharides is a polysaccharide. There are several polysaccharides found in nature including cellulose, starch, chitin, and chitosan. ⁷⁸ Polysaccharides are renewable biopolymers that are formed, degraded and reabsorbed in nature.

1-8 Processing of Chitin and Chitosan to Produce Chemicals

In comparison with cellulose and related sugars, investigations using chitin, chitosan and oligomers to produce biofuels and other useful products have been performed to a lesser extent. Greater efforts should be directed toward finding economical uses for these biopolymers, as this would be better than dumping waste from the seafood industry directly into the sea or landfills. There are barriers to using chitin, chitosan and their oligomers, such as the cost of these resources (i.e., they are more expensive than cellulose). However, for regions where crustacean shells are readily available, the cost can be reasonable. Chitin, chitosan and their monomers can potentially be hydrolyzed and processed in many ways to produce chemicals for many different uses and processes involving these starting materials are growing in the scientific literature.

1-8-1 Enzymes

1-8-1-1 Chitinases

Organisms such as bacteria, fungi, insects and plants are a good source of chitinases. Chitinases from *Vibrio* and *Streptnyces* are very stable. They are able to hydrolyze chitin into different oligomers (e.g., 2 g chitin produced 20-25 mg chito-oligosaccharide).⁴³ Different size ranges of oligomers have been obtained by changing the temperature of the incubation process. The main product from such processes is the disaccharide, which is di-N-acetylchitobiose (NAG)₂. In this study, chito-oligomers were identified using TLC and purified by column chromatography. Colloidal chitin (treated with DMSO (10% LiCI (w/w)) has also been used to produce (NAG)₂. Colloidal chitin (20 g) undergoes hydrolysis using *Vibrio furnissii* chitinase (chi E, 89 kDa) in an ammonium bicarbonate solution incubated at 37 °C for 24 h producing 210 mg (NAG)₂.⁴⁴ It is worth noting that in these examples, the yields of products are relatively low (–1 w%).

1-8-1-2 Hemicellulase, Lysozyme and Cellulase

Chitosan has been hydrolyzed using hemicellulase. The hydrolyzed products were then treated using acetic anhydride to add an acetyl group at each NH₂ group to produce (NAG)_{1:7}. 200 mg chitin produced 13 mg NAG, 28 mg (NAG)₂, 42 mg (NAG)₃, 48 mg (NAG)₄, 67.6 mg (NAG)₅, 81.1 mg (NAG)₆ and 19.7 mg (NAG)₇ when it was treated using hemicellulase.⁴¹ In lysozyme, chitosan was acetylated and then treated with the enzyme. After reacetylating the products, the % yield of the chito-oligomers produced were higher compared to chitin treatment using lysozyme. These products were purified using gel filtration chromatography (GFC). 100 mg of acetylated chitosan produced 16.3 mg (NAG)₂, 10.3 mg (NAG)₃, 18.0 mg (NAG)₄ and 1.7 mg (NAG)₅.⁴³ Cellulase is also an enzyme option that can be used to hydrolyze biopolymers. It can be used to hydrolyze chitin into NAG and good yields were obtained (40 wt%).⁶⁵

1-8-2 Acids

1-8-2-1 Hydrochloric Acid (HCl)

HCI has been used to produce chito-oligomers from chitin. (NAG)_{2.7} have been reported as products from hydrolysis of chitin using HCI. 200 g chitin produced 12.1 wt% (NAG)_{3.} 11.8 wt% (NAG)_{3.} 11.6 wt% (NAG)_{4.} 10.8 wt% (NAG)_{5.} 4.8 wt% (NAG)_{3.} and 1.3 wt% (NAG)_{7.4}³ In another procedure, 300 g chitin was mixed with concentrated HCI and stirred at 45 °C for 3 h. After diluting the mixture with water followed by neutralization using NaOH, filtration, decolouration, salt removal and concentration, a mixture of NAG and chito-oligosaccharides was obtained. To separate NAG, the mixture was dissolved in water at 55 °C and cooled to 0 °C, 40.5 g NAG was obtained.⁵⁶

1-8-2-2 Nitrous Acid (HNO₂)

Using nitrous acid, different kinds of products are obtained compared to the enzymatic and HCl methods previously mentioned. In chitosan, the NH₂ group reacts with HNO₂ but not the N-acetyl group. One mole of the NH₂ group reacts with one mole of HNO₂. After cleaving the biopolymer, a 2,5-anhydro-D-mannofuranose unit is formed at the reducing end of the cleavage.⁴³ After treating chitosan with concentrated HNO₂, twelve oligomers were formed (Figure 1-10). The trimer (NAG)₂-2,5-anhydro-D-mannofuranose ((NAG)₂-M) is an oligomer example.⁴⁷



For each compound, $R(R^{*})$ are H(H), $H(CH_{3}CO)$, NAG(H), $NAG(CH_{3}CO)$, glucosamine(H) and glucosamine(CH₃CO).

Figure 1-10. The twelve oligomers produced after treating chitosan with HNO₂. Six of them with a 2,5-anhydro-D-mannofuranose unit at the end of the chemical structures.

1-9 Applications of Chito-oligomers (NAG)X

Chitin and chitosan oligomers have antitumorigenic properties. For example, $(NAG)_{4.7}$ have been shown to have a significant effect on peritoneal exudate cells in mice and inhibit the growth of tumors. $(NAG)_6$ and (glucosamine)₆ are tumor growth inhibitors in the allogeneic (unlike genetically) and syngeneic (genetically identical) mice system. Chitin and chitosan oligomers have been shown to have a protective effect against pathogenic infections in mice. These oligomers and their derivatives have also been shown to inhibit fungal and bacterial growth.³³

1-10 Microwave Chemistry

In conventional heating methods, e.g., Bunsen burner, heating mantle, oven, oil and sand baths, the reaction mixture is heated gradually (slowly) from the outside inwards. The portion of the mixture that is in direct contact with the reaction vessel is exposed to high temperatures, which could lead to material decomposition. In microwave heating, however, the reaction mixture is not heated through contact with the surface of the reaction vessel but is heated from the inside out, Figure 1-11.⁴⁸ Microwave irradiation first penetrates the reaction vessel that is microwave-transparent (e.g., borosilicate glass, quartz, and Teflon). It then interacts with the mixture and heats it uniformly over a short period of time (seconds) via a number of mechanisms (see section 1-10-2).



Figure 1-11. Microwave heating (left) shows more uniform heating of sample. [Reprinted with permission from *Angew*. *Chem., Int. Ed.*, 2004, 43, 6250-6284. Copyright 2004 John Wiley & Sons, Inc.].

In Figure 1-7, conventional heating (right) shows that the temperature at the walls of the vessel is higher than the sample inside. Therefore, heating is not uniform (i.e., the heating is from the outside to the inside).⁴⁸

The benefits of microwave over conventional heating, in many cases, are the shorter reaction times, higher product yields, and fewer side products (i.e., a product of higher purity can be obtained). The first two papers describing microwave heating were published in 1986 by Gedye et al.⁴⁹ and Giguere et al.⁴⁰ Nowadays, microwave-assisted chemistry has become a popular area of research and is an important technique in both academia and industry.

1-10-1 Background on Microwave-Assisted Chemistry

Within the electromagnetic spectrum, microwaves are located between infrared and radio frequencies between 0.3 to 300 GHz. The domestic (kitchen) and reactor (laboratory) microwaves operate at the same frequency (2.45 GHz). This frequency has been selected to avoid interference with other applications such as radar transmissions and telecommunications. Normal kitchen microwaves cannot be used to conduct chemical experiments for many reasons. Domestic microwave ovens can become corroded in the presence of acids because they are not designed for this type of work, and they are not designed with chemical safety considerations in mind. For example, if the pressure is very high inside a closed reaction vessel, the domestic microwave oven is unable to stop the microwave irradiation and cool the reaction quickly to avoid an explosion.⁵¹ In many commercially available microwave reactors, sealed reaction vessels are used, which makes it possible to heat the reaction mixture to a temperature above a solvent's boiling point. This type of super heating is not readily possible using conventional heating methods and appratus.⁵¹

1-10-2 Microwave Heating Mechanisms

Electromagnetic waves consist of electrical and magnetic field components. The component responsible for generating heat in microwave ovens or reactors is the electric field. There are two main types of mechanisms which describe the interaction of the electrical component with the reaction mixture (including solvents and reagents): dipolar polarization and ionic conduction.⁵²

1-10-2-1 Dipolar Polarization Mechanism

Any substance that has a dipole moment is heated by the dipolar polarization mechanism in a microwave.⁵¹ When such a substance is exposed to microwaves, it will rotate to align with the applied electric field, which is alternating. Therefore, the substance is always changing its alignment. During this process, the substance experiences molecular friction and collision that produces heat. The amount of heat produced is directly proportion to the ability of a molecule to align itself with the oscillating electrical component of the microwave irradiation. It should be noted that microwave irradiation cannot heat gases because the rotating molecules of a gas are too widely separated. Therefore, they are unable to experience molecular friction and collision.

1-10-2-2 Ionic conduction Mechanism

This heating mechanism can occur if the reaction mixture contains charged particles (ions).⁵¹ The ions will move under the effect of the applied electric field of the microwaves. This movement causes the ions to collide with the surrounding molecules and atoms causing agitation or motion, which will produce heat. For example, ionic liquids (ILs) can be heated easily under microwave irradiation.⁵³ The ion conduction mechanism is generally more powerful than the dipolar polarization mechanism in terms of heat-generating capability because the ions in a solution could be freer to move in solution compared with molecules.

1-10-3 Enhancing Productivity Using Microwave Heating

There is no single explanation for the increased productivity that is obtained when reactions are performed using microwave heating. When microwave and conventional heating methods are compared at the same reaction temperature, the % yield of a product will usually be higher for the microwave method. One explanation is that, in microwave heating, the high reaction temperature can easily be reached (rapidly, seconds) compared with conventional heating and this means there is less chance for side-reactions to occur.⁵¹ In most cases, accelerated rates are explained by the Arrhenius equation, Equation 1-3, where *k* is the rate constant of a chemical reaction, *R* is the gas constant and *T* is the temperature in Kelvin.

k=Ae^{-Ea/RT}

Equation 1-3

Most evidence supports thermal explanations for enhanced productivity in microwaveassisted chemistry, which means, as samples can often be heated to higher temperatures than in conventional methods, activation energies (E_a) are more easily overcome and higher rates can be achieved. For example, methanol can be heated in a microwave up to 165 °C resulting in a higher reaction rate compared with running the same reaction under reflux using conventional heating methods at 65 °C.

1-10-4 Conversion from Conventional to Microwave Heating

The two most important parameters to be considered in microwave heating and conventional heating methods are the temperature and the reaction time. In Equation 1-3, a rule of thumb states that the rate of a reaction is doubled with each 10 °C increment in temperature. For example, to convert from a conventional reaction at 100 °C for 56 min into a microwave heated reaction at 110 °C or 130 °C, the time would be reduced to 28 min or 14 min, respectively.⁵¹ A conversion table can be found in the literature or online.^{51,54} In running a new reaction using microwave irradiation, it is advisable to begin with a temperature of 30-40 °C above the boiling point of the solvent employed, and a reaction time of 5-10 min. However, the best results will only be obtained through optimization of both parameters. Decomposition temperature of substances must be taken into consideration when performing microwave-assisted reactions.⁵¹

1-11 Solvents

Solvents are usually employed in their liquid form. There are many reasons for using solvents in chemical reactions such as for mass and heat transfer. They can also participate in the reaction mechanism, e.g., as intermediate stabilizers to increase the reaction rate and afford higher yields. Also, some solvents have acidic or basic properties. Although VOCs are widely used as solvents, it is prudent to find alternatives to replace them, VOCs can be toxic, flammable, cause ozone depletion, may be carcinogenic and can form low-level ozone and smog. The best solvents are those that have little or no impact on the environment and can be recycled.

1-11-1 Solvent-Free

The greenest reaction conditions in terms of solvent use are "neat" (or solvent-free). This means no solvent is added to the reaction mixture. Solid-state synthesis is an example of a

30

solvent-free reaction. In some reactions, solutions of reagents are used, which means that some of the reagent (or product) acts as the solubilizing agent. However, these reactions are still coined "solvent-free", and are greener than those where a solvent, e.g., CH₂Cl₂, is added to the reaction mixture because they produce less waste.⁴⁰ Mechanochemistry is another solvent-free reaction type in which reactants are mixed together in high-speed ball mills (HSBM).⁵⁵ In some cases, solvent-free reactions can be conducted under microwave irradiation.^{56,57} From an industrial perspective, the quality, quantity and cost of a product are highly important factors in a production process. In terms of solvents, the cost of a solvent (including its price, cost of disposal, and its recyclability) are crucial in solvent selection. Therefore, any alternative solvent used should also be cost effective.

1-11-2 Water

Because most reactions are not possible in the absence of solvent, water is possibly the greenest choice of solvent. Water is non-flammable, non-toxic, abundant, renewable and available at a low cost. Furthermore, contamination in water can often be easily recognized (e.g., by colour and odour). The density of water is 1 g/mL and therefore, most organic substances can form biphasic systems with water, which aid in the extraction and separation of products. In a microwave, water can be heated above its normal boiling point (100 °C) in a scaled vessel. In the phase diagram of water (Figure 1-12), supercritical water (scH₂O) exists in the region beyond the critical point: critical temperature, $T_c=374$ °C and critical pressure, $P_c=218$ atm. A temperature between 100 °C and 374 °C is called high temperature, superheated or near-critical water (NCW). The properties of water above its boiling point differ from those of water atroom temperature: in the former case, it has a lower polarity, density, viscosity, and surface tension, all of which are similar to common organic solvents. For example, the density and polarity of water at 250 °C is similar to acetonitrile at room temperature. At higher temperatures, water is miscible with toluene. NCW has the ability to dissolve many organic compounds and possesses both acidic and basic properties. Water (at all temperatures) has disadvantages as a solvent. For example, some compounds are poorly soluble in water and deactivation of water-sensitive catalysts and reagents can occur. Following a reaction, contaminated water can be difficult to purify and care must be taken to prevent its release into the environment.⁶⁰



Figure 1-12. Phase diagram of water showing NCW, scH₂O, P_c and T_c.

1-11-3 Ionic Liquids (ILs)

lonic liquids (ILs) are defined as salts in a liquid state below 100 °C. The first IL to be discovered was ethylammonium nitrate by Paul Walden in 1914.⁵⁹ Figure 1-13 shows several of the structural motifs for ILs. In general, a range of cations can be employed including phosphonium^{60,61}, pyridinium and piperidinium.⁶² Anions include hexafluorophosphate, triflate.⁶³ and bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide (TFSI).⁶¹



X could be CI', Br', BF₄' and BF₆' (Pyridinium Ionic Liquid)

R₁, R₂, R₃ and R₄ could be alkyl ch X could be CT, Br', BF₄^{*} and BF₆^{*} (Phosphonium Ionic Liquid)

R₁ and R₂ could be alkyl chains X could be CF, Br', BF₄⁻ and BF₆⁻ (Triazolium Ionic Liquid)

Figure 1-13. A wide range of structures showing ammonium, imidazolium, pyridinium, phosphonium, and triazolium ILs.

ILs are considered good alternative solvents due to a number of desirable properties;⁶³ e.g. they have low vapor pressures (i.e., they are non-volatile), which is ideal for volatile product isolation using vacuum or distillation. Also, many ILs are non-flammable and thermally stable; therefore, reactions can be performed over a wider temperature range compared with conventional solvents such as volatile organic compounds (VOCs). ILs are available in hydrophobic and hydrophilic forms and can be switched from one form to another by simply changing the anion or cation counterpart, Many catalysts and transition metal complexes are soluble in ILs. Interestingly, ILs can act as catalysts in some

reactions.40 They have been used for many applications including extraction, electrochemistry, synthesis40, as stationary phases in chromatographic separations64,63 and as additives to the mobile phase in liquid chromatography.66 There are also a range of other applications in analytical chemistry.67 In terms of toxicity and biodegradation, the most commonly used ILs, such as 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate ([BMIm][BF4]), and BMIm hexafluorophosphate ([BMIm][PF6]), are not biodegradable. However, they can be designed to be biodegradable by changing the anion group to octyl sulfate, allowing 25% biodegradability. Saccharin- and acesulfame- based ILs are also highly biodegradable.40.68 For IL to be considered "readily biodegradable", it should release 60% of its theoretically calculated CO2 within 28 days of incubation in activated sludge medium inside a closed vessel under a headspace of air.69 For example, 1-methyl-3-(pentoxycarbonylmethyl)imidazolium saccharinate is readily biodegradable. On the other hand, the toxicity of ILs is a topic of controversy. Many of the toxicity studies involve organisms in aquatic media. These studies have shown that a longer alkyl chain on an imidazolium cation allows an IL to function as an antimicrobial agent (increasing toxicity).70 A toxic IL that can be fully biodegraded into CO2 and other benign chemicals is perhaps more desirable than a non-biodegradable solvent.71 Interestingly, studies also report that increasing the alkyl chain length caused an enhancement in biodegradability. As a result, increasing the alkyl chain length is productive in terms of biodegradability, but is disadvantageous by increasing the toxicity of the IL.

Deep cutectic solvents such as mixtures of choline chloride $(HOCH_2CH_2N(CH_3)_2CI)$ with metal chlorides, carboxylic acids or urea are related to ILs. The urea-choline chloride material is non-toxic, biodegradable, and can be prepared from renewable feedstocks. In general, many ILs are commercially available and can easily be prepared in the laboratory.⁴⁰ Other green alternatives include supercritical fluids and switchable solvents.⁴⁰ There are cases where alternative solvents do not perform better than conventional solvents and in such cases, one should attempt to use the least hazardous VOC available.

1-12 Extraction Protocol

Extraction is an important step following reaction completion, in which a product(s) is separated from the reaction mixture. The desired product is extracted using a suitable solvent to separate it from unreacted materials and other side products. VOCs such as carbon tetrachloride, benzene, hexanes, chloroform, and dichloromethane are widely used as they are able to extract a wide range of compounds. Another good feature is their volatility,⁴⁰ which allows them to be easily removed by evaporation from the desired product. Despite their advantages, however, their use imparts major environmental and health concerns. For example, pentane, and diethyl ether have low flash points, which are -49 and -40 °C, respectively. A flash point is the temperature at which a solvent produces enough vapour to start burning. Dichloromethane and other chlorinated solvents are carcinogenic. Polar aprotic solvents, such as DMF and *N*-methylpyrolidine-2-one (NMP), are toxic but are difficult to replace because of a lack of suitable alternatives. Undesirable solvents should be replaced with greener solvents whenever possible (Table 1-2).⁴⁰ For example, hertane is less toxic than hexane and metane.

35

Table 1-2. Undesirable solvents and their suggested alternatives.40

Undesirable solvent	Alternative solvent	
Pentane or hexane	Heptane	
Ethers	2-methyl tetrahydrofuran (2-MeTHF) or methyl t-butyl	
	ether (MTBE)	
Dichloromethane	Ethyl acetate (EtOAc), MTBE, toluene or 2-MeTHF	

Supercritical carbon dioxide (seCO₂: Te = 31.0 °C and Pe = 72.8 atm) can also be a good replacement solvent for non-polar VOCs. After extraction, CO₂ can easily be released by reducing the pressure and leaves no residue behind. The polarity of seCO₂ can also be increased by adding a modifier such as methanol. This option is the best among the alternatives, which can replace solvents that have major environmental issues. The problem of using seCO₂ either in chromatographic or extraction techniques⁴⁰ is the high cost of equinment and operation.

1-13 Catalysts

A catalyst is a chemical substance that decreases the activation energy of a reaction (speeds up the process), while remaining unconsumed at the end of the reaction.⁷² Catalysts are widely used in a range of industries including polymer, pharmaceutical, agrochemical, and petrochemical fields. Use of catalysts is emphasized as one of the twelve principles of Green Chemistry. Catalysis has led to many economic and environmental benefits,^{72,73}

1-13-1 Homogeneous and Heterogeneous Catalysis

In homogeneous catalysis, the catalyst is present in a single phase along with the reactants, solvent, and products. When the catalyst is in a different phase, the catalysis is heterogeneous, where, in most cases, the catalyst is a solid. Heterogeneous catalysis is widely used in the petrochemical and bulk-chemical industries. It is the preferable scenario because the catalyst can be easily separated from a mixture (recyclable) by filtration, and this leads to easier and cheaper purification processes.72 Consequently, the catalyst can be reused and so the operating costs will be reduced. In homogeneous catalysis, it is not easy to separate the catalyst for reuse, but it has other advantages over heterogeneous catalysis including higher selectivity and activity and minimizes mass transfer effects. Table 1-3 shows a comparison between homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysis.73 In most cases, a homogeneous catalyst can influence a reaction to produce a particular compound. Therefore, it is more selective than a heterogeneous catalyst. A heterogeneous catalyst is generally a solid and all catalytically active atoms or groups are at the surface. This situation causes fewer active sites to be available for reaction compared with a homogeneous analog and this can affect the % yield of a product. This means that mass transfer between the reaction mixture and a catalyst is lower for heterogeneous types.

	Homogeneous catalysis	Heterogeneous catalysis
Active centers	All atoms	Atoms on surface
Selectivity	High	Low
Mass transfer	High	Low
High temperature stability	More	Less
Recyclability	Difficult	Easy

Table 1-3. Homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysis comparison.73

In some cases, the combination of using NCW as a solvent for a reaction in the presence of an organic catalyst can be valuable. In such cases, the organic catalyst behaves as a homogeneous catalyst in NCW because it can dissolve organic compounds (see section 1-11-2). After the reaction, the organic catalyst can easily be separated by cooling the reaction, since water at room temperature cannot dissolve organic compounds. In this way, the catalyst can be isolated and reused.⁷⁰

1-13-2 Biocatalysis

Biocatalysts are natural catalysts. They are mainly exploited as isolated enzymes, but whole organisms can also be used. It should be noted that in comparison with homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysts, which achieve 10^2-10^4 catalytic cycles/h, biocatalysts are highly active and can reach 3.6×10^6 cycles/h. Another advantage of using biocatalysts is their specificity (i.e., they produce a specific product from a specific reactant, and their reactions are often enantioselective). This is very important for pharmaceutical processes because the activity of a medicine depends on a specific enantiomer. Protein engineering methods can modify enzymes' properties to facilitate targeted objectives. Using enzymes as biocatalysts is also desirable in terms of sustainable green chemistry. Most enzymes are productive in water and can also tolerate organic solvents. For example, lipases are highly stable in organic solvents and have been used industrially in the synthesis of acrylates, which are used to produce plastics and adhesives.⁷⁴ Lipases have also been used with ILs.⁷⁵

1-14 Converting Renewable Feedstocks to Useful Chemicals

Thinking green is a good tool in the production of new and useful products. In recent years, chemists have focused significant attention on using feedstocks such as cellulose, glucose and fructose to produce renewable chemicals 5-hydroxymethylfurfural (5-HMF) and levulinic acid (LA). The chemistry of chitin, chitosan, and their monomers (i.e., NAG and glucosamine) should be investigated as well because they are underexploited and less widely studied compared to cellulose and glucose. Moreover, converting these substances into useful products is a more useful strategy than dumping them into the sea. One can envisage that the sea food industries, in particular waste associate with crustacean waste, could be a future valuable source of chemicals for other industries as outlined in Figure 1-14.



Figure 1-14. A potential chain of industries may develop to convert fishery waste into useful products. Products produced from "Chemical Industry 1" may lead to further industries. Levulinic acid was selected and shown for clarity.

1-14-1 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural (5-HMF)

1-14-1-1 Production

5-HMF can be obtained as a product of the Maillard reaction in which reducing hexoses react in the presence of amino acids or proteins during the thermal processing of food,⁷⁹ It is found in dried fruits, coffee, caramel, and honey. In terms of its toxicity, a daily dose (80-100 mg/kg) in animal experiments showed no ill effects. In addition, there is limited evidence of its carcinogenic potential.⁸⁰ In 1895, the first two reports of producing 5-HMF were published. Dull synthesized 5-HMF from inulin and Kiermayer used sugar cane in a similar procedure (i.e., heating one of these starting materials with oxalic acid under pressure).⁸¹ Since then, many procedures have been developed to produce reasonable amounts of 5-HMF using different types of solvents including water, dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO), DMF, dimethyl acetamide (DMA) and ILs,⁸² and a wide range of catalysts including mineral acids, and acidic ion-exchange resins.⁸³ 73% yield of 5-HMF has been obtained from fructose using Amberlyst-15TM as a solid acid catalyst in DMF at 100 °C for 3 h.⁸⁴ In a microbatch reactor, a 92% yield of 5-HMF was produced by dehydration of fructose at 90 °C for 45 min in 1-H-3-methylimadizolium chloride, which acted as the solvent and an acid catalyst.^{85,30} Under the same conditions, a 100% yield of 5-HMF was obtained from sucrose after 30 min.⁸⁶ A combination of boric acid (B(OH)₃) and NaCl has been used to dehydrate fructose into 5-HMF (60% yield) in water medium at 150 °C in 90 min. Using the same method, glucose produced only 1% yield 5-HMF.⁸⁷

Glucose can be obtained from starch, cellulose, sucrose, and lactose. Industrially, it is produced from starch via a hydrolysis process using enzymes.^{88,89,90} Corn is the main crop used to produce glucose, and glucose generally costs less than fructose. Therefore, financially it makes sense to produce 5-HMF from glucose rather than fructose.⁸⁹ In [EMIm]CI with B(OH)₃, glucose produced 42% yield 5-HMF at 120 °C over 3 h. If sucrose was used, 66% yield 5-HMF was obtained after 10 h reaction time.⁹¹ A 70% yield of 5-HMF has been obtained from glucose using CrCl₂ in 1-ethyl-3-methylimadazolium chloride ([EMIm]CI) at 100 °C in 3 h.⁹² This reaction provided higher yields than those using other catalysts such as H₂SO₄. Lewis acids, or other metal halides (< 10% yield 5-HMF). However, from a green perspective, the use of Cr-based catalysts is not desirable because of the potential formation of toxic hexavalent Cr species if released into the

41

environment. Glucose in 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate ([EMIm]BF₄) using SnCl₄:5H₂O as catalyst produced 62.3% yield at 100 °C for 3 h.⁵⁰ 91.4% yield of 5-HMF has been produced from fructose in a biphasic reaction system of ethyl acetate and choline chloride/citric acid, which ran for 1 h at 80 °C.⁹⁴ More than 90% yield was obtained from fructose in DMSO in presence of lanthanide ions.⁸⁵ In an attempt to decrease the amount of DMSO used, the DMSO was mixed with acetone (3:7 v/v). This reaction was performed using a strong cationic acid exchange resin (DOWEX 50WX8). The mixed solution was heated under microwave irradiation up to 150 °C for 20 min to produce 90% yield 5-HMF.⁸⁵ 60% yield of 5-HMF has been produced directly from cellulose in [EMIm]Cl in the presence of CrCl₂ and RuCl₃ as a catalyst mixture at 120 °C in 2 h. Under the same conditions, a 41% yield of 5-HMF was produced from a crude lignocellulosic raw material.⁸⁵ For a brief comparison of the 5-HMF productions identified above, see Table 1-4.

Biomass	Conditions	5-HMF (%Yield)
	Amberlyst-15 [™] and DMF at 100 °C for 3 h.84	
	Water at 150 °C for 90 min.87	
Fructose	1-H-3-methylimadizolium chloride at 90 °C for 45 min.85,86	
	Ethyl acetate and choline chloride/citric acid at 80 $^{\rm o}C$ for 1 h. $^{\rm sq}$	91
	1-H-3-methylimadizolium chloride at 90 °C for 30 min.86	100
Sucrose	[EMIm]Cl with B(OH)3 at 120 °C for 10 h.91	
	Water at 150 °C for 90 min.87	1
Glucose	$CrCl_2$ and 1-ethyl-3-methylimadazolium chloride ([EMIm]Cl) at 100 $^{\circ}C$ for 3 h. 92	70
Giucose	$SnCl_4{\cdot}5H_2O \qquad \text{and} \qquad l\text{-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium}$ tetrafluoroborate ([EMIm]BF4) at 100 $^\circ C$ for 3 h. 93	61
Cellulose	$CrCl_2,RuCl_3and[EMIm]Cl at120\ ^{\circ}C$ for 2 h. 95	
Crude lignocellulosic raw material	$^{\rm CrCl_2,\ RuCl_3}$ and [EMIm]Cl at 120 °C for 2 h. 95	

Table 1-4. A summary of 5-HMF production methods described in section 1-14-1-1.

5-Chloromethylfurfural CMF (70-90%) can be produced from glucose, sucrose, cellulose, and corn in a biphasic reactor using HCI/CICH₂Cl₃Cl at 80-100 °C for 3h. CMF can be converted into 5-HMF. 86.2 % of 5-HMF can be produced from CMF by boiling in water with fast stirring in 30 s followed by rapid cooling to room temperature.⁵⁹
1-14-1-2 Mechanisms

Dehydration of hexoses occurs through the loss of three water molecules to produce 5-HMF. Amarasekara et al. proposed a mechanism for 5-HMF production from D-fructose using DMSO at 150 °C, Figure 1-15. °7



Figure 1-15. Proposed pathway: conversion of fructose (furanose form) into 5-HMF.

Pyrolysis of sucrose has produced 5-HMF. Figure 1-16 shows the proposed mechanism where the sucrose is cleaved into a fructofuranosyl cation at 350 °C. In this mechanism, 5-HMF is formed through loss of a hydrogen ion and dehydration processes. Fructose can also form a fructofuranosyl cation in the presence of H⁺ and then produce 5-HMF. Also, the glucose formed undegoes dehydration to form 5-HMF through 3-deoxy-glucosone at 65 °C.⁹⁴



Figure 1-16. Proposed pathway: production of 5-HMF from sucrose.

In 2009, Han et al., proposed the mechanism of 5-HMF formation from glucose in $[EMIm]BF_4$ using SnCl₄:5H₂O as a catalyst, Figure 1-17. In $[EMIm]BF_4$, α-glucose exists in equilibrium with β-glucose. In this reaction, several interactions between glucose and the tin atom are proposed before 5-HMF is formed.⁶¹ 61% yield of 5-HMF can be generated from glucose under the following reaction conditions: 100 mg glucose, 25 mol%s SnCl₄:5H₂O, 1 g $[EMIm]BF_4$, 100 °C over 3 h.



Figure 1-17. Proposed pathway: using glucose to produce 5-HMF.

In 2011, Riisager et al. showed that 5-HMF can be produced, from glucose, using B(OH), and [EMIm]CI in the absence of a metal catalyst. In this reaction pathway (Figure 1-18), glucose and B(OH)₃ formed a glucose-borate complex. This complex was then converted into fructose through several reaction steps. The chloride ion was shown to play an important role in this mechanism. It helped convert fructose into its enol form after losing a water molecule. By losing two additional water molecules, 5-HMF was formed.⁹¹ 42% and 66% yields of 5-HMF were produced from glucose and sucrose, respectively under the following reaction conditions: 1.0 g [EMIm]Cl, 100 mg glucose, Ca. 27.5 mg boric acid (for glucose) and 0.5 equiv of boric acid (for sucrose), 120 °C over 3 h (for glucose) and 10 h (for sucrose).



Figure 1-18. Proposed pathway: converting glucose into 5-HMF in an IL and B(OH)3.

5-HMF can be prepared in DMF using a combination of acid and base. Ebitani et al. used sucrose, cellobiose, glucose, and fructose as starting materials in this process. For sucrose and cellobiose, the acid (Amberlyst-15TM) was responsible for both the hydrolysis steps and also played a role in dehydration (i.e., it let fructose lose three water molecules to produce 5-HMF). The base (Mg–AI hydrotalcite) was responsible for catalyzing the isomerization between glucose and fructose, when glucose was used as the starting material. Figure 1-19 shows the proposed mechanism.⁸⁴ In this reaction 76, 58, 93, and 67% yields of 5-HMF were obtained from fructose, glucose, sucrose, and cellobiose, respectively. The reaction conditions were: 0.1 g substrate, 0.1 g Mg–AI hydrotalcite (0.2 g for glucose), 0.1 g Amberlyst-15TM and 3 mL DMF. The temperatures and run times were 100 °C over 3 h for fructose, 80 °C over 9 h for glucose and 120 °C over 9 h for sucrose and cellobiose over 3 h.



Figure 1-19. Proposed pathway: hydrolysis of sucrose and cellobiose into 5-HMF.

The mechanism of converting cellulose into 5-HMF in Figure 1-20 is similar to that shown in Figure 1-19 for the reaction of cellobiose. It starts with a hydrolysis step to produce glucose (saccharification). The second step is isomerization of glucose into fructose. The dehydration processes form the final product (5-HMF).⁵⁵ Cho et al. produced 60% yield 5-HMF under the following reaction conditions: 10 mol% to cellulose of 4:1 (CrCl;:RuCl₃), 50 mg cellulose, 500 mg [EMIm]Cl, 120 °C over 2 h.



Figure 1-20. Proposed pathway: Cellulose hydrolysis into 5-HMF.

Polysaccharides such as starch and inulin behave similarly to cellulose. They undergo hydrolysis in the presence of acid as the first step in 5-HMF production. In Figure 1-21, inulin forms fructose, which then forms 5-HMF through dehydration processes.⁹⁹



Figure 1-21. Proposed pathway: hydrolysis of inulin into 5-HMF.

1-14-1-3 Applications

It is well-known that the prices of fossil fuels worldwide are increasing with time, especially for oil. These sources are depleting and are from a practical sense non renewable. Therefore, there is a massive demand for replacement of these sources with renewable feedstocks. As a consequence, 5-HMF is a promising compound that can be produced from biomass materials. 5-HMF is an important precursor for the production of a range of biofuels and other useful products, which can be used in a wide range of applications (Figure 1-22),⁸⁵ One of these compounds is 2,5-furandicarboxylic acid (FDCA), which has been identified by the US Department of Energy as a biorefinery platform chemical (i.e., it can be used to produce a set of high-value bio-based chemicals),⁹⁹ FDCA can be used instead of terephthalic acid to produce polyesters.⁹⁹ FDCA can be prepared from 5-HMF in aqueous NaOH in the presence of supported Au/TiO₂ catalyst under a pressure of 690 kPa O₂.¹⁰⁰ 2,5-dimethylfuran (2,5-DMF) is another chemical that can be produced from 5-HMF, 2,5-DMF is a promising liquid transportation fuel⁷⁰ and can also be used as a fuel additive.⁵⁰ 5-HMF can also be converted into 2,5-dihydroxymethylfuran and 2,5-bis(hydroxymethyl)tetrahydrofuran (HM-THF). These transformations of 5-HMF proceed through a variety of process oxidation, hydrogenation, hydrogenolysis or aldol condensation processes.^{101,102} 5-HMF can be converted into long chain alkanes through multistep procedures including reactions with acetone, hydrogenation, and dehydration.¹⁰²



Figure 1-22. 5-HMF as a starting material in the production of a range of useful chemicals.

1-14-2 Levulinic Acid (LA)

1-14-2-1 Production

Levulinic acid (LA) belongs to the gamma-keto acid family.¹⁰³ It is also known as 4oxopentanoic acid. It has also been identified by the US Department of Energy as a biorefinery platform chemical. LA can be obtained by treating hexoses with high concentrations of acid. During the reaction, 5-HMF is produced as an intermediate, which is converted into LA via a rehydration process.85 Before biomass starting materials garnered popularity, one of the best methods to produce highly pure LA was using the petrochemical feedstock maleic anhydride.¹⁰³ It can also be formed via furfuryl alcohol hydrolysis. Production of LA can be achieved using different solvents and catalysts.¹⁰³ For example, Biofine Corporation has developed a hydrolysis process to manufacture LA industrially. Hexose sugars are treated in a reactor using 1-5% mineral acid at 210-230 °C for 13-25 s. In this step, 5-HMF is produced and transferred immediately and continuously into a second reactor. In this reactor, a hydrolysis process is conducted at 195-215 °C for 15-30 min to produce LA (minimum 60 %) from 5-HMF. Other starting materials can be used instead of hexoses such as paper mill sludge, urban waste paper, agricultural residues and cellulose fines from papermaking. The cost of LA based on this method is \$ 0.04-0.10 USD ner nound.¹⁰⁴ CMF can be hydrolyzed into LA (91.2% yield). In this process, an oil bath was used to heat up a mixture of CMF and water to 190 °C for 20 min.96 Sodium chloride has a positive effect on the conversion of cellulose into LA via glucose as an intermediate. In this way, a 72% yield of LA could be produced from

52

cellulose in aqueous NaCl using Nafion as an acid catalyst. The reaction was run at 190-200 $^\circ$ C for 5 days.¹⁰⁵

1-14-2-2 Mechanism of LA Formation

LA is produced from 5-HMF under certain conditions. The mechanism of this conversion passes through fructofuranosyl intermediates, Figure 1-23, and includes a number of dehydration and rehydration steps. The dehydration steps prefer high temperature conditions (endothermic reactions), whereas the rehydration steps to form LA are exothermic. Formic acid is a byproduct in this mechanism¹⁰³ and humic acids can be formed as side products.⁸⁰



Figure 1-23. Proposed pathway: 5-HMF into LA.

Pentoses, e.g., xylose, can also produce LA. Dehydration, rehydration, and reduction (hydrogenation) processes occur during LA formation. Furfural is an intermediate in this pathway that is reduced to give furfuryl alcohol and then rehydrated to form LA. Figure 1-24 shows this production pathway, which has been proposed for when the reaction is performed in aliphatic ketone solvents.¹⁰⁰



Figure 1-24. Proposed pathway: Converting pentose into LA.

1-14-2-3 Applications

A number of applications have been developed for LA derivatives including chiral reagents, biologically active materials, polymer chemistry, personal care products, lubricants, adsorbents, printing inks, coatings, electronics, photography, batteries, drug delivery and corrosion inhibitors.¹⁰⁴ In pharmaceutical industries, the synthesis of chiral building block molecules is an extremely important issue for production of specific enantiomers. For example, 3-hydroxyvalerate (3HV) is a chiral compound that can be used to produce poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate).¹⁰⁶ which is applied in

skin regeneration practices.¹⁰⁷ 3HV can be biologically produced using Pseudomonos nutida KT2440 and LA as the substrate 106 LA can be converted into many useful chemicals Figure 1-25 103,104 Sodium levulinate can be used as an inhibitor of spoilage bacterial growth in fresh sausage. Listeria monocytogenes in turkey roll, and bologna (processed meat) 108 It can also be used as an antifreeze agent. Ethyl levulinate (EL) is an ester that can be used in the food flavoring and fragrance industries 103 v-Valerolactone (GVL), ethyl levulinate (EL), and 2-methyltetrahydrofuran (2-MeTHE) can be used as fuel additives. GVL can also be used to produce liquid high molecular weight hydrocarbon fuels that can be useful or added to gasoline, diesel, and iet fuels, 5nonanone (dibutyl ketone (DBK)) is another diesel fuel component DBK can be produced by converting GVL into valeric acid (pentanoic acid) and then onto DBK 109 GVL has many more applications including its use as a food additive and a solvent. A catalytic hydrogenation of LA using diethyl ether (solvent) was applied to produce GVL at room temperature.¹¹⁰ Preparation of GVL from LA can be achieved by hydrogenation of aqueous LA in the presence of a ruthenium supported catalyst and Amberlyst-15™ as a co-catalyst at low hydrogen pressure 111 &-aminolevulinic acid (DALA) is another LA derived chemical. It is a biodegradable herbicide96 and insecticide,112 DALA can also be used as a component in photodynamic therapy for cancer treatment.104 B-acetylacrylic acid, diphenolic acid (DPA), and 1,4-pentanediol can be obtained from LA. These chemicals can be used as polymer building blocks.96 For example, DPA, which is produced by reacting LA with phenol using heteropoly acids, can be used to produce polycarbonates and epoxy resins.¹¹³ DPA can be used as a 'green' replacement for bisphenol A in polycarbonate production.85,113

55



Figure 1-25. Conversion of levulinic acid into useful chemicals.

1-14-3 3-Acetamido-5-acetylfuran (3A5AF)

1-14-3-1 Production of 3A5AF

3-acetamido-5-acetylfuran (3A5AF) is an expensive compound to obtain commercially: 50 mg costing ca. \$ 700 CAD. (Pricing from Atomax Chemicals Co., Ltd. 2010). This is likely due to an ineffective synthetic method. Limited exploitation and research involving 3A5AF has occurred to date because of its current price stifling research using it. The maximum amount of 3A5AF produced prior to research described in this thesis was only 2% molar vield from NAG.114 In 1984, Franich et al. produced 3A5AF via a pyrolysis method. 3A5AF was prenared from a NAG solution (in water: methanol. 4:1 v/v) in a glass-tube apparatus, which was placed in the center of a platinum coil pyrolyser at 400 °C. For quantification purposes, the oven was interfaced with a gas chromatography mass spectrometry (GC-MS) instrument. Preparative pyrolysis was conducted using 2 g NAG in a glass tube apparatus inside a preheated oven at 400 °C. A condensed tar was formed. The tar components were eluted on a silica gel column using mixtures of chloroform and methanol. Fractions were collected using an absorbance detector at 280 nm for identification purposes, 2% molar vield 3A5AF was obtained via this preparative pyrolysis method.¹¹⁴ In 1998, Ho et al. studied another pyrolysis method involving NAG under solvent-free conditions using an oil bath for heating;115 In this way, ca. 4.4 g NAG were mixed with anhydrous disodium hydrogen phosphate and 50 g of quartz sand. This mixture was heated at 200 °C for 30 min in a sealed stainless steel vessel in an oil bath. After extraction using dichloromethane, 3A5AF was quantified using GC-MS. Only 0.04% vield of 3A5AF was produced.

1-14-3-2 Mechanism

The pyrolysis of NAG (as described above) is a thermal method by which 3A5AF may be prepared. In the production pathway (Figure 1-27), thermal rearrangement and hydrationdehydration steps were proposed to be the main and crucial steps in 3A5AF production. During the process, NAG is proposed to lose a water molecule to form 2-acetamido-1.6anhydro-2-deoxy-B-D-glucopyranose (anhydro sugar).¹¹⁴



Figure 1-26. Proposed pathway: Converting NAG into 3A5AF.

In Figure 1-27, other pathways that have been proposed for the formation of 3A5AF from NAG are presented.¹¹⁵



Figure 1-27. Proposed pathway: converting NAG into 3A5AF.

1-14-3-3 Applications

Due to the high price of 3A5AF, researchers have not studied the chemistry of 3A5AF extensively. One goal of the research presented herein was to develop a cost-effective method to produce 3A5AF. In terms of application, 3A5AF could be useful in proximicin A, B, and C syntheses (Figure 1-28), NAG might even be a biological precursor to proximicins, which are found in nature. Proximicins are new netropsin equivalents and have been isolated from marine actinomycete strains of the genus *Verrucosispora*. They are antibiotics and have antitumor activity.¹¹⁶ Since proximicins are very important compounds, many researchers are interested in synthesising them. 3-Furfural aldehyde has been used as a major starting material in the total synthesis of proximicins published to date.¹¹⁷



Figure 1-28. Proximicin A, B, and C structures.

1-15 Factorial Design

During the course of this PhD research, factorial design has been used to optimize the reactions conditions and achieve the desired goals. For any project or study, the person in charge is always planning, doing, studying, and acting in a cycle known as the "model for improvement" (Figure 1-29). From this strategy, continuous improvement is achieved.¹¹⁸



Figure 1-29. Plan, do, study, and act cycle strategy.

When a researcher begins to investigate a reaction process to produce a certain product(s), the researcher must discover the optimum conditions to achieve the highest yield in the shortest time with the least cost. Naturally, each process has several factors that can be investigated. An important question is "how can a strategy be developed to optimize the system"? The first approach is called one factor (or variable) at a time (OFAT). This method depends on changing one factor (A) while keeping others constant. After changing A, another cycle of reactions is performed and a different factor (B) is changed while other factors including A remain constant. This approach is the most commonly used one, but it has drawbacks. In particular, it neglects the interaction amongst factors:

In other words, if you increase a factor and decrease/increase another one, this may have an effect on the results too (i.e., synergistic or anti-synergistic effects).^{118,119} Another disadvantage is that you end up with separate sets of data. Each set represents and gives interpretations for one factor only.¹¹⁸ Another approach is called factorial designs (FDs), a type of design of experiments (DoE). FDs are alternative methods used to optimize and overcome many of the deficiencies of the "OFAT" approach outlined above. Using FDs, one factor at a time can be studied and factors can also be changed simultaneously (i.e., two, three...all factors can be varied). In this approach, each factor can be studied at two (or more) levels. If k is the number of factors and these are studied at 2 levels, 2k is the number of experiments needed for FDs. For example, FDs for 3 factors at 2 levels (23 FDs) for each factor needs 8 experiments in total.^{118,119} It should also be noted that the number of effects is equal to 2k-1. For example, four factors at two levels offer 15 effects to study. Back to factors and levels, suppose that you have factors (A, B, C, etc.), Each factor has two levels; a low level (-) and a high level (+). There are three ways to present FDs. These forms are design matrix, tabular, and geometric displays as shown in Figure 1-30, Figure 1-31, and Figure 1-32, respectively.118

Run #	Α	В	С	D
1	-	-	1-1	-
2	+	-	-	-
3	-	+	-	-
4	+	+	-	-
5	-	-	+	-
6	+	-	+	-
7	-	+	+	-
8	+	+	+	-
9	-	-	-	+
10	+	-	-	+
11	-	+	-	+
12	+	+	-	+
13	-	-	+	+
14	+	-	+	+
15	-	+	+	+
16	+	+	+	+

Factors

 -2^2 , -2^3 and the whole matrix display is for 2^4 FDs

Figure 1-30. Matrix display of FDs.



 -2^2 , -2^3 and the whole tabular display is for 2^4 FDs

Figure 1-31. Tabular display for FDs.

63



The front facial square of any cube is 2², each cube without D is 2³ and the whole geometric display (i.e., both cubes) is 2⁴ FDs Figure 1-32. Geometric display for FDs.

1-15-1 The Simplest Factorial Design (2² FD)

To show the difference between OFAT and FD, 2² factorial designs will be discussed as a simple example. For a chemical reaction that yields a product "X", two factors that could be studied are temperature (T) and time (I). Each factor would be investigated at two levels "Low (-) and high (+)". The matrix display of this example is shown in Table 1-5. **Table 1-5**, 2² FD matrix display showing the % yield of product "X".

	Т (-)	T (+)
t (-)	47% yield of product "X"	42% yield of product "X"
t (+)	25% yield of product "X"	44% yield of product "X"

The number of effects in this example is three. They are the individual effects (T and t) and the interaction effect (Tt). Each effect has a response that is the difference between the average of the yields of an effect at +1 and -1 (or the high and low levels i.e. the high and low temperatures), Table 1-5.

Table 1-6. The difference between the averages of %yields for each effect.

Effect	Average of %yields (+1)	Average of %yields (-1)	The difference
Т	T(+): (42+44)/2=43	T(-): (47+25)/2=36	43-35=7
t	t(+): (25+44)/2=34.5	t(-): (47+42)/2=44.5	34.5-43.5=-10
Tt	T(-), t(-) and T(+), t(+): (47+44)/2=45.5	T(-), t(+) and T(+), t(-): (25+42)/2=33.5	44.5-43=12

The following points can be noted by interpreting Table 1-6:

- · Increasing the T from a low to high level led to an increase in the yield of 7%.
- · Increasing the t from a low to high level led to a decrease in the yield of 10%.
- The largest effect is for the interaction of T and t i.e. when both T and t are increased or decreased simultaneously, the %yield of product "X" increases.
- Increasing the T and t at the same time to even higher levels (greater than the high levels used in this example) may produce %yield greater than 47. This would be a starting point for future experiments with the aim of obtaining a greater yield of X. This example 2² FD demonstrates that changing two factors simultaneously can have a greater effect than changing one at a time. If a researcher were looking at the same reaction using a OFAT approach, a maximum yield of 44% would likely be obtained.

This is because the OFAT method neglects the synergistic effect between factors. To analyze complex FDs, software programs are available for quick, accurate analysis and interpretation of experimental data.

1-15-2 FDs Statistical Analysis

FDs can be interpreted using Minitab software.¹²⁰ In this program Lenth's analysis is used for interpretation. The most important effects in a study are termed to be significant. To determine these effects, a median of the absolute value of the ranges of effects (m) should be calculated. Then, the pseudo standard deviation of absolute values (s) equals $1.5 \times m$. The median of effects that are less than $2.5 \times s$ is m_{to} Now, the pseudo standard error (PSE) equals $1.5 \times m_{to}$. A non-significant effect is an effect that lies within a 95% confidence interval. This interval is determined by calculating a margin of error (ME). To calculate ME, the t-distribution should be determined at α (1-95/100) and the degrees of freedom (d_{e^-} number of effects/3). ME is a combination of many terms. However, ME equals to $t_{(1-\alpha 2), \text{ eff}} \times PSE$. A normal plot of the standardized effects using Minitab gives the significant and non-significant effects. To get better results, the significant effects must be tested.¹²¹ FOr example, Chapter 2 (chitosan hydrolysis project) deals with a sample situation wherein 2¹⁴ FD was applied and the significant effects were studied in more detail.

To show the statistical analysis manually for a 2⁴ FD, results for the production of 5hydroxymethylfurfural (5-HMF) from chitosan presented in Table 2-1 later in this thesis are used as sample data. The first step is to calculate the difference between the averages of %yields (the responses of effects) as in section 1-15-1, Table 1-7.

Effect ^a	Average of %yields (+1)	Average of %yields (-1)	The difference	Absolute value of the difference
Α	3.22	1.58	1.63	1.63
в	1.06	3.74	-2.67	2.67
С	4.80	0.00	4.80	4.80
D	2.39	2.41	-0.02	0.02
AB	2.26	2.54	-0.28	0.28
AC	3.22	1.58	1.63	1.63
AD	2.60	2.20	0.40	0.40
BC	1.06	3.74	-2.67	2.67
BD	2.40	2.40	0.01	0.01
CD	2.39	2.41	-0.02	0.02
ABC	2.26	2.54	-0.28	0.28
ABD	2.29	2.52	-0.23	0.23
ACD	2.60	2.20	0.40	0.40
BCD	2.45	2.40	0.05	0.05
ABCD	2.29	2.52	-0.23	0.23

Table 1-7. The difference between the averages of %yields of 5-HMF production for each effect.

^a A = Water volume, B = Amount of SnCl₄.5H₂O, C = Temperature, and D = Time

The median (m) of the absolute differences of the effects is 0.28. Let s equal 1.5 × m, which is 0.41. By excluding the effects that are greater than 2.5 × s (2.5 × 0.41 = 1.03), the new median (m₆) of the rest of effects will be 0.23. Then let PSE equal 1.5 × m₆, which is 0.35. After calculating the PSE of the results, ME can be determined by multiplying PSE with t $_{(1-02), 40}$ t $_{(1-02), 40}$ can be obtained from Student's t distribution table, which is in this case equal to 2.57. Therefore, ME equals 0.90. Any results that lay

within the ME are considered non significant because they are close to no response. In FDs, the significant effects are those that lay outside of the ME because they are the extremes that have the potential to produce the maximum %yield of 5-HMF. To wrap up a study of this kind, the significant effects determined through the FD approach should be studied further before drawing any firm conclusions. To show the distribution of the effects around the ME, the normal plot of the effects lets the significant effects be seen and assigned more easily. The normal plot of the effects is created based on the percentile (percent) of each effect against its difference between the averages of %yields. The percentile is a statistic term that means a certain percentage of observations are falling below an observation. To calculate the percentile, the differences in Table 1-7 should be sorted in descending order. The largest difference will have number 15 and the smallest is 1. The percentile of each difference is calculated as (the order of an effect $-\alpha$) / total number of effects. For example, the percentile of the largest difference is for effect "C" equal (15 - 0.5)/15 × 100 that is 97%. This means 97% of the observations fall below the effect "C".

Effect	Order Number	The difference	Percentile
С	15	4.8	97
AC	14	1.63	90
A	13	1.63	83
ACD	12	0.4	77
AD	11	0.4	70
BCD	10	0.05	63
BD	9	0.01	57
CD	8	-0.02	50
D	7	-0.02	43
ABCD	6	-0.23	37
ABD	5	-0.23	30
ABC	4	-0.28	23
AB	3	-0.28	17
BCD	2	-2.67	10
В	1	-2.67	3

Table 1-8. The p	percentiles of effects.
------------------	-------------------------

The normal plot of distribution for this data is presented in Figure 2-7 as a graph of the percentiles vs the difference of effects. Using Figure 2-7, it is easy to figure out the effects which significantly affect the %vield of 5-HMF production.

1-16 Data Analysis

A GC chromatogram shows individual peaks for each of the separated components, by their retention time (t_R). Each compound has a unique t_R . This t_R is usually highly reproducible, if the sample is re-injected using the same instrument parameters. Therefore, a compound is recognized based on its t_R . The challenge is that the analyst cannot qualitatively identify the structure of a compound using the chromatogram (e.g., t_R) alone. By examining a mass spectrum, an analyst can study the fragmentation pattern of a given compound by its m². To quantify a compound, the analyst needs to form a calibration curve to correlate a peak area (from the chromatogram) and compound concentration. Thus, the concentration of an unknown compound can be inferred based on peak area.¹²² GC-MS methods were employed for both qualitative and quantitative purposes in this thesis (Chapters 2, 3 and 4).

1-16-1 Wt% Expression

For the purpose of this work, wt% was defined as the number of mg a method can produce of a desired product from 100 mg raw material. For example, if a certain process gave 50 wt% of a specific product, this indicates that 100 mg of the raw material used produced 50 mg of the product. In Chapter 2, the produced amounts of LA and 5-HMF were determined using the wt% expression. Because chitosan cannot be produced in a fully deacetylated form (i.e., there is no 100% DD chitosan), it is better to use the wt% expression.

1-16-2 % Yield Expression

The % yield expression means: the actual yield of a desired product divided by the theoretical yield \times 100%. The actual yield of the product is its quantity that is obtained experimentally. The theoretical yield is the maximum quantity of the product that can be produced based on the given quantities of reactants and the reaction stoichiometry.

In Table 2-3, 13 wt% of LA was produced from chitin using an optimized method (described in Chapter 2). The following is a sample calculation to show that 13 wt% is equivalent to 23% yield of LA. 13 wt% means 100 mg chitin produced 13 mg LA. Chitin formed from NAG monomers, where NAG loses one molecule of H₂O to form chitin. Therefore, the molecular weight of chitin can be approximated to be 221.2 g mol⁻¹ (NAG, molecular weight) -18.0 g mol⁻¹ (H₂O, molecular weight) = 203.2 g mol⁻¹. To calculate the theoretical mass of LA obtained from 100 mg chitin, complete conversion will be considered, 100 mg chitin = 100 mg/203.2 mg mmol⁻¹ = 0.492 mmol. Supposing that the reaction is 1:1 chitin:LA mol ratio. The theoretical mass of produced LA will be 0.492 mmol × 116.1 mg mmol⁻¹ = 57.1 mg. The % vield is calculated using Equation 1-4.

As a result, the % yield of LA = $13.0 \text{ mg}/57.1 \text{ mg} \times 100 = 22.8$.

1-17 Summary

Chitin is a polysaccharide that is formed, degraded and absorbed naturally. Chitin, chitosan, and their monomers (glucosamine and NAG) are renewable feedstocks. Because of their availability and non-toxicity, increasing attention has been placed on them in both medical and industrial-based applications. On the other hand, the production of useful chemicals using these renewable feedstocks has only been discussed to a limited extent compared with fructose, glucose and cellulose. Most of the useful products from chitin and chitosan are oligomers that have associated medical applications. LA and 5-HMF have been produced from different sources including cellulose, starch inulin, glucose, fructose, and sucrose. Despite this, there are few studies related to the production of LA and 5-HMF from chitin and chitosan. These chemicals were presented and discussed from three angles: production methods, mechanistic features and potential applications, 3A5AF has been previously produced in two pyrolysis studies from NAG in low yields. The known chemistry of 3A5AF was discussed using the same three perspectives as for LA and 5-HMF. It is clear that there is significant scope to study the chemistry of 3A5AF further in the future when its current chemistry is compared with the related molecule 5-HMF. Factorial designs (FDs) are outlined in this introductory chapter and have been used to study and optimize most reactions presented in this thesis. GC-MS is briefly described above and was the major qualitative and quantitative analytical tool used to collect data presented in this thesis.

1-18 Objectives of Thesis

The essential objective of this thesis was to develop new methods to generate useful chemicals from biological sources, which are crustacean shells (chitin and its deacetylated form, chitosan). This represents a superior alternative to dumping chitin into the sea. There is a large amount of fishery waste (crustacean shells) produced from food processing industries, not only in the Atlantic region, but also worldwide. In Chapter 2, a green method for processing chitosan (in water) is presented. This method was based on microwave irradiation, in the presence of catalysts, resulting in the production of the useful platform chemicals LA and 5-HMF described above. In Chapters 3 and 4, two methods in different solvents were studied to produce 3A5AF from NAG. The yield reported herein is over 30 times more than that previously described in the literature. Statistical data were obtained using Minitab software.

1-19 References

1 P. Anastas and N. Eghbali, Chem. Soc. Rev., 2010, 39, 301-312.

2 S. Fernandes, C. S. R. Freire, C. Pascoal Neto and A. Gandini, Green Chem., 2008, 10, 93-97.

3 S. Yeh, N. P. Lutsey and N. C. Parker, Environ. Sci. Technol., 2009, 43, 6907-6914.

4 A. Gandini, Green Chem., 2011, 13, 1061-1083.

5 G. A. F. Roberts, Chitin Chemistry, Macmillan, Houndmills, Hampshire, 1992.

6 B. Krajewska, Sep. Purif. Technol., 2005, 41, 305-312.

7 G. Vaaje-Kolstad, A. C. Bunæs, G. Mathiesen and V. G. H. Eijsink, FEBS Journal, 2009, 276, 2402-2415.

8 D. E. Hunt, D. Gevers, N. M. Vahora and M. F. Polz, *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 2008, 74, 44-51.

9 G. T. Beckham and M. F. Crowley, J. Phys. Chem. B, 2011, 115, 4516-4522.

10 H. Merzendorfer and L. Zimoch, J. Exp. Biol., 2003, 206, 4393-4412.

11 L. Flintoft, Nat. Rev. Microbiol., 2004, 2, 90.

12 M. G. Peter, Plast. Eng., 1995, 29, 37-48.

13 A. M. Martin, Fisheries Processing : Biotechnological Applicationsin, Chapman & Hall, London, New York, 1994.

14 Y. S. Nam, W. H. Park, D. Ihm and S. M. Hudson, Carbohydr. Polym., 2010, 80, 291-295.

15 Y. Xu, C. Gallert and J. Winter, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 2008, 79, 687-697.

16 P. Charoenvuttitham, J. Shi and G. Mittal, Sep. Sci. Technol., 2006, 41, 1135-1153.

17 N. Wade, K. C. Goulter, K. J. Wilson, M. R. Hall and B. M. Degnan, Comp. Biochem. Physiol., Part B: Biochem. Mol. Biol., 2005, 141B, 307-313.

18 Y. Xu, C. Gallert and J. Winter, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 2008, 79, 687-697.

19 Y. Qin, X. Lu, N. Sun and R. D. Rogers, Green Chem., 2010, 12, 968-971.

20 G. Yu, F. G. Morin, G. A. R. Nobes and R. H. Marchessault, *Macromolecules*, 1999, 32, 518-520.

21 A. Domard, Carbohydr. Polym., 2011, 84, 696-703.

22 D. Kafetzopoulos, A. Martinou and V. Bouriotis, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 1993, 90, 2564-2568.

23 Y. Arakane, R. Dixit, K. Begum, Y. Park, C. A. Specht, H. Merzendorfer, K. J. Kramer, S. Muthukrishnan and R. W. Beeman, *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.*, 2009, **39**, 355-365.

24 L. Illum, Pharm. Res., 1998, 15, 1326-1331.

25 M. M. Mecwan, G. E. Rapalo, S. R. Mishra, W. O. Haggard and J. D. Bumgardner, J. Biomed. Mater. Res., Part A, 2011, 97A, 66-73.

26 T. A. Khan, K. K. Peh and H. S. Ch'ng, J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci., 2002, 5, 205-212.

27 S. Sabnis and L. H. Block, Polym. Bull., 1997, 39, 67-71.

28 A. Baxter, M. Dillon, K. D. Anthony Taylor and G. A. F. Roberts, Int. J. Biol. Macromol., 1992, 14, 166-169.

29 M. N. V. R. Kumar, R. A. A. Muzzarelli, C. Muzzarelli, H. Sashiwa and A. J. Domb, *Chem. Rev.*, 2004, **104**, 6017-6084.

30 N. S. Tapola, M. L. Lyyra, R. M. Kolehmainen, E. S. Sarkkinen and A. G. Schauss, J. Am. Coll. Nutr., 2008, 27, 22-30.

31 S. Surini, H. Akiyama, M. Morishita, T. Nagai and K. Takayama, J. Controlled Release, 2003, 90, 291-301.

32 H. K. No, S. P. Meyers, W. Prinyawiwatkul and Z. Xu, J. Food Sci., 2007, 72, R87-R100.

33 F. Shahidi, J. K. V. Arachchi and Y. Jeon, Trends Food Sci. Technol., 1999, 10, 37-51.

34 M. F. A. Goosen, Applications of Chitin and Chitosan, Technomic Pub., Lancaster, PA, 1997.

35 B. Krajewska, Enzyme Microb. Technol., 2004, 35, 126-139.

36 J. Brugnerotto, J. Desbrieres, G. Roberts and M. Rinaudo, *Polymer*, 2001, 42, 09921-09927.

37 P. Sikorski, R. Hori and M. Wada, Biomacromolecules, 2009, 10, 1100-1105.

38 R. A. A. Muzzarelli, Chitin, Pergamon Press, Oxford, New York, 1977.

39 I. A. Sogias, V. V. Khutoryanskiy and A. C. Williams, *Macromol. Chem. Phys.*, 2010, 211, 426-433.

40 F. M. Kerton, Alternative Solvents for Green Chemistry, RSC Publishing, Cambridge, UK, 2009.

41 H. Xie, S. Zhang and S. Li, Green Chem., 2006, 8, 630-633.

42 R. D. Rogers, D. T. Daly and G. Gurau. Methods for Dissolving Polymers Using Mixtures of Different Ionic Liquids and Compositions Comprising the Mixtures. PCT Int. Appl. WO2011056924, 2011.

43 R. A. A. Muzzarelli, Chitin handbook, European Chitin Society, Atec, Grottammare, Italy, 1997.

44 J. H. Yoon, Enzyme Microb. Technol., 2005, 37, 663-668.

45 H. Zhu, E. Muraki and S. Aiba, Book of Abstracts, 219th ACS National Meeting, San Francisco, CA, March 26-30, 2000, 2000, ORGN-096.

46 S. Sato and K. Minamikawa. Process for the Preparation of Natural Nacetylglucosamine. Jpn. Kokai Tokkyo Koho. JP2009191001, 2009.

47 K. Tommeraas, K. M. Varum, B. E. Christensen and O. Smidsrod, *Carbohydr. Res.*, 2001, 333, 137-144.

48 C. O. Kappe, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 2004, 43, 6250-6284.

49 R. Gedye, F. Smith, K. Westaway, H. Ali, L. Baldisera, L. Laberge and J. Rousell, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1986, 27, 279-282.

50 R. J. Giguere, T. L. Bray, S. M. Duncan and G. Majetich, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1986, 27, 4945-4948.

51 C. O. Kappe, D. Dallinger and S. S. Murphree, Practical Microwave Synthesis for Organic Chemists: Strategies, Instruments, and Protocols, Wiley-VCH, KGaA, Weinheim, Germany, 2009. 52 J. D. Moseley and C. O. Kappe, Green Chem., 2011, 13, 794-806.

53 J. Hoffmann, M. Nuechter, B. Ondruschka and P. Wasserscheid, Green Chem., 2003, 5, 296-299.

54 M. Mascal and E. B. Nikitin, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 2008, 47, 7924-7926.

55 J. Mack and M. Shumba, Green Chem., 2007, 9, 328-330.

56 Z. Xu, Z. Li, X. Tan, C. M. B. Holt, L. Zhang, B. S. Amirkhiz and D. Mitlin, RSC Adv., 2012, 2, 2753-2755.

57 M. Jida, R. Deprez-Poulain, S. Malaquin, P. Roussel, F. Agbossou-Niedercorn, B. Deprez and G. Laconde, *Green Chem.*, 2010, 12, 961-964.

58 J. G. Huddleston, A. E. Visser, W. M. Reichert, H. D. Willauer, G. A. Broker and R. D. Rogers, *Green Chem.*, 2001, 3, 156-164.

59 F. Atefi, M. T. Garcia, R. D. Singer and P. J. Scammells, *Green Chem.*, 2009, 11, 1595-1604.

60 R. E. Del Sesto, C. Corley, A. Robertson and J. S. Wilkes, J. Organomet. Chem., 2005, 690, 2536-2542.

61 M. Matsumiya, S. Suda, K. Tsunashima, M. Sugiya, S. Kishioka and H. Matsuura, J Electroanal. Chem., 2008, 622, 129-135.

62 R. Sheldon, Chem. Commun., 2001, 23, 2399-2407.

63 T. L. Greaves and C. J. Drummond, Chem. Rev., 2008, 108, 206-237.

64 F. Chou, W. Wang and G. Wei, J. Chromatogr., A, 2009, 1216, 3594-3599.

65 P. Reddy, K. J. Chiyen, N. Deenadayalu and D. Ramjugernath, J. Chem. Thermodyn., 2011, 43, 1178-1184.

66 M. P. Marszall and R. Kaliszan, Crit. Rev. Anal. Chem., 2007, 37, 127-140.

67 P. Sun and D. W. Armstrong, Anal. Chim. Acta, 2010, 661, 1-16.

68 J. R. Harjani, J. Farrell, M. T. Garcia, R. D. Singer and P. J. Scammells, Green Chem., 2009, 11, 821-829.

69 N. S. Battersby, Chemosphere, 1997, 34, 1813-1822.

70 D. J. Couling, R. J. Bernot, K. M. Docherty, J. K. Dixon and E. J. Maginn, Green Chem., 2006, 8, 82-90.

71 K. M. Docherty, J. K. Dixon and C. F. Kulpa Jr, Biodegradation, 2007, 18, 481-493.

72 G. Rothenberg, Catalysis : Concepts and Green Applications, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, Chichester, 2008.

73 A. Z. Fadhel, P. Pollet, C. L. Liotta and C. A. Eckert, Molecules, 2010, 15, 8400-8424.

74 B. M. Nestl, B. A. Nebel and B. Hauer, Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol., 2011, 15, 187-193.

75 Y. Abe, K. Yoshiyama, Y. Yagi, S. Hayase, M. Kawatsura and T. Itoh, *Green Chem.*, 2010, 12, 1976-1980.

76 S. L. Flitsch and R. V. Ulijn, Nature, 2003, 421, 219-220.

77 M. H. Stipanuk, Biochemical, Physiological, & Molecular Aspects of Human Nutrition, Saunders Elsevier, St. Louis, 2006.

78 J. Rhim and P. K. W. Ng, Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr., 2007, 47, 411-433.

79 Y. Surh and S. R. Tannenbaum, Chem. Res. Toxicol., 1994, 7, 313-318.

80 K. Abraham, R. Guertler, K. Berg, G. Heinemeyer, A. Lampen and K. E. Appel, Mol. Nutr. Food Res., 2011, 55, 667-678.

81 A. A. Rosatella, S. P. Simeonov, R. F. M. Frade and C. A. M. Afonso, *Green Chem.*, 2011, 13, 754-793.

82 M. E. Zakrzewska, E. Bogel-Lukasik and R. Bogel-Lukasik, Chem. Rev., 2011, 111, 397-417.

83 Q. Cao, X. Guo, S. Yao, J. Guan, X. Wang, X. Mu and D. Zhang, *Carbohydr. Res.*, 2011, 346, 956-959.

84 A. Takagaki, M. Ohara, S. Nishimura and K. Ebitani, Chem. Commun., 2009, 41, 6276-6278.

85 J. J. Bozell and G. R. Petersen, Green Chem., 2010, 12, 539-554.

86 C. Moreau, A. Finiels and L. Vanoye, J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem., 2006, 253, 165-169.

87 T. S. Hansen, J. Mielby and A. Riisager, Green Chem., 2011, 13, 109-114.

88 B. Selmi, D. Marion, J. M. P. Cornet, J. P. Douzals and P. Gervais, J. Agric. Food Chem., 2000, 48, 2629-2633.

89 A. Corma, S. Iborra and A. Velty, Chem. Rev., 2007, 107, 2411-2502.

90 M. Nagamori and T. Funazukuri, J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol., 2004, 79, 229-233.

91 T. Stahlberg, S. Rodriguez-Rodriguez, P. Fristrup and A. Riisager, Chem. Eur. J., 2011, 17, 1456-1464.

92 H. Zhao, J. E. Holladay, H. Brown and Z. C. Zhang, Science, 2007, 316, 1597-1600.

93 S. Hu, Z. Zhang, J. Song, Y. Zhou and B. Han, Green Chem., 2009, 11, 1746-1749.

94 S. Hu, Z. Zhang, Y. Zhou, B. Han, H. Fan, W. Li, J. Song and Y. Xie, Green Chem., 2008, 10, 1280-1283.

95 B. Kim, J. Jeong, D. Lee, S. Kim, H. Yoon, Y. Lee and J. K. Cho, *Green Chem.*, 2011, 13, 1503-1506.

96 M. Mascal and E. B. Nikitin, Green Chem., 2010, 12, 370-373.

97 A. S. Amarasekara, L. D. Williams and C. C. Ebede, *Carbohydr. Res.*, 2008, 343, 3021-3024.

98 C. P. Locas and V. A. Yaylayan, J. Agric. Food Chem., 2008, 56, 6717-6723.

99 J. N. Chheda, Y. Roman-Leshkov and J. A. Dumesic, Green Chem., 2007, 9, 342-350.

100 S. E. Davis, B. N. Zope and R. J. Davis, Green Chem., 2012, 14, 143-147.

101 F. Ilgen, D. Ott, D. Kralisch, C. Reil, A. Palmberger and B. Koenig, Green Chem., 2009, 11, 1948-1954.

102 D. M. Alonso, J. Q. Bond and J. A. Dumesic, Green Chem., 2010, 12, 1493-1513.

103 D. W. Rackemann and W. O. S. Doherty, Biofuels, Bioprod. Biorefin, 2011, 5, 198-214.

104 D. C. Elliott, S. W. Fitzpatrick, J. J. Bozell, J. L. Jarnefeld, R. J. Bilski, L. Moens, J. G. Frye Jr., Y. Wang and G. G. Neuenschwander, *Biomass. Proc. Biomass Conf. Am.*, 4th, 1999, 1, 595-660.
105 J. Potvin, E. Sorlien, J. Hegner, B. DeBoef and B. L. Lucht, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2011, 52, 5891-5893.

106 H. Tseng, C. L. Harwell, C. H. Martin and K. L. J. Prather, *Microb. Cell Fact.*, 2010, 9, 96.

107 P. Kuppan, K. S. Vasanthan, D. Sundaramurthi, U. M. Krishnan and S. Sethuraman, *Biomacromolecules*, 2011, **12**, 3156-3165.

108 C. E. Carpenter, J. V. Smith and J. R. Broadbent, Meat Sci., 2011, 88, 256-260.

109 D. J. Braden, C. A. Henao, J. Heltzel, C. C. Maravelias and J. A. Dumesic, Green Chem., 2011, 13, 1755-1765.

110 H. A. Schuette, R. W. Thomas, JACS, 1930, 52, 3010-3012.

111 A. M. R. Galletti, C. Antonetti, V. De Luise and M. Martinelli, Green Chem., 2012, 14, 688-694.

112 A. D. Patel, J. C. Serrano-Ruiz, J. A. Dumesic and R. P. Anex, Chem. Eng. J., 2010, 160, 311-321.

113 B. Girisuta, B. Danon, R. Manurung, L. P. B. M. Janssen and H. J. Heeres, *Bioresour Technol*, 2008, 99, 8367-8375.

114 R. A. Franich, S. J. Goodin and A. L. Wilkins, J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis, 1984, 7, 91-100.

115 J. Chen, M. Wang and C. Ho, J. Agric. Food Chem., 1998, 46, 3207-3209.

116 K. Schneider, S. Keller, F. E. Wolter, L. Roeglin, W. Beil, O. Seitz, G. Nicholson, C. Bruntner, J. Riedlinger, H. Fiedler and R. D. Suessmuth, *Argew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, 2008, 47, 3258-3261.

117 F. E. Wolter, K. Schneider, B. P. Davies, E. R. Socher, G. Nicholson, O. Seitz and R. D. Sussmuth, Org. Lett., 2009, 11, 2804-2807.

118 R. D. Moen, T. W. Nolan and L. P. Provost, *Quality improvement through planned experimentation*, McGraw-Hill, New York, USA, 1999.

119 D. C. Montgomery, Design and Analysis of Experiments, Wiley, Hoboken, NJ, 2009.

120 http://www.minitab.com/en-CA/academic/ [Accessed on September 27th, 2012].

121 G. E. P. Box, W. G. Hunter and J. S. Hunter, *Statistics for Experimenters : Design, Innovation and Discovery*, Wiley, Hoboken, N.J., 2005.

122 F. A. Settle, Handbook of Instrumental Techniques for Analytical Chemistry, Prentice Hall PTR, Upper Saddle River, New Jersey, 1997.

1-20 Co-Authorship Statement

This PhD thesis includes results of joint research that have been published in or submitted to peer reviewed journals in the form of two full papers and one communication, as follows:

Chapter Two: Hydrolysis of Chitosan to Yield Levulinic Acid and 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural in Water Under Microwave Irradiation

Authors: Khaled W. Omari, Jessica E. Besaw and Francesca M. Kerton

Journal: Green Chem., 2012, 14, 1870-1877

The principal author (Khaled W. Omari) contributed to all aspects of the project as the main researcher including: literature review, performing 90% of the experiments, collecting and analyzing most of the data, designing some new experiments, presenting and discussing the data with the corresponding author, mentoring Jessica E. Besaw as an undergraduate summer student, writing the first draft of the manuscript and preparing answers to the auestions and comments of the new reviewers.

The co-author (Jessica E. Besaw) ran around 10% of the experiments and data analysis, primarily those concerned with the reactions of glucosamine hydrochloride.

The corresponding author (Dr. Francesca M. Kerton) proposed the initial experiments and contributed to various aspects of the project including data analysis, design of new experiments, revision of the draft manuscript and submission to the journal, supervision both of the principal author (K. W. O.) and co-author (J. E. B.). Chapter Three: A Simple One-Pot Dehydration Process to Convert N-acetyl-Dglucosamine into a Nitrogen-Containing Compound, 3-acetamido-5-acetylfuran Authors: Khaled W. Omari, Linda Dodot and Francesca M. Kerton

Journal: ChemSusChem, 2012, 5, 1767-1772.

The principal author (Khaled W. Omari) contributed to all aspects of the project as the main researcher including: literature review, performing 90% of the experiments, collecting and analyzing the data, designing new experiments, presenting and discussing the data with the corresponding author, mentoring Linda Dodot as an undergraduate summer student, writing the first draft of the manuscript and preparing answers to the questions and comments of the peer reviewers.

The co-author (Linda Dodot) ran around 10% of the experiments and data analysis, primarily running some duplicate reactions for assessing reproducibility of reaction conditions.

The corresponding author (Dr. Francesca M. Kerton) proposed the initial experiments and contributed to several aspects of the project including data analysis, design of new experiments, revision of the draft manuscript and submission to the journal, supervision both of the principal author (K. W. O.) and co-author (L. D.). Chapter Four: Formation of a Renewable Amide, 3-acetamido-5-acetylfuran, via Direct Conversion of N-acetyl-D-glucosamine,

Authors: Marcus W. Drover, Khaled W. Omari, Jennifer N. Murphy and Francesca M. Kerton

Journal: RSC Adv., 2012, 2, 4642-4644

The principal author (Khaled W. Omari) contributed to all aspects of the project as the co-first author alongside Marcus Drover including: literature review, training, mentoring and advising Marcus Drover and Jennifer Murphy as undergraduate summer students, cowriting the first draft of the manuscript with Marcus Drover and preparing answers to the questions and comments of the peer reviewers. Day-to-day supervision and guidance of the two undergraduate students was provided by K. W. O. and F. M. K. assisted through biweekly meetings with the 3-member research team.

This project was initiated after the initial results presented in Chapter 3 were obtained. Therefore, quantification and characterization methods for 3-acetamido-5-acetylfuran used in this study were already established by K. W. O., as the key starting point in this project.

The co-first-author Marcus Drover ran around 65% of the experiments and worked on data analysis with K. W. O. and developed the NMR method used for kinetic studies. *Jennifer Murphy* ran about 10% of the experiments primarily running some duplicate reactions for assessing reproducibility of reaction conditions and preparing samples for the kinetic studies. M. W. D. and J. N. M. prepared some of the ionic liquids (ILs) used in this study but the majority of ILs were purchased. The corresponding author (Dr. Francesca M. Kerton) proposed the initial experiments and contributed to several aspects of the project including data analysis, design of new experiments, revision of the draft manuscript and submission to the journal, supervision both of the co-principal authors (K. W. O. and M. W. D.) and co-author (J. N. M.).

Chapter Two

Hydrolysis of Chitosan to Yield Levulinic Acid and 5-

Hydroxymethylfurfural In Water Under Microwave

Irradiation



A version of this chapter has been published.

Khaled W. Omari, Jessica E. Besaw and Francesca M. Kerton*, Hydrolysis of Chitosan to Yield Levulinic Acid and 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural in Water Under Microwave Irradiation, Green Chem., 2012, 14, 1870-1877.

Some modifications were made to the original paper for inclusion as a chapter in this thesis. For example, the supporting information was incorporated in this chapter and some figures have been added.

2-1 Introduction

Chitin is an important biopolymer that can be sourced from the ocean and is the most abundant biopolymer on Earth after cellulose and hemicellulose, Figure 2-1.^{1,2} The estimated annual production of chitin worldwide is about 1.5×10^5 tons.² It is mainly available from crustaceans' shells such as crab, lobster and shrimp, and as such it is an industrial waste material of fisheries and a renewable feedstock with much potential (see section 1-2-1). Three steps are used to purify chitin from crustacean's waste. These are (i) deproteinization using a strong base such as NaOH, (ii) demineralization using an acid such as HCI, and (iii) decolouration using a bleaching agent such as H₂O₂ (see section 1-2-2).² New methods are being developed that use green chemistry techniques in this field, for example, the use of ionic liquids.³



Figure 2-1. Comparison of Chitin, Chitosan, and Cellulose formulae.

Chitin is deacetylated under alkaline conditions to yield chitosan. 100% deacetylation cannot be achieved and therefore, chitosan is a copolymer of glucosamine and NAG.⁴ It is readily available in a range of molecular weights and degrees of deacetylation (DD), 50 to 2000 kDa and 40 to 98%, respectively (for more details, see section 1-4).

In recent years, many useful chemicals have been produced from renewable feedstocks.^{5,6} For example, catalytic conversions of cellulose,^{7,10} fructose,^{11,15} and glucose^{16,21} into 5-HMF and LA have been reported (see section 1-14-1 and 1-14-2) but amino-sugars and carbohydrates have been overlooked. The chemistry of chitin and chitosan should be investigated in concert with current studies on cellulose to achieve maximum benefits from the most abundant bio-feedstocks available. The processing and usage of these Ncontaining polysaccharides has been somewhat restricted over the years because they contain many hydroxyl groups that are able to form strong intra- and inter-molecular hydrogen bonds. Chitosan is insoluble in basic media and water.^{22,23} Likewise, chitin is insoluble in water, most of organic solvents, dilute acidic, or basic solutions.³

Despite the currently limited industrial applications of these biopolymers, their hydrolysis has been quite widely studied. They can be hydrolyzed using enzymes such as cellulase, hemicellulase, lysozyme, papain, pectinases, and lipases to produce glucosamine, NAG, and oligomers.^{24,25} Chitinases depolymerize chitin to produce chito-oligosaccharides consisting of one to six NAG sub-units.²⁵ High yields of diacetylchitobiose (NAG); can be obtained through hydrolysis of colloidal chitin in dimethylsulfoxide and lithium chloride using *Vibrio furnissii chitinase*.²⁶ Chito-oligosaccharides can also be produced by chitin and chitosan cleavage using mineral acids. Depolymerization of chitosan in nitrous acid produces chito-oligosaccharides and 2,5-anhydro-D-mannofuranose (M).²⁵ Cleavage of chitin in sulfuric acid in the presence of acetic anhydride produces *N*-acetylchitooligosaccharide peracetates.^{25,27}

However, aside from the production of monosaccharides, disaccharides, and oligosaccharides, there have been few reports on the production of chemicals from chitosan or chitin. One published example is the conversion of chitin to 5-(chloromethyl)furfural and LA using aqueous HCl and large amounts of 1,2dichloroethylene.¹ The trimer (NAG)₂-M has been prepared by treating chitosan (fraction of N-acetylated units = 0.59) in HNO₂.²⁸ This trimer was then reported to produce 1% 5-HMF upon further exposure to concentrated HNO₂. Conversion of glucosamine to 5-HMF has been briefly reported by other researchers using organic acids in the presence of DMSO.²⁹ The current main use of glucosamine is as a dietary supplement and therefore

some studies concerning its stability have been performed. Pyrolysis of glucosamine at 200 °C in the solid-state yields a mixture of furans, pyridines, pyrroles, and pyrazines. The most abundant products, 2-acetylfuran and 2-(2-furyl)-6-methylpyrazine, were present at levels of only 0.063 mg per g of glucosmine pyrolyzed.¹⁰ In aqueous solution, when glucosamine was heated to 100 °C, a similar mixture of products formed and around 20 mg of furan products were produced from 1 g of the sugar.³¹ These results show that glucosamine has potential as a renewable feedstock for furans and N-containing heterocycles and that clearly, there is a need to further investigate the conversion of chitin and chitosam into useful renewable chemical building blocks.

Herein, attempts to hydrolyze chitosan in the absence of concentrated acids by generating superheated water under microwave conditions are described. The hydrolysis process was enhanced by use of a Lewis acid. Water is a clean, non-corrosive, non-flammable, renewable, readily available, cheap, and environmentally friendly solvent.^{32,33} Some of the advantages of using microwave heating are that it reduces reaction times and can increase product yields compared with conventional heating methods.^{34,36} Microwave heating is particularly efficient for chemical transformations in water as it can be superheated in sealed vessels.³⁵ In this study, different parameters were varied such as temperature, concentration, the Lewis acid used and reaction time. Two compounds were identified as the primary products from the hydrolysis of chitosan described herein: Levulinic acid (LA) and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural (5-HMF). In addition, chitin under similar conditions produced LA. LA can be used to produce many compounds such as ethyl levulinate and 2-methyltetrahydrofuran that can be used as miscible diesel biofuel

additives, δ-aminolevulinic acid, a herbicide, and β-acetylacrylic acid, diphenolic acid, and 1,4-pentanediol, which are polymer building blocks.¹⁷ 5-HMF can yield other renewable building blocks such as 2,5-furandicarboxylic acid (FDCA), 2,5 dihydroxymethylfuran, 2,5-bis(hydroxymethyl)tetrahydrofuran, and 2,5-dimethylfuran. The latter is a promising liquid transportation fuel.¹⁷³⁸ FDCA can be used in polyester production in the place of terephthalic acid.²⁹

2-2 Results and Discussion

2-2-1 Catalysts Screening

Two series of reactions were performed initially to identify whether a catalyst was required to hydrolyze chitosan in superheated water under microwave conditions and whether an acidic or basic catalyst would give superior results. For each set of reactions, a control reaction (no catalyst) was performed and 21 catalysts were screened and the amounts of LA and 5-HMF produced from medium molecular weight chitosan were determined. The amount of chitosan processed under the two conditions was fixed at 100 mg. The first condition was 0.24 mmol catalyst and 4 mL deionized water. The second was 0.12 mmol catalyst and 20 mL deionized water. The potential catalysts that were assessed were anhydrous lanthanum trifluoromethanesulfonate La(CF₂SO₃)₂ (1), gadolinium trifluoromethanesulfonate hydrate Gd(CF₂SO₃)₂:xH₂O (2), ytterbium trifluoromethanesulfonate hydrate Yb(CF₂SO₃)₂:xH₂O (3), zinc perchlorate hexahydrate Zn(ClO₄)₂: 6H₂O (4), Amberlyst-15TM hydrogen form (5) which is an acidic resin, anhydrous indium(11)) chloride lnCl₃ (6), hydrochloric acid HCl (7), iron perchlorate

hydrate Fe(ClO₄)₂:xH₂O (8), nickel perchlorate hexahydrate Ni(ClO₄)₂:6H₂O (9), zirconyl chloride octahydrate ZrOCl--8H-O (10), conner nerchlorate hexahydrate Cu(ClO₄)₂:6H₂O (11), bismuth chloride BiCl₂ (12), chromium perchlorate hexahydrate Cr(ClO₄)₃:6H₂O (13), zirconium tetrachloride ZrCl₄ (14), tin chloride pentahydrate SnCla-5H-O (15), manganese perchlorate hydrate Mn(ClO₄)₂-xH-O (16), yttrium trifluoromethanesulfonate Y(CF3SO3)3 (17), acetic acid CH3COOH (18), ammonia NH3 (19), sodium hydroxide NaOH (20), and basic alumina Al₂O₃ (21). These were chosen because the metal complexes are generally stable in water⁴⁰ and some of the other species, e.g., Amberlyst-15™, have given good results for glucose/cellulose transformations.18 HCl was studied because it is known to vield LA from chitin.1 SnCla 5H2O has been reported to yield 5-HMF from glucose in an ionic liquid.17 Both the concentrated and dilute reaction mixtures were heated under microwave irradiation at 200 °C for 30 min. In the control reactions and in the presence of 16 to 21 neither LA nor 5-HMF was produced. For the concentrated reaction mixtures (0.24 mmol catalyst, 4 mL water), Figure 2-2 shows the weight percentages of LA and 5-HMF produced using catalysts 1 to 15.



Figure 2-2. Comparison of weight percentages LA and 5-HMF produced under concentrated reaction conditions for a range of catalysts.

Generally, the metal-containing catalysts gave superior conversions when compared to the simple acids and bases. Acetic acid and the bases studied, **18-21**, produced no products, and HCl and Amberlyst-15[™] produced only a small amount of 5-HMF (< 2.3%) and no LA. The reason for the poor performance of Amberlyst-15[™] may be insufficient swelling of the resin in aqueous solvents and also deposition of biopolymer on the surface of the beads, which was evident through SEM studies (Figure 2-3).



Figure 2-3. SEM analysis of Amberlyst-15TM (a) before microwave reaction, there are cracks on the surface of the beads (b) after microwave reaction, biopolymer deposited on the surface of the beads and filled the cracks.

Of the metal salts, the triflate catalysts were also ineffective for this process, 1 to 3 produced small amounts of 5-HMF (<0.7%) and 17 was completely inactive. This may be due to the non-coordinating nature of these anions compared with chloride. The metal perchlorate Lewis acid catalysts were generally a little more effective and in most cases produced LA and/or 5-HMF, however, the Mn(II) salt (16) produced neither LA nor 5-HMF. The Fc(III) salt (8) produced only 5-HMF (3.16 wt%) whereas the Ni(II) salt (9) and the Cr(III) salt (13) produced only LA (9.9 wt% and 13.0 wt%, respectively). The Cu(II) salt (11) was the only metal perchlorate that produced LA and 5-HMF simultaneously (10.9 wt% and 1.8 wt%, respectively). These results indicate that the

choice of metal ion is important in determining the selectivity of the hydrolysis reaction. However, in general, the overall yields of LA were strongly dependent on the anion and follow the reactivity trend: $CF_5SO_3 \le CIO_4 \le CT$.

Under concentrated conditions, the metal chloride Lewis acid catalysts generally produced the largest amounts of LA and 5-HMF. InCl₃ (6) produced a small amount of 5-HMF (2.2 wt%) but no LA was produced. BiCl₃ (12) produced LA (12.4 wt%) and the largest amount of 5-HMF (4.0 wt%) under these conditions amongst the catalysts screened. ZrCl₄ (14) and SnCl₄-5H₂O (15) produced the largest amounts of LA (20.4 wt% and 23.9 wt%, respectively). ZrCl₄ is known to react with water to produce ZrOCl₂ 8H₂O (10) and HCl (7).⁴¹ As a result, catalyst 10 was examined and a moderate amount of LA and 5-HMF were produced (10.8 wt% and 3.4 wt%, respectively). However, neither ZrOCl₂-8H₂O nor HCl gave the largest amounts of LA (23.9 wt%) and 5-HMF (3.95 wt%) produced in this set of reactions came from those using SnCl₄-5H₂O (15) and BiCl₃ (12), respectively.

For the more dilute reaction condition screened (0.12 mmol catalyst, 20 mL water), Figure 2-4 summarizes the weight percentages of LA and 5-HMF produced using the catalysts screened. Under these conditions, a smaller number of catalysts were effective, namely, 3, 6 to 8, and 10 to 15.



Figure 2-4. Comparison of weight percentages LA and 5-HMF produced under dilute reaction conditions for a range of catalysts.

Interestingly, under these dilute conditions, no catalyst was ever able to produce LA indicating that LA production is strongly dependent on reaction concentration. Catalysts **1, 2, 4, 5,** and **9** although able to hydrolyze chitosan to 5-HMF or LA (in the case of **9**) under concentrated conditions, did not yield any 5-HMF under these more dilute conditions. HCI (7) was the only conventional (Bronsted) acid or base that produced 5-HMF (1.3 wt%) but this was a significantly smaller amount than that generated by some of the Lewis acids studied. Also, Yb(CF₃SO₃)₃:xH₂O (3) was the only metal triflate that produced 5-HMF (1.7 wt%) whereas under more concentrated conditions La(CF₃SO₃)₃. (1) and Gd(CF₃SO₃)₃ (2) were also active. Fe(III) (8), Cu(II) (11), and Cr(III) (13) perchlorates produced 5-HMF (3.3 wt%, 3.6 wt%, and 5.1 wt%, respectively) in similar quanities to those afforded under concentrated conditions. However, no LA was produced. Metal chloride Lewis acid catalysts yielded larger amounts of 5-HMF under dilute conditions compared with the more concentrated reaction mixtures. InCl₃ (6) in particular was a much more effective catalyst under dilute reaction conditions yielding 7.7 wt% 5-HMF compared with 2.2 wt% under concentrated conditions. Under both concentrated and diluted reaction conditions, SnCl₄:5H₂O (15) afforded the highest conversions to 23.9 wt% LA (concentrated conditions) and 10.0 wt% 5-HMF (diluted conditions). At this point it is worth noting that SnCl₄:5H₂O is a relatively cheap and easily handled reagent compared to some of the other species studied.

2-2-2 24 Full Factorial Designs

In general, several factors are varied to optimize experimental conditions. Chemists can use factorial design (FD) to understand the interactions between factors and thereby obtain a full picture of information and optimize a chemical reaction. If each factor is studied at two different levels (high and low), FD is expressed as 2^h, where k is the number of factors⁴² FD has been practiced in many catalytic research applications⁴³⁻⁴⁶

To optimize the reaction conditions using SnCl₄:5H₂O (15), 2⁴ FD was applied by varying the following four factors: volume of water, catalyst loading, temperature, and reaction time to study all effects and their interplay at once.

Table 2-1 shows weight percentages of LA and 5-HMF produced at different levels for each variable. The low and high levels of each factor were determined from preliminary experiments. 2⁴ Factorial designs were studied using Minitab software. Lenth's analysis was employed to analyze this FD experiments (an alternative procedure to a normal plot). The number of studied effects in this chapter is 15. To determine the most significant effects of the 15 effects, pseudo standard error (PSE) should be calculated to determine the margin of error (ME). After calculating the median (m) of the absolute values of the effects, let s = 1.5 × m. The median (m_a) of absolute values that are less than 2.5 × s were calculated. PSE is then equal to $1.5 \times m_{0r}$. ME is when an effect lies within 95% confidence interval. Therefore, ME is given by $t_{0.4724}$ of ×PSE. Where t is t-distribution, α = 1.95/100 and df is the degree of freedom that is cault to number of effects/3⁴⁷. Table 2-1. Weight percentage of LA and 5-HMF produced from 100 mg chitosan in the presence of SnCl4-5H5O (15) using 24

factorial designs.

Water Volume	ShC1.5H_O	Temperatur	e (150 °C)	Temperatu	re (200 °C)
(Im)	(lomm)	Time (15 min) 1	(Time (30 min)	Time (15 min)	Time (30 min)
()			Yield L/	A (wt%) ^a	
	0.12	QN	Q	10.2 (6.2)	10.9 (4.9)
4	0.24	QN	ND	18.0 (1.0)	23.9 (0.6)
de e	0.12	QN	ŊŊ	0(8.8)	0(10.0)
07	0.24	ΟN	ŊŊ	16.8 (3.3)	21.6 (3.6)
ND = not detected. V	alue in parenthese	s is the wt% 5-HMI	F produced cor	rcomitantly	

2-2-2-1 Effects on LA Production

From Figure 2-5, the significant effects on LA production, when $\alpha = 0.05$, are catalyst amount (B) and temperature (C). It might seem, by inspecting Table 2-1, that water volume is a significant effect but statistical analysis at the $\alpha = 0.05$ level indicates that it is a non significant effect. Data for variation in A (water volume effect) leads to a point within the ME for this process (i.e. close to the blue line in Figure 2-5).



Figure 2-5. Normal plot of the effects on the weight percentage of LA.

Based on the data generated by the 2⁴ FD experiments, the significant factors were changed while the water volume kept constant at 4 mL and the time constant at 30 min. Temperature was varied between 150 and 230 °C while the catalyst loading was kept constant at 0.24 mmol. Figure 2-6 shows that no LA was produced at lower temperatures

(150-170 °C). However, the amount produced increased almost linearly from 170 °C to 210 °C and then leveled out.



Figure 2-6. Effect of temperature on the weight percent LA produced from 100 mg chitosan in 4 mL water with 0.24 mmol of SnCl₄:SH₂O.

Additional experiments were then performed to determine if any of the other variables would have a significant effect on the amount of LA obtained. Doubling the amount of catalyst to 0.48 mmol and performing the reaction at 200 °C yielded 26.6 wt% LA compared with 23.9 wt% at tin levels of 0.24 mmol. Performing the hydrolysis reaction at 210 °C at high tin levels (0.48 mmol), yielded 28.6 wt% LA. Actually, increasing the time did not have a positive effect on the wt% of LA. For example, the optimum condition at 30 min reaction time produced 23.9 wt% LA, which increased to reach 26.0 wt% at 60 min. Therefore, although close to 30 wt% LA could be obtained by increasing reaction time and the amount of tim used, the effects of these changes are not significant when compared with the effect of temperature as shown in Figure 2-6.

2-2-2-2 Effects on 5-HMF Production

A similar factorial design experiment was performed to optimize the reactions under dilute conditions and the production of 5-HMF from chitosan. The significant effects, when $\alpha = 0.05$, are volume of water (A), catalyst amount (B) and temperature (C) factors as shown in Figure 2-7.



Figure 2-7. Normal plot of the effects of factors on the weight percentage of 5-HMF produced during microwave-assisted tin-catalyzed hydrolysis of chitosan.

Based on the data from the FD experiment, the significant factors were changed keeping the time constant at 30 min. The effect of temperature on the production of 5-HMF was investigated between 150 and 210 °C while the volume of water was kept constant at 20 mL and the catalyst amount maintained at 0.12 mmol. Figure 2-8 shows that no 5-HMF was detected for reactions conducted at 170 °C or lower. Between 170 and 200 °C, 5-HMF production increased linearly but decreased above this temperature. This decrease is likely due to more rehydration reactions occurring at higher temperatures to yield LA from the 5-HMF initially generated.





Catalyst loading was studied at 0.06 and 0.24 mmol of Sn in 20 mL water at 200 °C and the percentages of 5-HMF were 6.3 and 3.6, respectively. This shows that the highest 5-HMF production was at 0.12 mmol, which yielded 10 wt% 5-HMF.

The effect of dilution on production of 5-HMF was studied by performing reactions in 4.0 to 30.0 mL water at a constant temperature of 200 °C and a catalyst loading of 0.12 mmol SnCl₄:5H₂O. Figure 2-9 shows that the weight percent of 5-HMF produced increases from 4 mL until 15.0 mL as conditions become more dilute and then levels out. When the volume of water used was 15.0 mL or 20.0 mL, the amount of 5-HMF produced was similar. Further dilution of reactions mixtures, e.g., 30 mL water, was detrimental in terms of wt% 5-HMF obtained.

To examine the significant effects proposed from FD analysis for 5-HMF production (i.e., AC, volume and temperature, and BC, [Sn] and temperature, Figure 2-7), the wt% of 5-HMF produced from simultaneously varying two factors were compared. Increasing the volume of water and temperature, whilst keeping [Sn] constant at 0.12 mmol, produced moderately less 5-HMF: 15 mL water at 200 °C yielded 10.0 wt% 5-HMF, Figure 2-9 and 20 mL water at 210 °C yielded 9.0 wt% 5-HMF, Figure 2-8. In contrast, simultaneously increasing the temperature from 200 to 210 °C and decreasing the catalyst loading from 0.12 to 0.06 mmol SnCl₄-5H₂O (in a constant volume of 15 mL H₂O) caused a significant decrease in the amount of 5-HMF observed (4.6 wt%) in line with changes predicted by FD.



Figure 2-9. Effect of dilution on weight percent 5-HMF produced (100 mg chitosan, 0.12 mmol SnCl₄:5H₂O).

In summary, the optimum conditions for 5-HMF production (9.9 wt%) were microwave irradiation of 100 mg chitosan in 15 mL water with 0.12 mmol SnCl₄:5H₂O at 200 °C for 30 min.

2-2-3 Conventional Heating Compared with Microwave Irradiation

As microwave heating, at present, is less widely used than conventional heating methods, efforts were made to study the reactions using conventional heating (stirrer-hotplate) with the same optimised catalyst loadings and volumes of water as described above. The reaction times and temperatures studied were chosen using the Biotage Prediction Chart and Time Converter in reverse,⁴⁸ and as such similar yields of products would be predicted. The two mixtures (concentrated and diluted) were heated at 100 °C in a roundbottomed flask equipped with a reflux condenser. This conventional heating process produced 12.1 wt% LA after 9 days from 100 mg chitosan, 4 mL water, 0.24 mmol SnCl₄:5H₂O. This amount is almost half of that obtained via microwave irradiation. In attempts to yield 5-HMF using the optimum conditions from the microwave experiments, no product was obtained after 9 days of conventional heating. Reactions of chitosan at atmospheric pressure using microwave heating under both concentrated and diluted conditions were performed (100 °C, 2 h, CEM Discover SP system). Unfortunately, LA and 5-HMF were not produced. These results suggest a critical role for pressure in the reactions and they might be occurring under near-critical water conditions.

2-2-4 Studies Using Chitin as the Feedstock

In this study, chitin was tested and it was able to produce LA. Different sources of chitosan and chitin were tested under the optimum conditions of LA production that were determined using medium molecular weight chitosan. Table 2-2 summarizes these results. Chitin produced an average of 12.3 wt% LA and no differences were seen between chitin from erab or from shrimp. Similarly, the amount of LA produced from different sources and molecular weight of chitosan resemble each other (average 24.2 wt%). This was somewhat surprising given the tough appearance of high molecular weight chitosan. Generally, it can be seen that chitosan produces two times more LA than chitin.

As shown in Table 2-2, 5-HMF was produced in similar amounts from chitosan of different sources and molecular weights (average 9.8 wt%). In contrast, chitin failed to produce 5-HMF, or in fact LA or any small EiOAe soluble organic compounds under the conditions studied (Table 2-2). In the absence of the catalyst, under the optimized conditions, chitosan produced neither LA nor 5-HMF, Table 2-2. Also, reduced catalyst loadings failed to yield the desired products under the conditions studied.

LA (wt%)	5-HMF (wt%)
24.7	10.3
23.9	10.0
25.1	10.3
ND	ND
24.1	9.3
23.0	8.8
11.5	ND
12.7	ND
12.6	ND
	LA (wt%) 24.7 23.9 25.1 ND 24.1 23.0 11.5 12.7 12.6

Table 2-2. Summary of results for different types of chitin and chitosan treated using the optimized procedures for generation of LA and 5-HMF.^a

⁶ ND = not detected. Chitosan and chitin purchased from Aldrich and used as received. S-189 = shrimp chitosan, S-190 = crab chitosan, T-187 = crab chitin and T-188 = shrimp chitin from Newfoundland' fishery waste provided by ChitinWorks America LLC.

2-2-5 Proposed Mechanism

Our proposed mechanism for this process is shown in Figure 2-10. In the first step, chitosan is hydrolysed to yield glucosamine via cleavage of the glycosidic bond (C1---C4 linkage in the polymer) in the presence of SnC1₄-5H₂O and microwave irradiation. Microwave-assisted acid-catalysed biopolymer hydrolysis has previously been performed on starch to yield glucose.⁴⁹ This process occurs in a stepwise fashion and oligomers are formed initially. Evidence for the formation of chito-oligosaccharides has been obtained through mass spectrometric studies. No product is formed in the absence of catalysts. Therefore, coordination of the amine functional group to either a proton or a metal centre facilitates this bond-breaking process by weakening the proximal Cl-O bond and making it more amenable to hydrolysis. Furthermore by performing the reactions in water, both hydronium and hydroxide ions are readily available to react at this site. However, it is well known that an aqueous solution of SnCl₄ is mostly hydrolyzed and exists in equilibrium with colloidal tin(IV) oxide and HCl(aq).⁵⁰ Therefore, reaction mixtures prepared for this process are acidie. If colloidal tin oxide (Alfa Aesar) and HCl(aq) were used together rather than SnCl₄:5H₂O, 100 mg of chitosan yielded 27.4 wt% LA under the optimized conditions described above. This is slightly greater than the yield under the same conditions using SnCl₄:5H₂O and significantly greater than yields obtained using either HCl(aq) or tin oxide alone.

For comparison and to provide some evidence for the last steps in the proposed mechanism, the reaction of glucosamine was studied under similar conditions. 32.0 wt% LA was produced from 100 mg glucosamine hydrochloride using 0.26 mmol SnCl₄-5H₂O and 20 mL water heated to 200 °C for 30 min. This corresponds to a yield of 59.4%. Unfortunately, attempts to date to detect the ammonia or any reducing sugars in the aqueous phase after extraction of the products from the reaction mixtures have been unsuccessful. Therefore, it is not feasible to provide unequivocal evidence for all steps in the proposed mechanism.

In recent literature, glucose is known to yield 5-HMF¹⁷²¹ and the subsequent conversion of 5-HMF to give LA is also known.^{18,21} In such processes, glucose dehydrates to yield 5-HMF through loss of three water molecules - this process is also facilitated by the presence of a Lewis acid. Furthermore, in the presence of a high concentration of the Lewis acidic catalyst, as in the optimum conditions for generation of LA from chitosan, 5-HMF is rehydrated into LA and formic acid through addition of two water molecules. To test the last step in the mechanism, namely rehydration of 5-HMF into LA, 5-HMF (26.0 mg) was processed under the optimum conditions for LA production from chitosan (i.e 4 mL water, 0.24 mmol SnCl₄:5H₂O, T = 200 °C and t = 30 min). The weight percent yield of LA was 85.4 (or 92.7 mol%) thus providing evidence for this last step. In the absence of the Lewis acid, no LA was detected thus indicating the essential role of a metal centre in this last step.





It should be noted that two volatile compounds (furan and 2-methylfuran) were also identified via head-space analysis of the gas phase inside the sealed reaction vessel. These have previously been observed when sugars are roasted.⁵¹ These compounds have a lower degree of solubility in aqueous solution than LA and 5-HMF and therefore, they were not

found upon extraction of organics from the aqueous reaction mixture. Other hydrophilic or otherwise insoluble compounds would also be overlooked using the GC-MS method employed. MALDI-TOF mass spectra were obtained from aliquots of reaction mixtures in an attempt to observe intermediate depolymerization products and any compounds remaining in the aqueous phase, 2.5-dihydroxybenzoic acid (DHB) was used as the matrix, as it had been used previously in the study of chito-oligosaccharides.52 For aliquots taken 15 min into the reaction, for both diluted and concentrated reaction mixtures, some interesting peaks were observed in the mass spectra. For concentrated reaction samples (4 mL water), peaks were observed at m/z 1188 and 543. These could be assigned to the oligosaccharides (glucosamine)a-(NAG) and (glucosamine)a-NAG. respectively. These peaks were not present in spectra from aliquots taken after 30 min reaction time. This suggests that the oligosaccharides are true intermediates, as they are formed at an early stage in the reaction and then consumed. For dilute reaction samples (15 mL water), a peak was observed at m/z 501. This could be assigned to the trisaccharide, (glucosamine)3. This peak was also present in spectra of aliquots analyzed after 30 min reaction time. This indicates that incomplete degradation/hydrolysis of the biopolymer occurs under the dilute conditions studied.

2-2-6 Literature Comparison

This section compares this study with others in the literature. The criteria of the comparison are based on the % vield of LA and 5-HMF produced from chitin, chitosan, and their oligomers. Table 2-3 summarizes these results. In 2001, Tømmeraas et al. produced 1% vield of 5-HMF from (NAG)2-M in the presence of concentrated HNO2 but no LA was reported 28 To this date, no literature studies have been found reporting a % vield of LA or 5-HMF using chitosan or glucosamine as feedstocks. In 2009, Mascal et al. used chitin to produce 29% yield of LA but no 5-HMF was observed.1 This method used a lot of organic solvent (420 mL of 1.2-dichloroethane). 1.2-Dichloroethane is a toxic solvent and as such has a significant environmental impact.53 However, in this study, the medium used was water that is an environmentally benign solvent. Compared with the literature, this study (Chapter 2) reported the highest % yields of 5-HMF and LA from an aminocarbohydrate to date, which are ca 13% and 59% from chitosan and glucosamine, respectively. For chitin, Mascal et al. produced the largest amount of LA (29% vield) from this feedstock to date using a corrosive acid (HCI) and a large volume of 1.2dichloroethane (a toxic solvent). In this study (Chapter 2), chitin produced ca 23% yield of LA (which corresponds to a vield of 13 wt%) in a much greener method than that of Mascal et al.. However, it should be noted that these yields are significantly less than some of those produced using cellulose as a feedstock described in Chapter 1.

Carbohydrate	Reference	LA (mol% yield)	5-HMF (mol% yield)		
(NAG)2-M	28	No data reported	1		
Chitosan	No data available in the literature				
Chitosan	Chapter 2	35	13		
Glucosamine	No data available in the literature				
Glucosamine	Chapter 2	59	None detected		
Chitin	1	29	No data reported		
Chitin	Chapter 2	23	None detected		

Table 2-3. Comparison between this study and the literature for LA and 5-HMF productions from chitin, chitosan, glucosamine, and (NAG)₂-M.

2-3 Conclusions

This study demonstrates that chitosan can be used to produce LA and 5-HMF in water under microwave conditions. This work is a proof-of-principle that N-containing biopolymers can be degraded using green chemistry principles to give useful chemical building blocks in a similar way to ongoing research in the area of cellulosic feedstocks. The volume of water used and the loading of SnCl₄ 5H₂O can be varied to produce either LA or 5-HMF with good selectivity. Factorial design was successfully employed to optimize the reaction conditions for this process. Microwave irradiation proved to be a more effective heating method for the generation of these small molecules compared with conventional heating, as 5-HMF could not be generated effectively under the conditions studied using conventional heating. A mechanism for this process has been proposed based on the known chemistry of cellulose and glucose, and some studies using glucosamine. Furthermore, evidence for oligosaccharide intermediates has been obtained using MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. The last step in the mechanism under microwave irradiation was performed to convert 5-HMF to LA in good yields in water. The method developed for chitosan could be extended to the more robust parent carbohydrate chitin from which LA can also be obtained albeit in smaller quantities. The results of this study will open the possibility of chemical and thermochemical transformations of the nontoxic and cheap biopolymers, chitosan and chitin, to yield useful sustainable chemicals with possible industrial applications. Studies in GCCG are ongoing using chitosan, chitin, and amino-sugars as feedstocks in different solvents (e.g., ionic liquids (ILs) and employing a wide range of catalysts).

2-4 Experimental

2-4-1 Materials

Chitosan of low, medium, and high molecular weight (75-85% deacetylated), chitin (from crab shell), tin (IV) chloride pentahydrate 98% and 2,5-dihydroxybenzoic acid (DHB) 98% were purchased from Aldrich. Further samples of chitin and chitosan from crab and shrimp were provided gratis by ChitinWorks America LLC. All other catalysts tested were purchased in 98% purity or greater from Fisher Scientific, Alfa Aesar, Aldrich or Strem Chemicals. (+/-)-3-hydroxy-gamma-butyrolactone 96%, 5-hydroxymethylfurfural 98% and levulinic acid (98%) were purchased from Alfa Aesar. Ethyl acetate (HPLC
grade) 99.8% was purchased from EMD Chemicals Inc. Deionized water was obtained via a Nanopure II system (manufactured by Barnstead/Thermolyne, USA) using distilled water as a source for the inlet feed.

2-4-2 General Procedure for the Hydrolysis of Chitosan and Product Extraction

Chitosan (100 mg) was mixed with a specific volume of aqueous solution (or suspension in the case of Amberlyst-15TM) of known concentration. The mixture was heated to the desired temperature under microwave irradiation using a Biotage initiator 2.5 instrument for a specific period of time. Figure 2-11 shows power, temperature, and time graphs of the concentrated and diluted optimum reactions conditions.



Figure 2-11. Microwave reactions graphs (a) LA and (b) 5-HMF optimum conditions. Each set consists of three graphs temperature (°C), pressure (bar), and power (W), respectively against time (min) on x-axes.

After this time, an aliquot of the reaction mixture (Concentrated reactions for LA analysis, V = 250 μ L; Dilute reactions for 5-HMF analysis, V = 500 μ L) was mixed with 3-gamma-hydroxy-butyrolactone (internal standard) and extracted with 3 × 2 mL ethyl acetate. After each addition of ethyl acetate, the mixture was vortex-mixed at high speed for 30 seconds and then centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 2 min. The combined ethyl acetate layers were transferred to a quartz tube and evaporated to dryness at 45 °C using a Radleys Greenhouse Blowdown Evaporator under a stream of nitrogen. The contents of the dried tube were reconstituted in 1 mL ethyl acetate for GC-MS analysis.

2-4-3 Identification of LA and 5-HMF

After hydrolysis of chitosan, extraction with ethyl acetate and evaporation of the solvent, the dried residue was dissolved in CDCl₃. ¹H-NMR spectra obtained using a Bruker AVANCE 500MHz spectrometer showed the presence of LA (Figure 2-12) and 5-HMF (Figure 2-13). GC-MS was also used for characterization and quantification of the products. Samples were compared with authenticated samples and with the NIST database. Figure 2-14 shows the spectra of LA, internal standard and 5-HMF.

LA: ¹H-NMR δ_{H} (298 K, 500MHz; CDCl₃; Me₄Si) 2.20 (s, 3H), 2.63 (t, 2H, J 6.4 Hz) and 2.75 (t, 2H, J 6.4 Hz).

MS m/z 116 (10%), 101 (13), 99 (9), 73 (28), 57 (7), 56 (100), 55 (37).

5-HMF: 1H-NMR δ_{11} (298 K, 500 MHz; CDCl₃; Me₄Si) 4.73 (s, 2H), 6.53 (d, 1H, *J* 3.5 Hz), 7.23 (d, 1H, *J* 3.5 Hz) and 9.61 (s, 1H).

MS m/z 126 (61%), 109 (9), 97 (100), 81 (6), 69 (31), 53 (16).



Figure 2-12. ¹H NMR spectrum of LA in CDCl₃.



Figure 2-13. ¹H NMR spectrum of 5-HMF in CDCl₃.



Figure 2-14. Mass spectra (a) LA, (b) Internal standard and (c) 5-HMF.

2-4-4 Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS)

Determination of LA and 5-HMF

5-HMF and LA were analyzed using an Agilent Technologies 7890 GC with 5975 MSD. 1 µL of reconstituted sample was injected through a 7683B Series Injector using a split mode of 50%. The GC separation was done using a DB5 column at a flow rate of 1 mL/min He 99,999%. The oven temperature was programmed as follows: 50 °C (hold 1 min), 25 °C/min to 150 °C, 20 °C/min to 170 °C, and 80 °C/min to 250 °C for 3 min. (The total run time was 10 min), Products were detected at *m*² 50-250 scan range. Under these conditions, the retention times of LA, 3-hydroxy-gamma-butyrolactone, and 5-HMF were 4.63, 5.27, and 5.71 min, respectively. Figure 2-15 shows the chromatograms of LA and 5-HMF under the optimum conditions, R² of LA and 5-HMF calibration curves were 0.9978 and 0.9990, respectively. Figure 2-16 shows the calibration curves of LA and 5-HMF. Accuracy was greater than 91% and RSD was less than 3,3% for both products. The limit of detection (LOD) and limit of quantitation (LOQ) of LA were 8 and 26 ppm, respectively. The LOD and LOQ of 5-HMF were 2 and 8 pm, respectively.



Figure 2-15. GC chromatograms (a) LA, t_R = 4.63 min and (b) 5-HMF, t_R = 5.71 min.



Figure 2-16. Calibration curves (a) LA (b) 5-HMF.

2-4-5 Matrix Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization (MALDI) Mass Spectrometry

MALDI analysis was conducted using AB SCIEX 4800 MALDI TOF/TOF analyzer. 2,5dihydroxybenzoic acid (DHB) was used as a matrix. DHB solution was prepared in water (10 mg/mL). DHB solution was mixed with a reaction mixture in 1:1 volume ratio. Then, 1 µL of the mixed solutions was spotted on the MALDI plate. The spot was dried at room temperature. Then, the plate was loaded into the instrument for analysis.

2-5 References

1 M. Mascal and E. B. Nikitin, ChemSusChem, 2009, 2, 859-861.

2 G. A. F. Roberts, Chitin Chemistry, Macmillan Press Ltd., London, UK, 1992.

3 Y. Qin, X. Lu, N. Sun and R. D. Rogers, Green Chem., 2010, 12, 968-971.

4 M. F. A. Goosen, Applications of Chitin and Chitosan, Technomic Publishing Company, Pennsylvania, USA, 1997.

5 D. M. Alonso, J. Q. Bond and J. A. Dumesic, Green Chem., 2010, 12, 1493-1513.

6 J. J. Bozell and G. R. Petersen, Green Chem., 2010, 12, 539-554.

7 J. H. Clark and F. E. I. Deswarte, *Introduction to Chemicals from Biomass*, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, West Sussex, UK, 2008.

8 R. Palkovits, K. Tajvidi, J. Procelewska, R. Rinaldi and A. Ruppert, Green Chem., 2010, 12, 972-978.

9 M. Stocker, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 2008, 47, 9200-9211.

10 J. N. Chheda, G. W. Huber and J. A. Dumesic, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 2007, 46, 7164-7183.

11 S. Hu, Z. Zhang, Y. Zhou, B. Han, H. Fan, W. Li, J. Song and Y. Xie, *Green Chem.*, 2008, **10**, 1280-1283.

12 X. Qi, M. Watanabe, T. M. Aida and R. L. Smith Jr, ChemSusChem, 2009, 2, 944-946.

13 J. Y. G. Chan and Y. Zhang, ChemSusChem, 2009, 2, 731-734.

14 X. Qi, M. Watanabe, T. M. Aida and R. L. Smith Jr, Green Chem., 2009, 11, 1327-1331.

15 Y. Roman-Leshkov, J. N. Chheda and J. A. Dumesic, Science, 2006, 312, 1933-1937.

16 M. Chidambaram and A. T. Bell, Green Chem., 2010, 12, 1253-1262.

17 Hu, Z. Zhang, J. Song, Y. Zhou and B. Han, Green Chem., 2009, 11, 1746-1749.

18 A. Takagaki, M. Ohara, S. Nishimura and K. Ebitani, *Chem. Commun.*, 2009, 41, 6276-6278.

19 T. Staahlberg, M. G. Sorensen and A. Riisager, Green Chem., 2010, 12, 321-325.

20 G. Yong, Y. Zhang and J. Ying, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 2008, 47, 9345-9348.

21 H. Zhao, J. E. Holladay, H. Brown, and Z. C. Zhang, Science, 2007, 316, 1579-1600.

22 G. Ma, D. Yang, D. Su, X. Mu, J. F. Kennedy and J. Nie, *Polym. Adv. Technol.*, 2010, 21, 189-195.

23 B. Krajewska, Sep. Purif. Technol., 2005, 41, 305-312.

24 L. Ramirez-Coutino, M. d. C. Marin-Cervantes, S. Huerta, S. Revah and K. Shirai, *Process Biochem.*, 2006, 41, 1106-1110.

25 R. A. A. Muzzarelli and M. G. Peter, *Chitin Handbook*, European Chitin Society, Grottammare, Italy, 1997.

26 J. H. Yoon, Enzyme Microb. Technol., 2005, 37, 663-668.

27 K. Kurita, K. Tomita, S. Ishii, S. Nishimura and K. Shimoda, J. Polym. Sci., Part A: Polym. Chem., 1993, 31, 2393-2395.

28 K. Tommeraas, K. M. Varum, B. E. Christensen and O. Smidsrod, *Carbohydrate Research*, 2001, 333, 137–144.

29 T. Wu and S. Zivanovic, Abstracts of Papers, 234th ACS National Meeting, Boston, MA, United States, August 19-23, 2007, IEC-015.

30 J. Chen and C.-T. Ho, J. Agric. Food Chem., 1998, 46, 1971-1974

31 M. Jun, Y. Shao, C.-T. Ho, U. Koetter and S. Lech, J. Agric. Food Chem., 2003, 51, 6340-6346.

32 F. M. Kerton, Alternative Solvents for Green Chemistry, Royal Society of Chemistry Publishing, Cambridge, UK, 2009.

33 U. M. Lindstrom, Organic Reactions in Water: Principles, Strategies and Applications, Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, UK, 2007.

34 C. O. Kappe, D. Dallinger and S. S. Murphree, Practical Microwave Synthesis for Organic Chemistry: Strategies, Instruments, and Protocols, WILEY-VCH, Weinheim, Germany, 2009.

35 D. Dallinger and C. O. Kappe, Chem. Rev., 2007, 107, 2563-2591.

36 J. D. Moseley and C. O. Kappe, Green Chem., 2011, 13, 794-806.

37 M. Mascal and E. B. Nikitin, Green Chem., 2010, 12, 370-373.

38 F. Ilgen, D. Ott, D. Kralisch, C. Reil, A. Palmberger and B. Koenig, Green Chem., 2009, 11, 1948-1954.

39 J. N. Chheda, Y. Roman-Leshkov and J. A. Dumesic, Green Chem., 2007, 9, 342-350.

40 S. Kobayashi, S. Nagayama and T. Busujima, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1998, 120, 8287-8288.

41 V. V. Guzeev and A. N. D'yachenko, Glass Ceram., 2002, 59, 49-52.

42 R. D. Moen, T. W. Nolan and L. P. Provost, Quality Improvement Through Planned Experimentation. McGraw-Hill, New York, USA, 2nd ed., 1 999.

43 G. Epane, J. C. Laguerre, A. Wadouachi and D. Marek, *Green Chem.*, 2010, 12, 502– 506. 44 L. Veum, S. R. M. Pereira, J. C. van der Waal and U. Hanefeld, Eur. J. Org. Chem., 2006, 1664-1671.

45 F. Stazi, G. Palmisano, M. Turconi and M. Santagostino, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2005, 46, 1815-1818.

46 J. R. Ochoa-Gomez, O. Gomez-Jimenez-Aberasturi, B. Maestro-Madurga, A. Pesquen-Rodriguez, C. Ramirez-Lopez, L. Lorenzo-Ibarreta, J. Torrecilla-Soria and M. C. Villaran-Velasco, *Appl. Catal.*, *A*, 2009, 366, 315-324.

47 G. E. P. Box, J. S. Hunter and W. G. Hunter, *Statistics for Experimenters: Design, Innovation, and Discovery*, John Wiley & Sons, New Jersey, USA, 2005.

48 http://www.biotagepathfinder.com/util.jsp [Accessed on September 27th, 2012].

49 H.-M. Yu, S.-T. Chen, P. Suree, R. Nuansri and K. -T. Wang, J. Org. Chem., 1996, 61, 9608-9609.

50 Holleman-Wiberg Inorganic Chemistry, 34th Edition (101st Printing), Academic Press, San Diego, 2001, page 908.

51 A. Limacher, J. Kerler, T. Davidek, F. Schmalzried and I. Blank, J. Agric. Food Chem., 2008, 56, 3639–3647.

52 S. Trombotto, C. Ladavière, F. Delolme and A. Domard, *Biomacromolecules*, 2008, 9, 1731–1738.

53 P. Lenden, P. M. Ylioja, C. González-Rodríguez, D. A. Entwistle and Michael C. Willis, *Green Chem.*, 2011, 13, 1980-1982.

Chapter Three

A Simple One-Pot Dehydration Process to Convert N-acetyl-Dglucosamine into a Nitrogen-Containing Compound, 3acetamido-5-acetylfuran



A version of this chapter has been accepted for publication.

Khaled W. Omari, Linda Dodot and Francesca M. Kerton*, A Simple One-Pot Dehydration Process to Convert N-acetyl-D-glucosamine into a Nitrogen-Containing Compound, 3-acetamide-5-acetylfuran, ChemSin Chem, 2012, 5, 1767-1772.

Some modifications were made to the original paper for inclusion as a chapter in this thesis. For example, the supporting information was incorporated in this chapter and some figures have been added.

3-1 Introduction

Renewable, bio-sourced feedstocks are now being widely studied for the production of both fuels and chemical precursors (see sections 1-8 and 1-14).¹⁻³ These processes typically afford chemicals containing only C, H, and O. There is a growing interest in the production of renewable chemicals that contain other heteroatoms. For example, recently, caprolactam has been prepared in a four-step process from 5-hydroxymethylfurfural (5-HMF) and ammonia.⁴ Inspired by such research, the following question arose: could amino-sugars be used as precursors to new N-containing platform chemicals? When water was used as a medium (as in Chapter 2), the nitrogen atom was not present in the final products (LA and 5-HMF). To see if the nitrogen atom could be retained in the final product, other solvents were studied. The initial studies in this area are presented herein.

NAG, Figure 3-1a, is an amino sugar and also known as N-acetyl-2-amino-2-deoxy-Dglucose. Chitin is a polysaccharide made up of NAG monomers. It is available from crustaceans' shells such as crab, lobster, and shrimp (fisheries' waste). It is also found in the cell walls of fungi and insects.⁵ Chitin is produced on a large scale annually from a range of sources (ca. 100 billion tons),⁶ and is the third most abundant biopolymer after cellulose and hemicellulose. It is readily available, non-toxic, and environmentally benign. Also, it may be available as a feedstock in regions of the world that do not have easy access to waste cellulosic biomass feed. Partial hydrolysis of chitin in HCI followed by neutralization, filtration, decolourization, and salt removal affords 13.5 wt% NAG.⁷ Chitin hydrolysis using enzymes is another approach to produce NAG, e.g., cellulase has been used to produce 40 wt% NAG from chitin.⁸ Chitosan is the partially deacetylated form of chitin, which is also non-toxic and readily available. Hydrolysis of chitosan (22% deacetylated) using hemicellulase can produce 6.5 wt% of NAG.⁵ Two studies have been reported where NAG has been used as the starting material to yield low molecular weights organic products through decomposition pathways. Franich et al. produced 3acetamido-5-acetylfuran (3A5AF), Figure 3-1b, from NAG.



Figure 3-1. a) N-acetyl-D-glucosamine (NAG) and b) 3-acetamido-5-acetylfuran (3A5AF),

The pyrolysis of NAG was performed in a glass tube apparatus, which was heated in an oven at 400 °C. The yield of 3A5AF obtained through this process was 2%,⁹ which is currently the highest reported in the literature. In another study, NAG was mixed with anhydrous disodium hydrogen phosphate and quartz sand in a stainless steel vessel. The pyrolysis of this mixture was performed in an oil bath at 200 °C for 30 min. After workup, the major product was 3A5AF (0.04% yield),¹⁰ In this study, a novel method was developed to produce 3A5AF from NAG using microwave irradiation to heat up the reaction mixture. It was also found that there is no need to adjust the pH of the mixture prior to extracting the 3A5AF. The extraction procedure was performed using ethyl acetate, which is more environmentally friendly than chloroform, methanol, and dichloromethane that were used in previous studies.¹¹

The method reported herein produces ca. 30 times the yield compared with the Franch et al. procedure. This novel process will hopefully allow 3A5AF to become available as a starting material for more complex chemical products. For example, polyamides proximicins A, B, and C, Figure 3-2, are naturally occurring compounds which have been isolated from marine actinomycete of the genus *Verrucosispora*.¹² Recently, proximicins A-C were studied as antitumor and antibiotic drugs.¹³ Due to the similarity in structure between this furan product and sub-units in proximicins, it is though that NAG or other amino-sugars might be the biosynthetic precursors to such complex natural products.



Figure 3-2. Structures of proximicin A, B, and C.

3-2 Results and Discussion

In preliminary tests, chitin was investigated as a renewable feedstock. A reaction of 100 mg chitin and 2 mL DMF was performed without any added catalyst. The reaction was heated using microwave irradiation to 240 °C for 15 min. No product was generated from chitin under these conditions. After adding 0.24 mmol of 11.9M HCl to the previously mentioned mixture, 3A5AF was identified as a product. Quantification using GC-MS indicated that the yield of 3A5AF was 0.3%. A wide range of catalysts (0.24 mmol) were added in an attempt to get a better yield (Figure 3-3). The following base catalysts were not able to produce 3A5AF; NaOH and NH3, Perchlorates of Fe, Ni, Cu, Cr, and Zn were also not able to hydrolyse chitin and no 3A5AF was produced. Yb(CF1SO1)1-xH2O and Gd(CF3SO3)3'xH2O were able to produce 0.02 and 0.04% yield of 3A5AF, respectively. Weak acids (formic acid, acetic acid, trichloroacetic acid, and oxalic acid) were tested in this study and produced almost the same yield of 3A5AF (0,11%). Metal chloride compounds (InCl₃ and ZrCl₄) were not able to produce 3A5AF but SnCl₄·5H₂O produced 0.11% yield of 3A5AF. Sulfonic acid based compounds hydrolysed chitin to a somewhat larger, but still marginal extent and produced 3A5AF in a higher yield compared with previous discussed chemicals. For example, methane sulfonic acid, chlorosulfonic acid and aniline-2-sulfonic acid produced 0.15, 0.19, and 0.22% yields of 3A5AF, respectively. It could be concluded that the more acidic the added compound, the more hydrolysis of chitin occurred and greater yields of 3A5AF could be detected. Therefore, more mineral acids were tested. Interestingly, 14.6M H₃PO₄ produced higher yields of 3A5AF than 11.9M HCl, which were 0.46 and 0.28% vield, respectively. The effect of dilution of mineral acids on the % yield of 3A5AF was investigated. 7.3M H₂PO₄ and 5.9M HCl produced 0.54 and 0.33% yields of 3A5AF, respectively. It was also noted that less acidic phosphate compounds produced less 3A5AF. For example, NaH₂PO₄-2H₂O produced 0.23% yield of 3A5AF, which is less than that produced using 7.3M H₃PO₄ (0.54% yield).



Figure 3-3. Comparison of % yields of 3A5AF produced from chitin for a range of catalysts. Reaction conditions: 100 mg chitin, 2 mL DMF, 0.24 mmol catalyst, MW, 240 °C, 15 min.

Because the hydrolysis process of chitin appeared to be only occurring to only a small extent, NAG was tested to check if the % yield of 3A5AF could be increased. This was because NAG is the monomer of chitin and therefore, the initial hydrolysis step to break down the biopolymer would not be needed. The first attempt using NAG instead of chitin in the presence of 0.24 mmol of 7.3M H₂PO₄ and 2 mL DMA, MW at 240 over 15 min produced 10.3% yield of 3A5AF, but surprisingly, 15.7% yield of 3A5AF was produced in the absence of H₂PO₄. Therefore, further reactions of NAG were performed in the absence of additive.

3-2-1 Solvent Screening

At the beginning of this study, DMF was used as a solvent in this process. The reaction mixture (50 mg NAG and 2 mL DMF) was microwave heated at 207 °C for 15 min. This temperature was selected based on the maximum safe working temperature for microwave-heating of acetonitrile in the Biotage initiator 2.5 instrument. Acetonitrile was one of the screened solvents. The % yield of 3A5AF that was produced from this reaction using DMF was the best among the solvents studied, Figure 3-4. Different solvents were examined hoping to replace DMF with a greener solvent and produce more 3A5AF. The selected solvents have different "greenness", some of them have few and some have major environmental, health, and safety issues associated with them.¹⁴ TBME, CPME, DEA, and EG did not yield any 3A5AF. Figure 3-4 shows that in ester solvents (TBOAe, IPOAe, and EG did not yield any 3A5AF. Figure 3-4 shows that in ester solvents (TBOAe, IPOAe, and EGAe) small amounts of 3A5AF were produced (average 1.7%) but in the related solvent EL 6.3% was obtained. Interestingly, 3A5AF did not form in EG, but 8.1% yield 3A5AF was produced in PEG. However, overall with respect to product yield, dipolar aprotic solvents (DMF, NMP, CH₂CN, and DMSO) performed the best with 24.6% yield of 3A5AF produced in DMF. Clearly, to produce a significant quantity of 3A5AF under the conditions studies, a dipolar aprotic solvent is required. DMA is less dangerous than DMF, in terms of physical properties including boiling point, flashpoint, and acute toxicity. Therefore, DMA was used and a yield of 31.3% was obtained. This yield was ca. 15 times greater than the amount produced via pyrolysis reported in the literature. Unfortunately, no correlation between solvent polarities (and other solvent parameters) and the yields obtained in this solvent-screening study were found. However, it should be noted that no catalyst or other additive was used in these initial experiments.



Figure 3-4. Production of 3A5AF in a range of solvents [n-butanol (BuOH), t-butyl acetate (TBOAc), isopropyl acetate (IPOAc), dimethyl carbonate (DMC), ethyl lactate (EL), ethyl acetate (EtOAc), t-butyl methyl ether (TBME), 2-methyltetrahydrofuran (2-McTHF), cyclopentyl methyl ether (CPME), dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), n-metyl pyrrolidone (NMP), acetonitrile (CH₃CN), diethanol amine (DEA), ethylene glycol (EG), and polyethylene glycol (PEG, Mn 300)]. Note: if the solvent does not appear in the graph, 0% yield was obtained. Reaction conditions: 50 mg NAG, 2 mL Solvent, MW, 207 °C, 15 min, 3A5AF was quantified using GC-MS.

3-2-2 Catalyst/Additive Screening

After determining that DMA will be the best solvent to use, addition of a catalyst or other additive was studied to obtain better results. Table 3-1. The reaction mixtures consisted of 10 wt% NAG of the total reaction mass and 6 mol% catalyst. In the case of reactions in the presence of LiBr, it was added at 10 wt% of the total mass. LiBr was added because bromide is a good nucleophile that has been shown to interact with glucose and fructose in DMA to increase the productivity of 5-HMF.¹⁵

Table 3-1 shows that in presence of LiBr, the % yield of 3A5AF is reduced. This is in direct contrast to the results using glucose and fructose.¹⁵ CrCl₃ has been shown to facilitate the isomerization of glucose into fructose to produce a high yield of 5-HMF.¹⁶ CrCl₃ has also been used in the conversion of cellulose into levulinic acid.¹⁷ Therefore, it was tested in this study but it failed to significantly increase the yield (entries 3 and 4). The best catalysts were basic ones (entries 6-H). Despite NH₃ not giving the best results in the screening, it was selected to study via factorial design for optimizing the method because it is cheap and relatively benign. Table 3-1. Catalyst screening and effect of additives on 3A5AF production. Reaction conditions: 4.5 mL DMA in the absence of LiBr and 4 mL in the presence of LiBr, 10 wt% NAG, 6 mol% catalyst (if used), 10 wt% LiBr (if used), 207 °C, MW, 15 min.

#	Catalyst	Additive	3A5AF (% yield) ^a
1	none	LiBr	11.2
2	none		18.3
3	$CrCl_3$	LiBr	15.2
4	$CrCl_3$		20.8
5	HCl(aq)		20.6
6	NH ₃ (aq)	LiBr	14.5
7	NH ₃ (aq)		21.6
8	NaOH		19.8
9	(CH ₃ CH ₂) ₃ N		24.8
10	DBU^{b}		24.7
11	DABCO ^e		21.1

^aDetermined using GC-MS.

^bDBU = 1,8-Diazabicycloundec-7-ene.

^cDABCO = 1,4-diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane.

3-2-3 2⁵ Factorial Design (FD)

Although studying one factor at a time to optimize reaction conditions is a common approach, it has some limitations such as neglecting the interaction between factors. Using FD, a researcher can study not only one factor at a time but also the effects of factors interactions on the result.¹⁹ Therefore, the effects of five factors with each factor at two levels were studied. These factors were NAG, DMA, and amount of ammonia, temperature, and time. The factors and levels are shown in Table 3-2.

т (°С)	Time (min)	0.26 mmol NH ₃				0.13 mmol NH ₃			
		0.4711	g NAG	0.2356	g NAG	0.4711	g NAG	0.2356	g NAG
		DMA (mL)							
		4.5	2.5	4.5	2.5	4.5	2.5	4.5	2.5
		3A5AF (% Yield) ^a							
	15	27.5,	20.0,	42.5,	24.2,	20.6,	14.8,	19.2,	21.7,
217		27.5	20.5	42.6	24.1	20.3	15.2	20.0	21.8
217	5	25.9,	22.1,	29.8,	23.1,	20.6,	14.3,	21.7,	22.4,
		25.8	23.5	29.7	23.5	20.3	15.1	21.1	23.0
180	15	18.3,	17.1,	24.4,	22.3,	15.6,	15.6,	18.1,	9.0,
		19.6	16.0	25.0	21.4	16.5	15.5	18.0	9.3
	5	15.2,	14.2,	18.1,	19.0,	12.4,	11.5,	14.1,	4.3,
		13.8	13.7	18.5	19.4	12.1	12.8	14.5	4.5

Table 3-2. 25 FD of 3A5AF production.

^a3A5AF was quantified using GC-MS.

The maximum % yield of 3A5AF obtained was 42.6%. This yield was achieved using 0.2356 g NAG, 4.5 mL DMA, 0.26 mmol NH₃, 217 °C, and 15 min. The results in this table were analyzed using Minitab software. The normal plot of the effects (Figure 3-5) shows that all effects are significant. In fact, in this case the individual effects (i.e., each factor alone) are more significant than combined effects/factors.



Figure 3-5. Normal plot of the effects for 3A5AF production. This plot was produced using Minitab software. Reaction conditions (See Table 3-2).

The most significant effects at different levels were tested, e.g., increased 7, Figure 3-6, but none of these improved on the amount of 3A5AF produced (42.6%) during the FD experiments.



Figure 3-6. Effect of changing a reaction parameter from the following optimum reaction conditions: 0.2356 g NAG, 4.5 ml. DMA, 0.26 mmol NH₃, and microwave irradiation for 15 min at 217 °C. Under optimum conditions. Table 3-2, 42.6% yield of 3A5AF was obtained. 3A5AF was quantified using GC-MS.

3-2-4 Testing Different NAG Sources

The results described above were obtained using NAG purchased from Toronto Research Chemicals (TRC). When NAG from AK Scientific or Alfa Aesar was tested, the yields of 14.7% and 6.2%, respectively were obtained. A challenge was posed in the form of this question; why did changing the supplier/source of NAG cause such a dramatic decrease in the yield? After studying the impurity levels in the NAG from each supplier using ICP-MS, boron (B) and chloride (Cl) concentrations stood out as being significantly higher in the NAG from TRC, Table 3-3.

Table	3-3. IC	P-MS ana	yses for	B and Cl	in NAG :	from th	aree suppliers.
-------	---------	----------	----------	----------	----------	---------	-----------------

Chemical Supplier	$\mathbf{B}^{\mathbf{a}}$	Cl ^a	
TRC	27.9	20681	
AK Scientific	4.4	819	
Alfa Aesar	0.3	391	

CT ions have been shown to have a significant and positive effect on biomass conversions processes^{13,12,01}. Therefore, different amounts of NaCl were added to reaction mixtures to test the effect of CT concentration on 3A5AF production using NAG from AK Scientific and Alfa Aesar. Figure 3-7 shows that NaCl at 30-50 mol% with respect to NAG produced the highest % yield of 3A5AF.



Figure 3-7. Effect of adding NaCl on yield of 3A5AF from NAG supplied by AK Scientific and Alfa Aesar. Solid circles = Alfa Aesar, Hollow circles = AK Scientific. Reaction conditions: 0.2356 g NAG, 0-50 NaCl (mol% of NAG), 4.5 mL DMA, ammonia (24.4 mol% of NAG). MW, 217 °C. 15 min.

NAG from Alfa Aesar consistently produced less 3A5AF compared with AK Scientific because it contains less boron (see Table 3-3). Therefore, boron was added to the reaction mixture in the form of borie acid (B(OH)), B(OH)) is a weak acid, non-toxic, inexpensive, and readily available. Borie acid with NaCl has been used previously to increase 5-HMF production from hexoses.^{19,20} Yields of up to 42% from glucose and as much as 66% from sucrose have been reported.

Figure 3-8 shows the effect of adding B(OH)₃ at a 2:1 B(OH)₂:NAG mol ratio on 3A5AF production in the presence and absence of NACI (30 mol% with respect to NAG), and the presence and absence of ammonia (24.4 mol% of NAG). In all example reactions, Figure 3-8, the NAG from AK scientific produced more 3A5AF because of its initially higher B and CI content, Table 3-3, Figure 3-8 emphasizes the significance of adding CT to the reaction mixture.



Figure 3-8. Effect of added B(OH)₃, NaCl, and NH₃ on 3A5AF production. Black = NAG from Alfa Aesar, Grey = NAG from AK Scientific. Reaction conditions: 0.2356 g NAG, 4.5 mL DMA in the presence and absence of NaCl (30 mol% with respect to NAG), NH₃ (24.4 mol% with respect to NAG), 2:1 B(OH)₃:NAG mol ratio, MW, 217 °C, 15 min. Yield determined using GC-MS.

The importance of B(OH), and NaCl in dehydrating NAG led us to study 3² FD to determine the optimum amounts that should be added. Table 3-4 shows 3² FD using NaCl at three levels 10, 30, and 60 mol% with respect to NAG and B(OH)₃ at 0.5:1, 1:1, and 2:1 mole ratios with respect to NAG. The other parameters for the reactions were kept constant at 0.2356 g NAG, 4.5 mL DMA, 220 °C, and 15 min.

mol:mol	NaCl (mol% of NAG)						
B(OH)3:NAG	10	30	60				
	3A5AF (% Yield) ^b						
0.5:1	27.3, 28.4	29.2, 29.5	32.3, 32.3				
1:1	31.0, 31.4	36.2, 35.4	39.4, 40.1				
2:1	30.1, 29.6	32.8, 35.5	38.5, 37.4				
^a Reaction condition B(OH) ₃ :NAG mo MW, 220 °C, 15 m	ns: 0.2356 g NAG, I ratio NaCl and B nin. ^b 3A5AF was qu	4.5 mL DMA, NaCl (OH) ₃ amounts are a nantified using GC-MS	(mol% of NAG), 1:1 s in the table below,				

Table 3-4. 32 FD using 2 factors (NaCl and B(OH)3) at three levels.^a

The results were analyzed using Minitab software. The interaction plot for 3A5AF (Figure 3-9) shows that at each level of B(OH)₂, the amount of 3A5AF produced increased with increasing NaCl concentration. The interaction plot also clearly shows that a 1:1 mole ratio of B(OH)₂:NAG produced the highest yield of 3A5AF.



Figure 3-9. The interaction plot of 3A5AF. This plot was generated using Minitab software.

Figure 3-10 shows the % yields of 3A5AF at different NaCl levels using a fixed amount of 1:1 B(OH)::NAG (mol ratio). 57.7% yield 3A5AF was produced at 2:1 in 15 min while the maximum % yield was 62.3 at 4:1 NaCl:NAG mol ratio. This compares well with studies using fructose and glucose, which produce 5-HMF. Using NaCl and B(OH),, fructose has been shown to produce 60% yield 5-HMF and glucose produced 14% yield 5-HMF.²⁰



Figure 3-10. Effect of adding different levels of NaCl at 1:1 B(OH)₃:NAG (mol ratio). Reaction conditions: 0.2356 g NAG, 4.5 mL DMA, 10-400 NaCl (mol% of NAG), 1:1 B(OH)₃:NAG mol ratio, MW, 220 °C, 15 min. 3A5AF was quantified using GC-MS.

Different CT sources were tested (SnCl₄:5H₂O, MnCl₂:4H₂O, MgCl₂:6H₂O, KCl, CaCl₂:2H₂O, CaCl₂, NaCl, and LiCl) Figure 3-11. NaCl is the most benign and the cheapest chemical among them. Compared with NaCl (57.7% yield), every chemical produced less 3A5AF except LiCl, which produced 59.2% yield. DMA-LiCl (10%) as a solvent in the presence of CuCl and 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride ([EMIm]Cl)
has been shown to produce 83% yield 5-HMF from fructose.¹⁵ CaCl₂ produced 54.5% yield 3A5AF and CaCl₂:2H₂O 50.7% yield, which shows that unfortunately water inhibits the production of 3A5AF in this system.



Figure 3-11. Effect of chloride sources on 3A5AF production. Reaction conditions: 0.2356 g NAG, 4.5 mL DMA, 2:1 Cl:NAG mol ratio, 1:1 B(OH)):NAG mol ratio, MW, 220 °C, 15 min. 3A5AF was quantified using GC-MS.

To further study the effect of adding water to the reaction, several amounts of water were added (1, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 15, and 20 wv/v in 4.5 mL DMA). Figure 3-12 shows that the %

yield of 3A5AF produced decreases as the amount of added water increases, proving water inhibits this process. If dry, distilled DMA was used, no significant increase in 3A5AF yield was observed.



Figure 3-12. Effect of water addition to the system on 3A5AF productivity. Reaction conditions: 0.2356 g NAG, 4.5 mL DMA (0-20 %v/v H₂O), 2:1 NaCl:NAG mol ratio, 1:1 B(OH)::NAG mol ratio, MW, 220 °C, 15 min. 3A5AF was quantified using GC-MS.

The effect of time on the reaction was studied at 0, 5, 10, 15, 30, 45, 60, 75, 90 min. Figure 3-13 shows an approximately linear increase in 3A5AF production between 0 and 15 min but the amount of 3A5AF does not change significantly between 15 and 45 min. However, the % yield starts to decrease after 45 min, which is probably due to thermal decomposition of 3A5AF.



Figure 3-13. Effect of time on 3A5AF production. Reaction conditions: 0.2356 g NAG, 4.5 mL DMA, 2:1 NaCl:NAG mol ratio, 1:1 B(OH)₃:NAG mol ratio, MW, 220 °C, 0-90 min. 3A5AF was quantified using GC-MS.

Our system was also tested at different temperatures 160, 180, 200, 220, 240, and 250 °C for 15 min, Figure 3-14. The amount of 3A5AF increased linearly between 160 and 220 °C. Above 220 °C, 3A5AF % yield decreased presumably due to product decomposition.



Figure 3-14. Effect of temperature on 3A5AF production. Reaction conditions: 0.2356 g NAG, 4.5 mL DMA, 2:1 NaCl:NAG mol ratio, 1:1 B(OH)3:NAG mol ratio, MW, 160-250 °C, 15 min. Yield was determined using GC-MS.

However, decomposition products were not observed in the chromatograms from these reactions and are likely insoluble in ethyl acetate (Figure 3-15).



Figure 3-15. GC chromatograms at a) 250 °C and b) 220 °C.

Figure 3-16 shows the optimum reaction conditions that produced 57.7% yield 3A5AF from NAG. This process produces 30 times more 3A5AF than previously reported pyrolysis methods.



Figure 3-16. The optimum reaction conditions for dehydrating NAG to form 3A5AF.

Preliminary studies towards scaling up the reaction were performed in a 300 mL autoclave (Parr[®] reactor 5500 series). The following conditions were used: 5.00 g NAG, 2.67 g NaCl, 1.40 g B(OH)₃, 100 mL DMA, 220 °C, 15 min. It should be noted that it took 30 min to achieve the desired reaction temperature and that the pressure at 220 °C was approximately 6 bar. Under these reaction conditions, 42.8% yield of 3A5AF was obtained. Further studies are needed to optimize scale-up of this reaction.

Chitin and chitosan were tested using the optimum conditions as in Figure 3-16. No 3A5AF was produced from either of these polysaccharides. Therefore, it can be concluded that these biopolymers need relatively harsh reaction condition to produce chemicals at interest via hydrolysis.

3-2-5 Literature Comparison

In 1984, Franich et al, developed a pyrolysis method using an oven at 400 °C to produce a 2% yield of 3A5AF. The NAG solution (4:1 water:methanol) was prepared in a glass apparatus, which was placed in the middle of a platinum coil in the oven. The formed tar was eluted over a silica gel column using chloroform and methanol mixtures.9 Another study was performed by Ho et al. who carried out the pyrolysis of NAG mixed with anhydrous disodium hydrogen phosphate and quartz sand in an oil bath at 200 °C over 30 min.10 The extraction process was accomplished using many steps including 150 mL of 0.1M HCI, 1M NaOH to increase the solution pH to 11.0, and 90 mL dichloromethane. Then the organic solvent was dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate (0.04% vield of 3A5AF was generated). Based on this study (Chapter 3), a 57.7% yield of 3A5AF was recorded which is ca. 30 times more than Franich et al.. In Chapter 4 of this thesis, a method for producing 60.0% yield of 3A5AF in an IL is described. In these last two studies, the reaction mixtures were heated using microwave irradiation and NaCl and B(OH): were used as additives. To compare the results shown here with the cellulose and other renewable feedstocks including glucose and fructose that were used to produce 5-HMF, see Table 1-4.

Table 3-5. Comparison between this study and the literature for 3A5AF production using

NAG.

Reference number	Reaction condition	3A5AF (% yield)	
9	Oven pyrolysis (400 °C), heating rate 75 °C.ms ⁻¹ for 20 s	2	
10	Oil bath pyrolysis (200 °C over 30 min), in presence of Na ₂ HPO ₄ and quartz sand	0.04	
Chapter 3	MW (220 °C, 15 min), in presence of NaCl, B(OH) ₃ and DMA	57.7	
Chapter 4	MW (180 °C, 3 min) or conventional heating (180 °C, 1 h), in presence of $B(OH)_3$ and $[BMIm]Cl$	60.0	

3-3 Conclusions

The optimised reaction produced the highest % yield of 3A5AF to date and comparable to results obtained in an IL reaction medium (Chapter 4). The productivity of 3A5AF is approximately thirty times more than the Franich et al. pyrolysis method. The run time needed was reasonably low (15 min). NaCl and B(OH)₃ were very important additives in this reaction and markedly increase 3A5AF production. Indeed, the importance of B and Cl in the reaction was discovered by analysis of starting materials for impurities that seemed to be affecting the reaction. This study will hopefully allow the chemistry of 3A5AF, a carbohydrate-derived amide, to be studied further and it may find use either as a platform chemical, a source of renewable amines, or as a high-value precursor to proximicins and other biologically active compounds.

3-4 Experimental

3-4-1 Materials

NAG was purchased from Toronto Research Chemicals (TRC). AK Scientific and Alfa Aesar. 3A5AF was prepared in GCCG labs and purified using flash chromatography (Biotage, Isolera One) and used as an analytical standard. All other catalysts and additives tested were purchased in 98% purity or greater from Fisher Scientific, Alfa Aesar, Aldrich or Strem Chemicals. Benzamide (minimum 98%) was purchased from Alfa Aesar and used as an internal standard in GC-MS experiments. Ethyl acetate (HPLC grade, 99.8%) was purchased from EMD Chemicals Inc. DMA was purchased from Caledon Laboratory Chemicals. All other solvents were purchased from Alfa/th and Fluka. Deionized water was obtained using a Nanopure II system (manufactured by Barnstead/Thermolyne, USA) with distilled water as the source for the inter feed.

3-4-2 General Procedure for 3A5AF Production from NAG

NAG (50-500 mg) was mixed with a specific volume of solvent, a known amount of catalyst and/or additive. The mixture was heated to the desired temperature under microwave irradiation using a Biotage Initiator 2.5 for a specific period of time. Figure 3-17 shows the temperature, pressure, and power graphs of the optimum reaction using microwave heating instrument. After this time, an aliquot of the reaction mixture was mixed with 100 μ L of 2 mg benzamide/mL ethyl acetate and 2 mL deionized water. In the case of dipolar aprotic solvents except acetonitrile, the aliquot was diluted with a pure solvent up to 2 mL. Extraction was performed with 3 × 2 mL ethyl acetate. After each addition of ethyl acetate, the mixture was vortex-mixed at high speed for 30 seconds and then centrifuged at 2500 rpm for 2 min. The combined ethyl acetate layers were transferred to a vial and evaporated to dryness at 50 °C using a Radleys Greenhouse Blowdown Evaporator under a stream of nitrogen. The contents of the dried tube were reconstituted in 500 uL ethyl acetate for GC-MS analysis.



Figure 3-17. Temperature, pressure, and power graphs obtained using the optimum reaction conditions from the microwave instrument (Biotage Initiator 2.5). Reaction conditions: 0.2356 g NAG, 4.5 mL DMA, 2:1 NaCI:NAG mol ratio, 1:1 B(OH)₃:NAG mol ratio, MW, 220 °C, 15 min,

3-4-3 3A5AF Identification

After the reaction and extraction were carried out using ethyl acetate, the solvent was evaporated at 50 °C using Radleys Greenhouse Blowdown Evaporator under a stream of nitrogen until ca 500 µL was remained. 3A5AF was purified using flash chromatography (FC) Biotage Isolera One. FC was run on SiO₂ column (SNAP cartridge, silica, 10 g) using variable 200-400 nm wavelength detector at 254 and 293 nm. The sample was previously analyzed on SiO₂ thin layer chromatography (TLC) plates using a 50% ethyl acetate/hexanes mixture and the obtained retention factor (R₄) was used to build up a method of separation using the FC instrument. The R_r was 0.13. Samples of the product were combined. After evaporating the solvent using the evaporator at 50 °C until dryness, the dried residue was placed under vacuum using a standard Schlenk line overnight. Then the residue was dissolved in CD₂CN.¹H-NMR (Figure 3-18) and ¹³C-NMR (Figure 3-19) spectra were obtained using Bruker AVANCE 500MHz and Bruker AVANCE III 300MHz spectrometers, respectively. IR was conducted using Bruker ALPHA FTIR instrument with ALPHA-T sample compartment. High-resolution mass spectrometery (HRMS) was performed using Waters GCT Premier TOF mass spectrometer (electron ionization (El)). GC-MS was also used for identification and quantification of 3A5AF (Agilent Technologies 7890 GC with 5975 MSD), see below for more details on GC-MS method.



¹H-NMR δ_H (298 K, 500MHz; CD₃CN) 2.04 (3H, s, C(7)Me), 2.39 (3H, s, C(8)Me), 7.12 (1H, s, C(3)H), 8.13 (1H, s, C(5)H) and 8.45 (1H, br s, NH).

 $^{13}\text{C-NMR}$ δ_C (298 K, 300 MHz; CD_3CN) 23.3 (C-1), 26.3 (C-2), 111.4 (C-3), 128.1 (C-

4), 136.5 (C-5), 151.5 (C-6), 169.1 (C-7) and 187.4 (C-8).

Selected IR vmax/cm⁻¹ 1668 br, s (C=O stretch in amide I band and C=O stretch in ketone).

HRMS, calculated exact mass for 3A5AF ($C_8H_9NO_3)$ = 167.0582, found = 167.0584, accuracy = 1.2 ppm.

MS m/z 167 (53%), 125 (91), 110 (100), 96 (15), 83 (17), 69 (6), 54 (11).



Figure 3-18. ¹H-NMR spectrum of 3A5AF in CD₃CN.



Figure 3-19. 13C-NMR spectrum of 3A5AF in CD3CN.

3-4-4 Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS)

Determination of 3A5AF

3A5AF was analyzed using an Agilent Technologies 7890 GC with 5975 MSD. 1 µL. of reconstituted sample was injected through a 7683B Series Injector using a split mode of 50%. The GC separation was done using a DB5 column at a flow rate of 1 mL/min He 99,999%. The oven temperature was programmed as follows: 50 °C (hold 1 min). 65 °C/min to 215 °C, 2.5 °C/min to 225 °C, and 20 °C/min to 250 °C for 1.212 min. (The total run time was 10 min). Products were detected at *m*² 50-175 scan range. Under these conditions, the retention times of 3A5AF and benzamide were 5.42 and 4.49 min, respectively. Figure 3-20 shows the mass spectra of the internal standard (benzamide) and 3A5AF, respectively. R² of 3A5AF calibration curve was 0.9991, Figure 3-21. Accuracy was greater than 92% and RSD was less than 5.0%.



Figure 3-20. Mass spectra of a) Internal Standard (benzamide) and b) 3A5AF.

166



Figure 3-21. 3A5AF Calibration curve using benzamide as an internal standard.

3-4-5 Inductively Coupled Plasma-Mass Spectrometry (ICP-MS)

50 mg of each sample was dissolved in 1 mL of 8M Nitric acid. The solutions were then diluted to 30 g with nanopure water. 5 g of each sample solution was diluted to 10 g with 0.2M Nitric acid. The samples were analyzed using a ELAN DRC II ICP-MS instrument.

3-5 References

1 J. J. Bozell and G. R. Petersen, Green Chem., 2010, 12, 539-554

2 P. N. R. Vennestrom, C. M. Osmundsen, C. H. Christensen, and E. Taarning, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 10502-10509

3 Eds.: J. H. Clark, F. E. I. Deswarte, *Introduction to chemicals from biomass*, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, 2008

4 T. Buntara, S. Noel, P. H. Phua, I. Melián-Cabrera, J. G. de Vries and H. J. Heeres, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 7083-7087

5 R. A. A. Muzzarelli and M. G. Peter, *Chitin Handbook*, European Chitin Society, Grottammare, Italy, 1997.

6 Y. Xu, C. Gallert and J. Winter, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 2008, 79, 687-697.

7 S. Sato and K. Minamikawa (Nankai Kagaku Kogyo K. K., Japan). Process for the preparation of natural N-acetylelucosamine. JP 2009191001, August 27, 2009.

8 H. Zhu, E. Muraki and S. Aiba. Book of Abstracts, 219th ACS National Meeting, San Francisco, CA, March 26-30, 2000, 69CLAC.

9 R. A. Franich and S. J. Goodin, J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis, 1984, 7, 91-100.

10 J. Chen, M. Wang and C. Ho, J. Agric. Food Chem. 1998, 46, 3207-3209.

11 F. M. Kerton, Alternative Solvents for Green Chemistry, RSC Publishing, Cambridge, 2009

12 F. E. Wolter, K. Schneider, B. P. Davies, E. R. Socher, G. Nicholson, O. Seitz and R.

D. Sussmuth, Org. Lett., 2009, 11, 2804-2807.

13 K. Schneider, S. Keller, F. E. Wolter, L. Roglin, W. Beil, O.Seitz, G. Nicholson, C. Bruntner, J. Riedlinger, H. Fiedler and R. D. Sussmuth, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.*, 2008, 47, 3258-3261.

14 R. K. Henderson, C. Jimenez-Gonzalez, D. J. C. Constable, S. R. Alston, G. G. A. Inglis, G. Fisher, J. Sherwood, S. P. Binks and A. D. Curzons, *Green Chem.*, 2011, 13, 854-862.

15 J. B. Binder and R. T. Raines, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2009, 131, 1979-1985.

16 H. Zhao, J. E. Holladay, H. Brown and Z. C. Zhang, Science, 2007, 316, 1597-1600

17 J. Potvin, E. Sorlien, J. Hegner, B. DeBoef and B. L. Lucht, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2011, 52, 5891-5893.

18 D.C. Montgomery, Design and analysis of experiments, John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, NJ, 2009.

19 T. Ståhlberg, S. Rodriguez-Rodriguez, P. Fristrup and A. Riisager. Chem. Eur. J., 2011, 17, 1456-1464.

20 T.S. Hansen, J. Mielby and A. Riisager. Green Chem., 2011, 13, 109-114.

Chapter Four

Formation of a Renewable Amide, 3-acetamido-5-acetylfuran, via Direct Conversion of *N*-acetyl-D-glucosamine



A version of this chapter has been published.

Marcus W. Drover, Khaled W. Omari, Jennifer N. Murphy and Francesca M. Kerton*, Formation of a Renewable Amide, 3-acetamido-5-acetylfuran, via Direct Conversion of *N*-acetyl-D-glucosamine, *RSC Adv.*, 2012, **2**, 4642-4644. Some modifications were made to the original paper for inclusion as a chapter in this thesis. For example, the supporting information was incorporated in this chapter and some figures have been added. Also, it should be noted that there are similarities between the

introduction to this chapter and the introduction to Chapter 3.

4-1 Introduction

The transformation of biomass into useful chemicals has become an important area of research, as a way to reduce global dependence on fossil fuel resources (see section 1-1).1 Conversion of carbohydrates and their derivatives into useful materials is one such area (e.g., production of 5-hydroxymethylfurfural (5-HMF) from glucose and fructose) (see section 1-14-1-1). Of course, as carbohydrates typically contain C, H, and O only, products from these processes are typically small molecule oxygenated species. Therefore, attempts described herein were made to transform amino-sugars in order to produce N-containing molecules, NAG is the monomer unit of the polysaccharide chitin from which it can be obtained. Chitin is naturally abundant and can be found in the shells of crustaceans (e.g., waste from the fishing industry, and exoskeletons of insects) (see section 1-2). The recently formed American Chemical Society Green Chemistry Institute Formulator's Roundtable has highlighted greener small amines, including those sources from renewable feedstocks, as highly desirable for the consumer products industries.² Ionic liquids (ILs) have been used quite widely in the dehydration of carbohydrates.3 ILs can be considered 'green' solvents under certain conditions, as they are normally nonvolatile, non-flammable, and potentially re-usable reaction media (see section 1-11-3).4 They can also act as catalysts in reactions. Several are known to dissolve cellulose and other sugars, which makes them ideal reaction media for studying the reactivity of hexoses. Previously, 3A5AF has been obtained as one of the major products from the thermal degradation of NAG, albeit in only 2% vield (see section 1-14-3).5.6 The work reported herein represents a feasible ionic liquid/solution phase method for the direct

conversion of NAG to 3A5AF, Figure 4-1. From this foundation, the chemistry and transformations of 3A5AF can be studied and potentially lead to new renewable amines in the future. Recent research by others on the formation of "renewable" amines has employed ammonia as the source of nitrogen.7 The work presented here represents a source of biologically-fixed nitrogen in the product and this is the first report of its kind. In Chapter 2, the reaction conditions and the solvent medium deaminated the glucosamine. As a result, neither of the products (LA or 5-HMF) is a N-containing compound (see section 2-2-5). Retaining nitrogen in the production process is therefore a challenge. In Chapter 3, a process in which the nitrogen atom was retained in the final product (3A5AF) was described. The reaction medium used was DMA and this is a toxic solvent with some carcinogenicity issues. In the current chapter, ILs were used as the reaction media and 3A5AF was successfully produced. ILs are good alternatives to organic solvents because they have low vapour pressures and are non-flammable. In terms of price. DMA is cheaper than ILs. However, the invention of a second route to produce 3A5AF shows that there is versatility and a number of ways to make this compound (see section 4-3).



N-acetylglucosamine (NAG) 3-acetamido-5-acetylfuran (3A5AF)

Figure 4-1. Direct conversion of NAG to 3A5AF using a combination of an imidazolium ionic liquid and microwave heating.

4-2 Results and Discussion

In a typical reaction, 100 mg of NAG and 750 mg of IL were mixed and warmed for 1 min in a warm water bath until a homogeneous solution formed. The reaction mixture was then microwave-heated for the appropriate amount of time. An aliquot was extracted with ethyl acetate and analyzed via GC-MS using acetophenone as the internal standard. The dehydration process was first studied at 120 °C under additive-free conditions, Table 4-1. Six different ILs were used with various alkyl chains and anions.

These included 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium bromide ([EMIm]Br) and acetate ([EMIm]OAc), and 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride ([BMIm]CI), bromide ([BMIm]Br), and acetate ([BMIm]OAc), and 1-butyl-2,3-dimethylimidazolium chloride [BMMIm]CI, Figure 4-2. NAG was found to be readily soluble in all the ionic liquids studied under the experimental conditions employed.

Entry	Solvent	$T\left(^{\circ}\mathbb{C}\right)$	Yield 3A5AF (%) ^b
1	[BMIm]Cl	120	14.1
2	[BMIm]Cl	180	25.5
3	[BMIm]Br	120	4.7
4	[BMIm]OAc	120	trace
5	[EMIm]Br	120	trace
6	[EMIm]OAc	120	trace
7	[BMMIm]Cl	180	25.3
8	20 mol % [BMIm]Cl in DMSO-d6	180	trace [c]

Table 4-1. Dehydration of NAG using varying solvents.^a

^aReaction Conditions : solvent (750 mg), NAG (100 mg, 0.452 mmol), 3 min.

^bDetermined by GC-MS. [c] Analyzed by ¹H NMR.



Figure 4-2. Structures of ILs that studied in this chapter ([EMIm]Br, ([EMIm]OAc, [BMIm]Cl, [BMIm]Br, [BMIm]OAc, and [BMMIm]Cl.

The reaction of NAG in [BMIm]CI at 120 °C gave 14.1% yield of 3A5AF following 3 minutes of microwave (MW) heating. A 25.5% yield was obtained at 180 °C under the same conditions, but prolonged heating (longer than 3 min) or higher temperatures were found to decrease the yield of product, most likely through decomposition of 3A5AF via accelerated side reactions.

The anion within the ionic liquid was found to have a profound effect on reactivity. The incorporation of a chloride counterion (within the IL) was found necessary to form significant quantities of 3A5AF with trace or low yields obtained when bromide or acetate ILs were used (Table 4-1, entries 1, 3-5). This has been observed in the dehydration of glucose/fructose to 5-HMF using imidazolium ILs, where high conversions were obtained in the presence of a loosely bound chloride ion.8 Chloride ion concentration has also been shown to increase conversions in aqueous transformations of cellulose and hexoses.910 Alkyl chain length on the cation was found to slightly affect vield. In the case of entries 3 and 6, it was found that [BMIm]Br was more able to facilitate the dehydration than the ethyl equivalent. [BMIm]Cl and [BMMIm]Cl (entries 2 and 8) showed equal activity towards 3A5AF formation. In previous research, using fructose as the feedstock, 0% vield of 5-HMF was obtained in [BMMIm]Cl whereas 63% vield was obtained in [BMIm]CL¹¹ It has been proposed that the acidic protons on the imidazolium ring help to catalyze the dehydration reaction. In these studies using [BMMIm]Cl, substitution of a methyl group at the C2 position removes the most acidic proton of the imidazolium cation. Therefore, the protons at the C4 and C5 positions must play a larger role in this conversion process for NAG compared with fructose. This

175

difference may be due to the basic nitrogen atom within NAG and its absence in fructose. As ionic liquids are expensive and can be toxic, the reaction in [BMIm]Cl was carried out with only catalytic amounts of the IL partnered with a co-solvent, entry 8 in Table 4-1, but unfortunately, only a trace amount of product was detected.

Entry	Additive	T (°C)	Yield of 3A5AF (%) ^b
1	none	180	25.5
2	water	120	28.7
3	1-methylimidazole	120	2.9
4	B(OH)3	180	60.0 ^{c. d}
5	NH4OH	180	30.9
6	NH ₄ Cl	180	25.3
7	HCI	180	24.1
8	ZrO ₂ /SO ₄ ² ·	180	10.3
9	DBU ^e	180	16.5
10	DABCO ^r	180	16.6
11	K2CO3·1.5H2O	180	24.3
12	NaOH	180	11.5
13	CrCl ₂	120	12.1
14	CrCl ₃	120	12.4
15	SnCl ₄ ·5H ₂ O	180	17.8
16	NaCl	180	38.3 ^[d]

Table 4-2. Dehydration of NAG in [BMIm]Cl with different additives.^a

"Reaction Conditions : [BMIm]Cl (750 mg, 0.573 mmol) , NAG (100 mg, 0.456

mmol), 10 mol% additive, 3 min (MW). ^bDetermined by GC-MS.

°Using 2:1 B(OH)3:NAG [d] Heated by oil-bath at 180 °C for 1 h.

e1,8-Diazabicycloundec-7-ene. f1,4-diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane.

To further the study, additives were screened in hopes of increasing product yield. Table 4-2. The addition of water (entry 2) did not affect the yield of product. This is important for biomass transformations where feedstocks are unlikely to be 100% dry, GC-traces of the EtOAc extracts from the reactions showed the presence of 1-methylimidazole and 1butylimidazole, presumably from decomposition of the IL under reaction conditions. If additional 1-methylimidazole is added at the beginning of the reaction, the yield of 3A5AF is dramatically reduced (entry 3). Use of a more inert reaction medium would therefore be highly desirable, as the presence of IL decomposition products are likely inhibiting the reaction. Future research will focus on using more thermally stable or supported ionic liquids in this reaction. However, it should be noted that 3A5AF could be isolated in an analytically pure form using flash chromatography (section 4-5-2). A wide range of basic and acidic additives were studied (entries 4-12), and with the exception of boric acid, yields of 3A5AF of between 10 and 30% were obtained. Metal salts proved ineffective at increasing the yield of 3A5AF under the reaction conditions employed. This result was surprising given the high catalytic activity of chromium (II)/ (III) chlorides in the dehydration of fructose.12 This difference might be due to the presence of nitrogen in the substrate, which would coordinate strongly with the transition metal and inhibit turnover within the catalytic cycle.

B(OH)₃ afforded the highest yield of 3A5AF (Entry 4). Of particular relevance to this work, Riisager et al. reported B(OH)₃ mediated dehydration of glucose to 5-HMF using ionic liquids.^{10,3} A yield of up to 42% from glucose and as much as 66% from sucrose was obtained. B(OH)₃ has also been used as a selectivity inducer in glycerol

177

hydrogenolysis via formation of an intermediate borate ester.¹⁴ B(OH)₁ acts as a Lewis acid in aqueous solution, resulting in the formation of a tetrahydroxyborate complex, which, upon the addition of a hexose, e.g., glucose or NAG, forms a doubly coordinated borate-hexose complex.¹³ The formation of this complex helps to shift the hexose/aldose equilibrium towards the right, resulting in the release of acidic protons which aid in the dehvdration process.

To study the effect of B(OH)₃ loading, three reactions were screened using 10, 100, and 200 mol% boric acid, yielding 33.5, 44.5, and 60.0% yield of 3A5AF respectively. For comparative purposes, the reaction using 200 mol% B(OH)₃ was repeated using conventional heating (180 °C for 1 h) and 60.0% 3A5AF was obtained. After purification, isolated yields of 57-58% could be obtained. Overall, as the amount of boric acid was increased, the yield of 3A5AF increased, presumably due to both formation of a borate-hexose complex and also increased acidity of the reaction mixture. It is also interesting that a larger quantity of boric acid is optimum for this reaction compared with glucose. Acain, this is likely due to the newsence of the basic nitroeen atom in the substrate.



Figure 4-3. Possible mechanism for the formation of 3A5AF from NAG.

The mechanism for this reaction likely has much in common with previously studied fructose and glucose dehydration processes. For example, dissolution of NAG in an IL leads to a disruption of the hydrogen bonds between sugar molecules. Chloride ions are thought to be important in this process and addition of NaCl to the reaction mixture led to a moderate increase in yield of 3A5AF (entry 16). Acidic protons present on the imidazolium ring (or the added B(OH)₂) are proposed to interact with the hydroxyl oxygen of the sugar to give a complex, which increases the concentration of the open chain aldose form of the sugar. Next, nucleophilic attack by a hydroxyl group affords the 5-membered heterocycle, which undergoes subsequent dehydration and keto-enol tautomerization to give the product. To help probe the mechanism and the sugar dissolution, the reaction was followed by 1H NMR and the shifts of the three imidazolium protons studied. In the case of H2, H4, and H5 a gradual shift to higher frequency was indeed noted as the reaction progressed. This observation is linked to increased hydrogen bonding with H-bond acceptors (sugar hydroxyl groups) resulting in the deshielding of the acidic imidazolium protons. However, it could also be due to H-bonding with the water released during the reaction. Kinetic studies were performed to assess the activation energy and pre-exponential factor associated with the decomposition of NAG in the absence of additive. As such, reactions were performed at 140, 160, 180, and 200 °C and the concentration of NAG monitored using ¹H NMR. In a typical reaction, [BMIm]Cl (1.00 g, 5.75 mmol) and 33 wt % NAG (424 mg, 1.92 mmol) were mixed. The sample was heated using an oil bath and an aliquot taken (20-50 mg) at the desired time. To this sample, was added 3.00 µL acetophenone (internal standard) and 600 µL DMSO-d₄. ¹H NMR spectra were obtained and the amount of NAG measured using the added internal

standard (section 4-5-6). The decomposition reaction data at 140, 160, 180, and 200 °C were fitted to first order rate plots, yielding linear correlation coefficients (R²) close to unity (section 4-5-8). Table 4-3 shows the kinetics data including ln(k_{obs}) and 1/T at the four temperature set shown above.

Entry	Temperature (Kelvin)	1/T (Kelvin ⁻¹)	\mathbf{K}_{obs}	$ln(K_{\text{obs}})$
1	413	0.00242	0.004274	-5.4552
2	433	0.00230	0.01612	-4.1277
3	453	0.00220	0.03675	-3.3036
4	473	0.00211	0.09528	-2.3509

Table 4-3. Kinetics data for the Arrhenius plot.

Through a plot of ln (k_{abs}) vs 1/7, the energy of activation and pre-exponential factor were determined to be 82.8 kJ/mol and 1.34 x 10^8 min⁻¹, respectively.



Figure 4-4. The Arrhenius plot for the conversion of NAG into 3A5AF in [BMIm]Cl.

Z. Qi and M. Watanabe et al. calculated the activation energy and pre-exponential factor to be 114.6 kJ/mol and 3.54 x 10¹⁴ min⁻¹, respectively, for the conversion of glucose to 5-HMF using CrCl₃ in [BMIm]Cl under microwave irradiation.¹⁵ Although the two processes differ it is important that the activation energy values are of roughly equal magnitude, as they both involve the dehydration of a hexose molecule. However, the preexponential factor determined from this work is six orders of magnitude lower than the value reported for glucose. This is to be expected, as a microwave-heated reaction should have a larger pre-exponential factor compared with a conventionally heated one because of an increased number of collisions among reactant molecules.¹⁶ For the comparison of the % yield of 3A5AF with the literature, see section 3-2-5.

4-3 3A5AF Production Comparison: Chapter Three vs Chapter Four

In Chapters 3 and 4, two different media were studied to prepare 3A5AF, DMA and [BMIm]CI, respectively. Generally, two routes of production are better than one, from an industrial point of view, to overcome any future shortages in chemicals. For example, in 2008, the shortages in acetonitrile production affected industrial and academic work especially in the LC analytical field. At that time, the price of the acetonitrile jumped from hundreds to thousands dollars per 16 L.¹⁷

In DMA, the optimum reaction time was relatively short (15 min). In [BMIm]Cl, the reaction time was even shorter (3 min). In general ILs are not cheap. For example, 50 g of 98% and 25 g of 99% [BMIm]Cl¹⁸ cost ca. \$ 110 and \$ 430 CAD, respectively. Whereas, the cost of 2 L of 99.9% DMA¹⁹ is ca. \$ 95 CAD, which is a lot cheaper compared to [BMIm]Cl . In terms of toxicity, DMA has acute and chronic effects on human health and it has a negative environmental impact.²⁰ Therefore, this solvent should be substituted wherever possible. However, dipolar aprotic solvents including DMA are difficult to replace with an alternative solvent²¹ (see sections 1-12 and 3-2-1). II s have less environmental impact on air because they possess low vapor pressures (are less volatile). On the other hand, ILs have toxicity issues related to water contamination and some of them are non-biodegradable (see section 1-11-3). The relationship between the toxicity and biodegradability of ILs are conflicting in terms of the length of an alkyl chain i.e. by increasing the alkyl chain length on the cation counterpart, the toxicity and biodegradability increase simultaneously. In both methods, 3A5AF can easily be extracted using ethyl acetate and purified using flash chromatography. In Chapter 3, when the reaction was run at 250 °C, the chromatogram (Figure 3-15a) showed purer product compared with the chromatogram at 220 °C (Figure 3-15b). In that case, potentially, there would be less need for purification. This would save a lot of solvent use regardless of the inferior productivity at 250 °C (Figure 3-14) but the increase in temperature (from 220 °C to 250 °C) could increase energy consumption.

4-4 Conclusions

It has been shown that the N-substituted furan, 3A5AF, can be obtained in good yield from the dehydration of NAG in an imidazolium based ionic liquid. These data contrast with those reported in Chapter 2 where levulinic acid was obtained as the primary product through transformations of aminocarbohydrates (glucosamine, chitosan, and chitin) in aqueous media.³² Although, some clues concerning the mechanism have been obtained, more detailed studies are needed. Initial studies suggest that there are both similarities and significant differences between this process and previously reported reactions using fructose and glucose. In the future, 3A5AF should be investigated as a source of renewable amines, and as a high-value precursor to proximicins (biologically active compound) of which it is a structural motif.²³

4-5 Experimental

4-5-1 Materials

NAG (95%) was purchased from Toronto Research Chemicals. 1-butyl-3methylimidazolium chloride ([BMIm]CI), 1-butyl-2,3-dimethylimidazolium chloride ([BMIm]CI), chlorobutane, bromoethane, 1-methylimidazole, and silver acetate were purchased from Alfa-Aesar. All solvents and chemicals were used as obtained from commercial suppliers, unless otherwise indicated. Centrifugation was performed on an Eppendorf centrifuge 5430 (2500 rpm, 1 min).¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on Bruker 500 and 300 MHz spectrometers. Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) was performed on an Agilent 7890A GC system coupled with an Agilent 5975C MS detector that was equipped with a capillary column DB-5 (column length: 30.0 m and column internal diameter: 0.25 mm). Microwave reactions were performed using a Biotage Initiator 2.5 microwave reactor (0.5 – 2.0 mL reaction volume vials. The 'very high' absorption level setting was used each time to ensure controlled heating of the reaction mixture. IR Spectra were recorded using a Bruker Alpha FTIR spectrometer (4 em⁻¹ resolution) using a diamond ATR single reflectance module (24 scans).

4-5-2 General Procedure

In a typical reaction: NAG (0.100 g, 0.426 mmol) and [BMIm]Cl (0.750 g) were placed in a MW vial. This mixture was warmed to 100 °C for 1 min using a water bath to melt the ionic liquid. The reaction mixture was subsequently loaded into a Biotage Initiator MW reactor and heated for an appropriate amount of time. HPLC grade EtOAc was used to extract the mixtures and prepare samples for analysis, as described below (section 4-5-3). The given extracts ranged from pale yellow to golden brown. For isolated yields: 3A5AF was purified using flash chromatography (FC) Biotage Isolera One. A silica column (SNAP cartridge, silica, 10 g) and a variable 200-400 nm wavelength detector at 254 and 293 nm were used. The sample was previously analyzed on SiO₂ TLC plates using a 50% ethyl acetate/hexanes mixture and the obtained retention factor (R_d) was used to build up a separation method using the FC instrument. The R_f was 0.13. Samples of the product were combined. After evaporating the solvent using the evaporator at 50 °C until dryness, the dried residue was placed vacuum using a standard Schlenk line overnight. CHN microanalytical data (Canadian Microanalytical Service, Delta, BC) were in agreement with the formulation C₈H₆NO₅. For three reactions performed under identical conditions (Table 4-2, entry 4), isolated yields were 57-58%.

4-5-3 Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometric (GC-MS)

Determination of 3A5AF Yields

A typical reaction mixture was unscaled and an aliquot taken (ca. 5-10% w/w), 100 μL of (2.00 mg/mL) acetophenone (internal standard) was added along with 500 μL of deionized water and 3.00 mL HPLC grade EtOAc. The reaction was centrifuged at 2.500 rpm for 1 min, and the organic layer decanted and kept. Two further extractions with 3.00 mL EtOAc were performed yielding a total of ca. 9.00 mL of extract, which was concentrated on a Buchi Rotavap yielding pale yellow oil. This was diluted with 500 μL of EtOAc and analyzed via injecting 1 μL in GC-MS (Agilent Technologies 5975C VL MSD). The retention times for acetophenone and 3A5AF were 5.49 and 7.95 min, respectively, Figure 4-5. For quantification purposes, the calibration curve shown in Figure 4-6 was used.

Abundance



Figure 4-5. Sample GC-MS chromatogram of a representative reaction mixture producing 3A5AF from NAG and I-butyI-3-methylimidazolium chloride.



Figure 4-6. Calibration curve for 3A5AF in EtOAc ($R^2 = 0.9899$), where ACP = acetophenone.

4-5-4 Identification of 3A5AF

MS, m/z 167 (49%), 125 (88), 110 (100), 96 (15), 83 (17), 69(9), 54(13), Figure 4-7.

¹H NMR δ_H (298K, 500 MHz, DMSO-d₆) 2.02 (s, 3H), 2.40 (s, 3H) 7.18 (d, J = 0.8 Hz,

1H), 8.18 (d, J = 0.8 Hz, 1H), 10.23 (s, 1H), Figure 4-8.

 ^{13}C NMR δ_{C} (298K, 75 MHz, DMSO-d_) 22.81, 25.85, 110.99, 127.03, 135.25, 149.75, 167.88, 186.04, Figure 4-9,

HRMS, calculated exact mass for 3A5AF (C8H9NO3) = 167.0582, found = 167.0584.

Selected IR vmax/cm⁻¹ 1668 br, s (C=O stretch in amide I band and C=O stretch in ketone).


Figure 4-7. Mass spectrum of 3A5AF showing both the base peak and molecular ion peak, along with other peaks of interest.



Figure 4-8. ¹H NMR spectrum showing the peaks of 3A5AF in DMSO-d₆.



Figure 4-9. 13C NMR spectrum showing the peaks of 3A5AF in DMSO-d₆.

4-5-5 Timed Reactions at 200 °C

In Figure 4-10, strong peaks found between ea. 0.25 – 2.25, 4.25, 7.50, and 9.25 ppm are assigned to [BMIm]CI; mid-field peaks found in the 4.25 – 7.25 ppm region are characteristic peaks attributable to NAG. The peaks at ea. 2.00, 2.40, 7.25, 8.25, and 11.00 ppm are typical signals of 3A5AF. As reaction time is increased, the peaks in mid-field decrease in intensity, while those of the product begin to increase and those of the ionic liquid remain the same. The spectra recorded after 24 min shows the peaks of NAG to be nearly gone. No other products were identifiable during this process. Likewise, resonances due to acetophenone are also present at ca. 2.51 and 7.50-7.75 ppm (used as an internal standard). Also note the above reaction consisted of 33 w% NAG (ca. 425 mg) in 1.00 g [BMIm]Cl at 200 °C. * - Indicates product formation.



Figure 4-10. Sample stacked ¹H NMR spectra showing peaks for [BMIm]CI between ca. (0.25 – 2.25, 4.25, 7.50, and 9.25) ppm, NAG (4.25 – 7.25) ppm and 3A5AF (2.00, 2.40, 7.25, 8.25, and 1.00) ppm.

4-5-6 NMR Sample Preparation Procedure for Kinetic Data

33 wt% of NAG (425 mg) was added to 1.00 g of [BMIm]Cl in a vial, and the reaction was heated using an oil bath at the given temperature for 2 h. After a given amount of time, an aliquot of the reaction mixture was removed (20-60 mg) and to it was added 3.00 μL (3.0-4.5 mg) of acetophenone in a small vial. A 500 μL aliquot of DMSO-d₆ was then added and the appropriate NMR experiment was run. With an accurately measured amount of reference material, the sugar (or material of interest) could be integrated to 1 and the methyl group of acetophenone accordingly integrated. Bearing this in mind, the amount of sugar could be calculated at any given time, t, allowing for the plotting of first order rate plots, thereby affording a method to identify the activation energy for the decomposition of NAG.

fransmittance [%] 70 80 2008.49 -2972.57 -962.62 1 2000 Wavenumber cm-1 (8) Transmittance [%] 70 80 69 (960) 49 147.00 Sec. 19 00 2000 Wavenumber cm-1 (b)

4-5-7 Ionic Liquid Recyclability Study (|BMIm|Cl before (a) and after (b) reaction)



4-5-8 First-Order Rate Plots at (a) 140, (b) 160, (c) 180, and (d) 200 °C



4-6 References

1 J. J. Bozell and G. R. Petersen, Green Chem., 2010, 12, 539-554.

2 http://tinyurl.com/cq82vng [Accessed on September 27th, 2012]

3 For example: (a) L. Changzhi, Z. Zhang and Z. K. Zhao, Tetrahedron Lett., 2009, 50,

5403-5405. (b) L. Changzhi, Z. K. Zhao, H. Cai, A. Wang and T. Zhang, *Biomass Bioenergy*, 2011, 35, 2013.

4 F. M. Kerton, Alternative Solvents for Green Chemistry, RSC Publishing, Cambridge, 2009.

5 J. Chen, M. Wang and C. Ho, J. Agric. Food Chem. 1998, 46, 3207-3209.

6 R. A. Franich and S. J. Goodin, J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis, 1984, 7, 91-100.

7 T. Buntara, S. Noel, P. H. Phua, I. Melián-Cabrera, J. G. de Vries and H J. Heeres, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 2011, 50, 7087.

8 J. B. Binder and R. T. Raines, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2009, 131, 1979-1985.

9 J. Potvin, E. Sorlien, J. Hegner, B. DeBoef and B. L. Lucht, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 2011, 52, 5891-5893.

10 T.S. Hansen, J. Mielby and A. Riisager. Green Chem., 2011, 13, 109-114.

11 Q. Cao, Z. Guo, S. Yao, J. Guan, X. Wang, X. Mu and D. Zhang, *Carbohydr. Res.*, 2011, 346, 956-959.

12 H. Zhao, J.E. Holladay, H. Brown and Z.C. Zhang, Science, 2007,316, 1597-1600.

13 T. Ståhlberg, S. Rodriguez-Rodriguez, P. Fristrup and A. Riisager. Chem. Eur. J. 2011, 17, 1456-1464. 14 J. ten Dam, F. Kapteijn, K. Djanashvili and U. Hanefeld, Catal. Commun., 2011, 13, 1-5.

15 X. Qi, M. Watanabe, T. M. Aida and R. L. Smith Jr. ChemSusChem, 2010, 3, 1071-1077.

 M. Hosseini, N. Stiasni, V. Barbieri, C. O. Kappe, J. Org. Chem., 2007, 72, 1417-1424.

17 A. M. Desai, M. Andreae, D. G. Mullen, M. M. B. Holl and J. R. Baker, Jr, Anal. Methods, 2011, 3, 56.

18 http://tinyurl.com/cbz6ff9 [Accessed on September 27th, 2012].

19 http://tinyurl.com/7mqd5kp [Accessed on September 27th, 2012].

20 R. K. Henderson, C. Jimenez-Gonzalez, D. J. C. Constable, S. R. Alston, G. G. A.

Inglis, G. Fisher, J. Sherwood, S. P. Binks and A. D. Curzons, Green Chem., 2011, 13, 854-862.

21 P. G. Jessop, Green Chem., 2011, 13, 1391-1398

22. K. W. Omari, J. E. Besaw and F. M. Kerton, Green Chem., 2012, 14, 1870-1877.

23 F. E. Wolter, K. Schneider, B. P. Davies, E. R. Socher, G. Nicholson, O. Seitz and R.

D. Sussmuth, Org. Lett., 2009, 11, 2804-2807; K. Schneider, S. Keller, F. E. Wolter, L. Roglin, W. Beil, O.Seitz, G. Nicholson, C. Bruntner, J. Riedlinger, H. Fiedler and

R. D. Sussmuth, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 2008, 47, 3258-3261.

Chapter Five

Conclusions and Future Research

5-1 Conclusions

5-1-1 Chapter One

This chapter provided an introduction to chitin, chitosan, and their monomers. Some of the green aspects of the research conducted during this PhD were discussed including catalysts, solvents, and renewable feedstocks. Microwave heating as an alternative to conventional heating was introduced, and its role in relation to the use of alternative solvent media described. The production and applications (both potential and realised) of several useful chemicals from renewable feedstocks (i.e. LA, 5-HMF, and 3A5AF) were described. Several methods for the production of small organic molecules from carbohydrates described in the literature, including their mechanism of formation, were debated in terms of producing useful chemicals from renewable feedstocks. Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) was introduced as a qualitative and quantitative technique for wt% and % vield determination of products.

5-1-2 Chapter Two

The title of this chapter is "Hydrolysis of Chitosan to Yield Levulinic Acid and 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural in Water Under Microwave Irradiation".

This study demonstrated that chitosan could be used to produce LA and 5-HMF in water under microwave conditions. This work is a proof-of-principle that N-containing biopolymers can be degraded, using green chemistry principles, to give useful chemical building blocks in a similar way to cellulosic feedstocks. The volume of water used and the loading of SnCl₄-SH₂O can be varied to produce either LA or 5-HMF with good selectivity. Factorial design was successfully employed to optimize the reaction conditions for this process. Microwave irradiation proved to be a more effective heating method for the generation of these small molecules compared to conventional heating, as 5-HMF could not be generated effectively under the conditions studied using the latter condition. A mechanism for this process was proposed based on the known chemistry of cellulose and glucose, and some studies using glucosamine. Furthermore, evidence for oligosaccharide intermediates was obtained using MALDI-TOF MS. The last step in the mechanism was performed under microwave irradiation to convert 5-HMF to LA in high vields in water. The method developed for chitosan could be extended to the more robust parent carbohydrate chitin from which LA could also be obtained, albeit in smaller quantities. The results of this study will hopefully allow the possibility of chemical and thermochemical transformations of the non-toxic and chean biopolymers, chitosan and chitin, to yield useful, sustainable chemicals with possible industrial applications. Studies will continue in the Kerton research group using chitosan, chitin, and amino-sugars as feedstocks in different solvents (e.g., ionic liquids and employing a wide range of catalysts).

5-1-3 Chapter Three

The title of this chapter is "A Simple One-Pot Dehydration Process to Convert N-acetyl-D-glucosamine into a Nitrogen-Containing Compound, 3-acetamido-5-acetylfuran".

Up to date, this study produced the highest % yield of 3A5AF (57.7) in the literature, in a reasonable low (15 min) run time. The productivity of 3A5AF was thirty times more than the pyrolysis method employed by Franich et al. (1984) Both NaCl and B(OH), were found to be very important additives in this reaction and markedly increased 3A5AF production. These findings will allow the chemistry of 3A5AF, a carbohydrate-derived amide, to be further studied. Accordingly, 3A5AF may find use either as a platform chemical, a source of renewable amines, or as a high-value precursor to proximicins and other biologically active compounds.

5-1-4 Chapter Four

The title of this chapter is "Formation of a Renewable Amide, 3-acetamido-5-acetylfuran, via Direct Conversion of N-acetyl-D-glucosamine".

It has been shown that the N-substituted furan, 3A5AF, can be obtained in high yield from the dehydration of NAG in an imidazolium based ionic liquid. These data contrast with recently published work from GCCG where levulinic acid was obtained as the primary product through transformations of aminocarbohydrates (glucosamine, chitosan, and chitin) in aqueous media.¹⁶ Although some clues concerning the mechanism have been obtained, more detailed studies are needed. Initial studies suggest that there are both similarities and significant differences between this process and previously reported reactions using fructose and glucose. 3A5AF could perhaps be used as a source of renewable amine, and as a high-value precursor to proximicins, which are biologically active compounds.

5-2 Future Work

Producing useful chemicals from renewable resources is a highly topical area of research. Some ideas for extending this research are outlined briefly in the sections above. Biocatalysis is a successful union of chemistry and biology. Biocatalysts can be more efficient than heterogeneous or homogeneous catalysts (see section 1-13) in transforming biological feedstocks. Most biocatalysts are enzymes, which can be modified to function at certain pH and T.¹ There are specific microorganisms (e.g., *Escherichia coli*, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, and Zymomonas mobilis) that are popular in industrial biocatalysis. In particular, they are promising in biofuels production technologies.² Therefore, enzymes and microorganisms need to be explored in conjunction with chitosan and chitin for production of the molecules described in this thesis.

Chitinases and chitosanases are enzymes that are produced by fungi and bacteria. They are able to hydrolyze chitin and chitosan. As a result, the hydrolysis process, at the glycosidic bond, produces oligomers from chitin and chitosan. The hydrolysis can occur via "exo" or "endo" attack, wherein the breakage takes place at the end of the chain or at any other point in the chain.³ Figure 5-1 illustrates both exo- and endo-attack of an enzyme on the chitin backbone.



Figure 5-1. Exo- and endo-attacks of enzymes on chitin polysaccharide.

In light of this research, chitinase and chitosanase are worthy of investigation in terms of converting chitin and chitosan into higher value organic molecules. For example, they could be used in a two-step procedure to produce LA or 5-HMF from chitosan. They would produce monomeric sugars in the first step via a biocatalytic digestion and then in a second step, dehydration of glucosamine could be performed using a tin catalyst as described in Chapter 2.⁴

Another option for hydrolysis would be to use scH₂O as the solvent medium. A reaction can take place in scH₂O at a high temperature ca. 400 °C and over a density range of 0.1-0.6 g/mL.^{5,6} scH₂O can act as an either acid or a base in the supercritical fluid state (see section 1-11-2). This reaction could be studied without additives to observe the effect of scH₂O on the polysaccharide, as scH₂O could function as a catalyst in this reaction. The effect of additives could also be tested. All the substrates used in this thesis (chitin, glucosamine, and NAG) could be investigated.

In Chapters 3 and 4, B(OH), and NaCl ware found to be the best additives to produce 3A5AF 7.8 Previously pyrolysis had been studied twice and was found to produce 3A5AF^{9,10} In principle pyrolysis is a method in which a sample e.g. biomass is exposed to a high temperature for a short period of time (ca. 2 s) in an oven or other pyrolysis device.11 The products can be in the form of oil and/or gases. In general, the oil can easily be handled as it remains in the pyrolysis vessel. Catalysts and/or additives can be added to the sample before pyrolysis is performed and reactions can also be performed in a microwave-assisted purolusis (MAP) reactor ¹² MAP has several advantages over conventional pyrolysis (e.g., high range of products, fewer side reactions, and higher vields can be obtained). A MAP instrument has a well-controlled temperature over all points in the reactor. Typically, pyrolysis does not consume any solvent (i.e., it is solventfree). Therefore, it can be considered a benign and environmentally friendly technique. Additives could be added to a feedstock to increase the % yield or enhance the quality of a product (e.g. production of a bio-oil of low-acidity via pyrolysis of lignin in the presence of a zeolite additive).13 The pyrolysis of NAG could be investigated in both the presence and absence of NaCl and B(OH). The parameters under conventional pyrolysis and MAP processes could be optimized (e.g., over a range of temperatures and time).

Pressurised CO₂ has been shown to have a beneficial effect on some reactions including the conversion of biomolecules.¹⁴ Pressurised CO₂ might allow a more environmentally benien solvent to replace DMA in 3A5AF production pathways.

Also in Chapter 3, B(OH)₃ was used as an additive in the reaction mixture. A solid form of boron additive could be used in such reactions, such as silica-supported boron trifluoride,¹⁵ instead of B(OH)₃. After the reaction, the additive could be filtered out and reactivated if needed.

Related to the kinetic data for 3A5AF production in ILs, similar could be obtained for the reactions in DMA. Extraction of 3A5AF from the reactions could be performed and quantification of 3A5AF performed via GC-MS. This could be equivalent to the NMR procedure described in Chapter 4. Aliquots of the reaction mixture can be removed by syringe through the septum of the microwave vials after specific times, i.e., Aliquots can be removed from the same vial several times and the reaction continued in the microwave. Furthermore, computational investigations could be performed in order to obtain theoretical data on the thermodynamics of this process. This data would inspire more ideas for further optimization of the reaction.

Scaling the reactions up is important if the process is to become industrially applicable. Each reaction that was studied herein should be investigated on a larger level, especially the 3A5AF production method. Methods which can be applied include performing the reactions in an autoclave or in a continuous reactor. For the time being, 3A5AF can be prepared and purified in the Centre for Green Chemistry and Catalysis (CGCC) on a scale of 0.1 g per reaction in a microwave or 2.0 g in an autoclave.

The processes described in this thesis used ethyl acetate as an extraction solvent. Extraction could be performed using seCO₂ (see section 1-12) instead. In this case, there will be no need to expose the solvent and the products to elevated temperatures for evaporation. Reducing the pressure is enough to release CO₂, completely, from the system. LA and 5-HMF are soluble in scCO₂.¹⁶ and 3A5AF, given its structural similarity to 5-HMF, will likely also be soluble in this green solvent.

The research presented in this thesis has proven that chitin, chitosan, and their monomers are potential feedstocks to produce chemicals. In Chapter 2, LA and 5-HMF were the chemicals produced and these can potentially be used in the manufacture of biofuels and other useful chemicals (see section 1-14-1-3 and 1-14-2-3). In Chapters 3 and 4, 3A5AF was the product formed and can be produced in a high yield (ca. 60%) compared with the previously reported pyrolysis methods. This compound could be a key building block in the manufacture of value added chemicals such as proximicins. The vision for future work building on that presented here is to produce such chemicals using greener processes in higher yields, less time, and at lower cost. As a result, this will let the products become commercially viable.

5-3 References

1 K. Sanderson, Nature, 2011, 471, 397-398.

2 T. Y. Mills, N. R. Sandoval and R. T. Gill, Biotechnology for Biofuels, 2009, 2:26.

3 E. B. Heggset, A. I. Dybvik, I. A. Hoell, A. L. Norberg, M. Sørlie, V. G. H. Eijsink and

K. M. Vårum, Biomacromolecules, 2010, 11, 2487-2497.

4 K. W. Omari, J. E. Besaw and F. M. Kerton, Green Chem., 2012, 14, 1870-1877.

5 Y. Nagai, N. Matubayasi and M. Nakahara, J. Phys. Chem. A, 2005, 109, 3558-3564.

6 H. R. Holgatet and J. W. Tester, J. Phys. Chem., 1994, 98, 800-809.

7 K. W. Omari, L. Dodot and F. M. Kerton, ChemSusChem, 2012, 5, 1767-1772.

8 M. W. Drover, K. W. Omari, J. N. Murphy and F. M. Kerton, RSC Adv., 2012, 2, 4642-4644.

9 R. A. Franich and S. J. Goodin, J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis, 1984, 7, 91-100.

10 J. Chen, M. Wang and C. Ho, J. Agric. Food Chem. 1998, 46, 3207-3209.

11 A.V. Bridgwater, Biomass Bioenergy, 2012, 38, 68-94.

12 R. Luque, J. A. Menéndez, A. A. and J. Cot, *Energy Environ. Sci.*, 2012, 5, 5481-5488.

13 H. Ben and A. J. Ragauskas, Energy Fuels, 2011, 25, 4662-4668.

14 F. M. A. Geilen, T. V. Stein, B. Engendahl, S. Winterle, M. A. Liauw,

J. Klankermayer, and W. Leitner, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 2011, 50, 6831-6834.

15 J. H. Clark, Acc. Chem. Res., 2002, 35, 791-797.

16 S. M. Payne and F. M. Kerton, Green Chem., 2010, 12, 1648-1653.







